Marshall University Marshall Digital Scholar

Theses, Dissertations and Capstones

2020

Dysfunctional Mitochondrial Biogenesis: A Potential Underlying Cause For Metabolic Diseases

Caroline Ann Hunter cahunter589@gmail.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://mds.marshall.edu/etd

Part of the Medical Biochemistry Commons, Medical Cell Biology Commons, and the Medical Molecular Biology Commons

Recommended Citation

Hunter, Caroline Ann, "Dysfunctional Mitochondrial Biogenesis: A Potential Underlying Cause For Metabolic Diseases" (2020). *Theses, Dissertations and Capstones*. 1309. https://mds.marshall.edu/etd/1309

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by Marshall Digital Scholar. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses, Dissertations and Capstones by an authorized administrator of Marshall Digital Scholar. For more information, please contact zhangj@marshall.edu, beachgr@marshall.edu.

DYSFUNCTIONAL MITOCHONDRIAL BIOGENESIS: A POTENTIAL UNDERLYING CAUSE FOR METABOLIC DISEASES

A thesis submitted to the Graduate College of Marshall University In partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy In **Biomedical Sciences** by Caroline Ann Hunter Approved by Dr. Emine Koc, Committee Co-Chairperson Dr. Hasan Koc, Committee Co-Chairperson Dr. Richard Egleton Dr. Jung Han Kim Dr. Nalini Santanam

> Marshall University August 2020

APPROVAL OF DISSERTATION

We, the faculty supervising the work of Caroline Ann Hunter, affirm that the dissertation, *Dysfunctional Mitochondrial Biogenesis: A Potential Underlying Cause for Metabolic Diseases*, meets the high academic standards for original scholarship and creative work established by the Biomedical Sciences program and the Graduate College of Marshall University. This work also conforms to the editorial standards of our discipline and the Graduate College of Marshall University. With our signatures, we approve the manuscript for publication.

WWS

Dr. Emine C. Koc

Dr. Hasan Koc

Dr. Richard Egleton

Jung Halv

Dr. Jung Han Kim

Dr. Nalini Santanam

Committee Co-Chairperson

Committee Co-Chairperson

Committee Member

Committee Member

Committee Member

7-20-20 Date

7,20,2020

Date

7/20/20 Date

7-20-20

Date

20 7/21 Date

© 2020 Caroline Ann Hunter ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

DEDICATION

This dissertation is dedicated to my parents Kimbel and Julie Hunter, my siblings Kristie and Ryan Hunter, Justin Tomblin, and the rest of my family members. Your continued love and support have shown me that I can do anything. Without you, I would not be where I am today. I love you.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, I would like to acknowledge and thank my co-advisors, Dr. Emine Koc and Dr. Hasan Koc. You two are incredible, inspiring, hardworking, and passionate scientists and your love for science and research shows in everything that you do. You two were always available and willing to help whenever I had questions or needed anything. You provided me with tools to expand my critical thinking within research experiments and writing. You also provided an incredible support system for our laboratory. Your professional guidance, understanding, and wisdom significantly helped me through my time as a graduate student. Thank you!

To the rest of the members of my committee Dr. Egleton, Dr. Kim, and Dr. Santanam, thank you for helping guide my research project through the years. You have each always kept your doors open and provided me with your expertise and critiques that have improved my research. Together, you have provided a supportive and intellectually challenging environment that has improved my critical thinking and helped me to grow as an individual and a researcher. Thank you!

Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends. You have always been there to celebrate with me for my accomplishments and give me extra encouragement when needed. You have had unwavering support and faith in me every step of the way. I especially want to thank my parents whom without, I would not be the person I am today. You have sacrificed so much to help me and to get me to where I am today. I am forever grateful!

V

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Approval of Dissertationii
Dedicationiv
Acknowledgementsv
List of Tables xi
List of Figures xii
Abstract xiv
Chapter 1: The Mitochondria1
1.1. The Mitochondria and its Genome1
1.2. Transcription and Translation in Mammalian Mitochondria6
1.3. The Role of Mitochondria in Metabolic Disorders
1.3.1. Mitochondrial Function, OXPHOS, and Insulin Signaling13
1.3.1.1. Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes16
1.3.2. Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Cancer
1.3.2.1. Mutations in Mitochondrial Genes in Cancer
1.3.2.2. Post-Translational Modifications in Cancer
Chapter 2: The Regulation of Mitochondrial Oxidative Phosphorylation and Energy Metabolism
by Src Family Kinases
2.1. Mitochondrial Regulation by Tyrosine Phosphorylation27
2.2. Src Family Kinases
2.3. Organization of SFKs
2.3.1. SFK Domain Organization
2.3.2. Activation and Inactivation of SFKs

2.4. Src Family Kinases and the Mitochondria	38
2.4.1. Src Kinases are Translocated into the Mitochondria	38
2.4.2. Mitochondrial Energy Metabolism is Regulated by SFKs	39
2.5. SFK Signaling and Cancer	45
2.6. SFKs as Drug Targets	47
2.6.1. Natural Antioxidants as SFK Inhibitors	49
2.7. Research Specific Aims and Hypotheses	50
Chapter 3: Mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation is impaired in TALLYHO mice, a new	
obesity and type 2 diabetes animal model	56
Abstract	57
Highlights	58
3.1. Introduction	58
3.2. Materials and Methods	61
3.2.1. TALLYHO/Jng and C57BL/6J Tissue Samples	61
3.2.2. Western Blot Analyses	62
3.2.3. Mitochondrial Complex Activity Assays	63
3.2.4. Quantitative Real-time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qRT-PCR)	64
3.2.5. Statistical Analysis	65
3.3. Results	65
3.3.1. Mitochondrial Oxidative Phosphorylation is Impaired in TH Mice	65
3.3.2. Citrate Synthase Expression is Elevated in TH Mice	79
3.3.3. Mitochondrial Transcription Machinery and Translation Components	
Remain Unaltered in TH mice	81

3.3.4. Expression of Mitochondrial Ribosomal Proteins are Comparable85		
3.4. Discussion		
3.5. Conclusions		
3.6. Conflict of Interests94		
3.7. Acknowledgements94		
3.8. Funding94		
Chapter 4: c-Src Kinase Impairs the Expression of Mitochondrial OXPHOS Complexes in Liver		
Cancer		
Abstract96		
4.1. Introduction97		
4.2. Materials and Methods99		
4.2.1. Liver Tumor Samples		
4.2.2. Cell Culture		
4.2.3. Western Blot Analyses100		
4.2.4. Mitochondrial OXPHOS Complex Enzymatic Activity Assays102		
4.2.5. Statistical Analysis102		
4.3. Results and Discussion103		
4.3.1. c-Src is Overexpressed in Metastatic Liver Cancers103		
4.3.2. c-Src is Expressed in Metastatic Liver Cancer Cell Line110		
4.3.3. Inhibition of c-Src Stimulates the Expression of OXPHOS Subunits114		
4.3.4. c-Src Expression Impairs the Expression of OXPHOS Complexes119		
4.3.5. c-Src Inhibition with PP2 Stimulates the Expression of OXPHOS		
Subunits124		

4.3.6. c-Src Knock Down Increases OXPHOS Complex Expression	129
4.4. Conclusions	131
4.5. Conflicts of Interest	132
4.6. Acknowledgements	132
4.7. Funding	132
Chapter 5: Fyn Inhibition Reduces the Expression of OXPHOS Complexes and Cell	
Proliferation	
Abstract	134
5.1. Introduction	135
5.2. Materials and Methods	137
5.2.1. Cell Culture	137
5.2.2. Western Blot Analysis	138
5.2.3. Mitochondrial Complex IV Enzymatic Activity Assays	
5.2.4. Statistical Analysis	139
5.3. Results and Discussion	139
5.3.1. Fyn Kinase is Expressed in HepG2 Cells and Associated with In	creased
OXPHOS	139
5.3.2. SU6656 Inhibits SFKs and Decreases OXPHOS Complex Expre	ession143
5.3.3. Kaempferol Impairs OXPHOS Expression by Inhibiting SFKs	146
5.3.4. Resveratrol Reduces Cell Proliferation	150
5.4. Conclusions	153
5.5. Conflicts of Interest	154
5.6. Acknowledgements	154

5.7. Funding154
Chapter 6: Conclusions and Future Directions155
6.1. Conclusions155
6.1.1. Mitochondrial Biogenesis is Impaired in TALLYHO/Jng Mice155
6.1.2. c-Src Impairs OXPHOS Expression and Activity157
6.1.3. Fyn Inhibition Reduces OXPHOS Expression and Cell Proliferation158
6.2. Future Directions159
References
Appendix A: Institutional Review Board Approval188
Appendix B: Abbreviations189
Appendix C: Curriculum Vitae199

LIST OF TABLES

1.	Mitochondrial-encoded OXPHOS subunits
2.	Mitochondrial pathways that are regulated by Src family kinases44
3.	Sequence variants of mitochondrial ribosomal proteins (MRPs) in TH mice88
4.	Characterization of liver tumor and non-cancerous tissues107

LIST OF FIGURES

1.	The organization of the human mitochondrial genome
2.	Overview of mitochondrial transcription and translation11
3.	Src signaling pathways
4.	Src family kinase domain structure
5.	Activation of Src family kinases
6.	OXPHOS complex subunits phosphorylated by Src family kinases42
7.	Mitochondrial OXPHOS is impaired in TH mice liver
8.	Mitochondrial complex I and III and IV activities are lower in TH mice liver69
9.	Expression of mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes I and IV is diminished at various
	protein concentrations in the liver of TH mice70
10.	Mitochondrial OXPHOS complex expression in the liver of TH mice71
11.	Sample calculation for complex I and III enzymatic activity assays72
12.	Mitochondrial OXPHOS is reduced in TH mice kidney75
13.	Mitochondrial complex I and III and IV activities are diminished in the kidney of TH
	mice76
14.	Expression of mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes I and IV is diminished at various
	protein concentrations in TH mice kidney77
15.	Expression of mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes in the kidney of TH mice78
16.	Citrate synthase is increased in TH mice liver and kidney
17.	Mitochondrial transcription and translation are comparable between TH and B6 mice
	liver
18.	Mitochondrial transcription and translation are unaltered in TH mice kidney

19. Mitochondrial ribosomal protein expression remains unchanged in TH and B6 mice87
20. A schematic synopsis of OXPHOS and mitochondrial translation component variants
found in TH mice93
21. c-Src expression is increased in metastatic liver cancer tissues
22. Metabolic pathways are altered between cancerous and non-cancerous liver tissues109
23. c-Src is overexpressed in liver cancer cell lines
24. Inhibition of c-Src increases OXPHOS expression in the Hep3B cell line117
25. PP2 treatments of HepG2 cells reduce cell proliferation without altering OXPHOS
expression118
26. c-Src expression reduces OXPHOS expression in fibroblast cells
27. Increased tyrosine phosphorylation is correlated with increased c-Src123
28. Inhibition of c-Src stimulates mitochondrial OXPHOS expression in Src cells126
29. Inhibition of c-Src with PP2 stimulates OXPHOS expression in Src ⁺⁺ cells127
30. PP2 treatments of SYF cells reduce cell proliferation without changing the expression of
OXPHOS complexes
31. c-Src knock down increases the expression of OXPHOS complexes130
32. Fyn increases OXPHOS expression in the HepG2 liver cancer cell line142
33. SU6656 inhibits SFKs and decreases OXPHOS expression in HepG2 cells145
34. Kaempferol impairs OXPHOS, reduces cell proliferation, and inhibits SFK activity in
the HepG2 cell line
35. Kaempferol suppresses cell proliferation in the Hep3B cell line149
36. Resveratrol treatment inhibits cell proliferation in the HepG2 cell line151
37. Resveratrol impairs cell proliferation in the Hep3B liver cancer cell line152

ABSTRACT

Mitochondria are essential organelles that play crucial roles in many aspects of cellular homeostasis. More importantly, the mitochondria are home to the majority of the metabolic pathways within the cell and are responsible for producing most of the cell's useable energy in the form of adenine triphosphate (ATP) through oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS). In mammals, the majority of OXPHOS complex subunits are encoded by nuclear deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA); however, 13 core subunits essential for the function of OXPHOS complexes I, III, IV, and V are encoded in the mitochondrial (mt) DNA (mtDNA) and are synthesized within the mitochondria by its own transcription and translation machinery. Changes in the expression and post-translational modifications (PTMs) of OXPHOS subunits and mitochondrial proteins can be detrimental to mitochondrial energy production. In fact, alterations in mitochondrial functions impact cellular energy metabolism as well as influence whole-body metabolism and have been identified as underlying causes for several diseases including neurological disorders, insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes (T2D), and numerous cancer types. This has led to an extensive search for a better understanding of key players involved in mitochondrial function in disease states, in addition to new preventative and therapeutic strategies that are aimed at exploiting key components of mitochondrial biogenesis and energy metabolism. Our laboratory has shown that differences in mitochondrial biogenesis can be caused by changes in the sequence and/or PTMs of mitochondrial proteins, resulting in altered mitochondrial function and energy metabolism. In the present studies, we investigated changes in mitochondrial energy metabolism in two major metabolic diseases, T2D and liver cancer, and evaluated potential targets and therapies. We first investigated mitochondrial biogenesis and energy metabolism in T2D by studying the differences in the expression and activity of OXPHOS complexes in the liver and kidney of the polygenic

xiv

T2D model, TALLYHO/Jng (TH), and normal, C57BL/6J (B6), mice. A significant decrease was observed in the expression of both nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded subunits of complexes I and IV, respectively, in TH mice compared to B6, which coincided with significant reductions in their enzymatic activities. Furthermore, we identified sequence variants in several mitochondrial proteins including OXPHOS complex subunits, a mitochondrial transfer ribonucleic acid (tRNA) synthetase, and mitochondrial ribosomal proteins (MRPs). The sequence variants identified in mitochondrial proteins might contribute to impaired mitochondrial biogenesis and energy metabolism by diminishing OXPHOS expression and activity in TH mice. In addition to T2D, we investigated liver cancer and demonstrated impaired mitochondrial OXPHOS complex expression and activity in cancerous liver biopsies compared to non-cancerous biopsies. The expression of the Src family kinases (SFKs), c-Src and Fyn, were increased in liver cancer cell lines and tissues. In fact, aberrant expression of c-Src kinase was observed in metastatic liver cancer tissues and the hepatic cell line Hep3B, which was correlated to a significant reduction in OXPHOS complex expression and activity. Additionally, increased c-Src expression was associated with decreased OXPHOS expression and activity in mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) cell lines, demonstrating the role of c-Src on mitochondrial OXPHOS in both health and disease. An inhibition of c-Src with the SFK inhibitor, PP2, and c-Src-specific small interfering ribonucleic acid (siRNA) alleviated the negative impact of c-Src on OXPHOS expression and improved mitochondrial energy metabolism while significantly impairing cell proliferation in normal and cancerous cells. In contrast, increased expression of Fyn kinase was associated with an elevated OXPHOS subunit expression in the liver cancer cell line, HepG2. Continuous OXPHOS activity can lead to high production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), which can cause mitochondrial damage; therefore, we explored the effects of Fyn kinase, along with the effects of its inhibition on OXPHOS expression and cell proliferation, by treating cells with the SFK inhibitor SU6656 and natural antioxidants kaempferol and resveratrol. An increase in Fyn expression was associated with high OXPHOS expression, which was reduced in the presence of SU6656 and kaempferol. Furthermore, the treatment of the HepG2 cell line with SU6656, kaempferol, and resveratrol significantly inhibited cell proliferation. These treatments reduced OXPHOS activity and slowed cell growth by impairing cell proliferation in HepG2 cells, possibly by inhibiting Fyn activity. Evidence provided in these studies indicate that increased expression of c-Src and Fyn are found in liver cancer and more importantly regulate mitochondrial energy metabolism by altering the expression of OXPHOS complexes, which can contribute to the development of cancer and other metabolic diseases. Our data suggests that the suppression of SFKs can reduce cell proliferation and improve mitochondrial function and energy metabolism and should be further evaluated as targets for the treatment of liver cancer. Together, our studies demonstrated that changes in the expression of OXPHOS complexes due to sequence variants or PTMs, can significantly impair mitochondrial energy metabolism and may be underlying factors in both T2D and liver cancer. The identification of factors contributing to mitochondrial dysfunction will allow us to improve disease prognosis and treatments in various disease states.

CHAPTER 1

THE MITOCHONDRIA

1.1. The Mitochondria and its Genome

Mitochondria are one of the most complex, multifunctional organelles in the cell. The mitochondrion was derived from the engulfment of an alpha-proteobacterium by a precursor of the modern eukaryotic cell roughly two billion years ago (Gray, Burger, & Lang, 1999; Lane & Martin, 2010; D. Yang, Oyaizu, Oyaizu, Olsen, & Woese, 1985). The mitochondria are shaped by two membranes: 1) the outer membrane (OM) which is a smooth and continuous membrane that outlines the oblong shape of the organelle and forms an envelope to act as a barrier to restrict the passage of small molecules into the mitochondria and 2) the inner membrane (IM) which is highly invaginated (cristae) to increase its surface area to surround the inter soluble portion of the mitochondria, the mitochondrial matrix (MM), and is also the site of oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) which is responsible for cellular respiration. The portion between the OM and the IM is the intermembrane space (IMS).

Over time, the mitochondria have been transformed to contribute to a variety of functions within the eukaryotic cell and play important roles in cell proliferation, senescence, apoptosis, immune response, detoxifying oxygen, ketone body production, heme biosynthesis, reactive oxygen species (ROS) production, and calcium and iron homeostasis (Ames, Atamna, & Killilea, 2005; Duchen, 2004; Osellame, Blacker, & Duchen, 2012). Although these pathways are vital to cellular function, perhaps the most significant function of the mitochondria is that they are the metabolic control center of the cell and contain the majority of metabolic pathways within the mitochondrial matrix, such as the citric acid cycle (CAC) or tricarboxylic acid cycle (TCA), fatty acid oxidation, and the urea cycle, all of which contribute to OXPHOS and energy production in

the cell. The primary role of the mitochondria is to convert the metabolites derived from the catabolism of proteins, carbohydrates, and fats to carbon dioxide (CO_2) and water (H_2O), using OXPHOS to drive adenosine triphosphate (ATP) synthesis.

During mitochondrial evolution, most genetic information was transferred to the nucleus, leaving the mitochondria with its own genome containing relatively few genes. In mammals, the mitochondrial (mt) deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) (mtDNA) contains less than 1% of the total cellular DNA and has multiple copies inside the matrix of a single mitochondrion. The mitochondrial genome is a double-stranded (heavy- (H-) and light- (L-) strands), circular molecule that is roughly 16,569 base pairs in length and contains 37 genes (Anderson et al., 1981; Bibb, Van Etten, Wright, Walberg, & Clayton, 1981; Gray, 2012; Taanman, 1999). The structure of the mtDNA, as well as the gene organization, is highly conserved among mammals and is compact with nearly a complete absence of non-coding regions (Taanman, 1999; Wolstenholme, 1992). The mitochondrial genome encodes two ribosomal ribonucleic acids (RNA) (rRNAs), 22 transfer RNAs (tRNAs), and 11 messenger RNAs (mRNAs), two of which are bi-cistronic (Fig. 1). Additionally, the mtDNA also encodes the displacement loop (D-loop) which is a triple-stranded structure that encompasses key promoters for transcription, contains the leading strand origin of replication, and is the major control site for mtDNA expression (Kasamatsu & Vinograd, 1974; Taanman, 1999; Walberg & Clayton, 1981).



Figure 1. The organization of the human mitochondrial genome. The genome encodes 2 rRNA, 22 tRNA, and 13 mRNAs.

The mitochondrial genome encodes 22 tRNAs that are responsible for the synthesis of mitochondrial-encoded proteins. The mitochondrial tRNAs have a basic cloverleaf structure of canonical tRNAs but also have several distinguishing features that make them shorter and lack a number of conserved tertiary interactions (Helm et al., 2000; Wakita et al., 1994; Yokogawa et al., 1991). The compliment of mitochondrial tRNAs is sufficient to decode the simplified mitochondrial genetic code, which is distinct from the universal code, since each tRNA codes for one amino acid, except for leucine (Leu) and serine (Ser) which have two (Barrell, Bankier, & Drouin, 1979). In addition to its own tRNAs, the mitochondrial genome encodes two rRNAs, the 12S (small) and 16S (large), which are roughly only 25-30% of the total RNA (Christian & Spremulli, 2012; E. C. Koc & Koc, 2012; Pietromonaco, Denslow, & O'Brien, 1991).

The most important genes encoded in the mitochondrial genome are the 13 mRNAs which are essential proteins that compose the enzymatic cores of OXPHOS complexes I, III, IV, and V. Complex I (nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide plus hydrogen (NADH) dehydrogenase) is composed of seven mitochondrial-encoded proteins, NADH dehydrogenase (*ND*) 1, *ND2*, *ND3*, *ND4*, *ND4L*, *ND5*, and *ND6*; complex III (cytochrome (cyt) c reductase) contains one mitochondrial-encoded protein, *cyt b*; complex IV (cytochrome c oxidase (CO)) has three mitochondrial-encoded proteins, *COI*, *COII*, and *COIII*; and complex V (ATP synthase) contains two mitochondrial-encoded proteins, *ATP6* and *ATP8* (listed in Table 1). These 13 proteins are encoded by nine monocistronic and two dicistronic mRNAs which contain overlapping reading frames (Anderson et al., 1981; Anderson et al., 1982). For example, the first 46 nucleotides from the *ATP6* gene are the last nucleotides of the *ATP8* gene, while the last nucleotides on the *ATP6* gene are the first nucleotides of the *COIII* gene. These overlapping regions allow the mtDNA to remain densely packed.

Mitochondrial Complex	Mitochondrial Complex Number	<u>Gene Name</u>
NADH dehydrogenase	Ι	ND1
		ND2
		ND3
		ND4
		ND4L
		ND5
		ND6
Cytochrome <i>c</i> reductase	III	Cyt b
Cytochrome <i>c</i> oxidase		COI
	IV	COII
		COIII
ATP synthase	V	ATP6
		ATP8

Table 1. Mitochondrial-encoded OXPHOS subunits.

Interestingly, the mitochondrial mRNAs are different than nuclear mRNAs because they lack a 5' untranslated region (5'-UTR) and have zero to eight nucleotides right before the start codon. Additionally, the start codons are located near the 5'-end of each mRNA and can be either AUG (adenine, uracil, guanine) or AUA (adenine, uracil, adenine) both of which encode methionine (Met), instead of the strict AUG in the nucleus and are used to start the transcription process of the mtDNA (Montoya, Ojala, & Attardi, 1981). Mitochondrial DNA replication, transcription, and translation are performed by their own machinery; however, besides the 37 genes (22 tRNAs, 2 rRNAs, and 13 mRNAs) encoded in the mtDNA, the remainder of the ~2,000 mitochondrial proteins are encoded in the nuclear DNA, synthesized on cytosolic ribosomes, and transported into the mitochondria.

1.2. Transcription and Translation in Mammalian Mitochondria

All mitochondrial functions are directly or indirectly linked to OXPHOS; therefore, mitochondrial gene expression is required for maintaining cellular homeostasis. The mitochondria utilize their own machinery to synthesize mitochondrial-encoded proteins, which is unique to mitochondria due to the two origins of the transcription and translation components. Most mitochondrial protein factors are encoded in the nuclear genome and all mitochondrial RNAs are encoded in the mitochondrial genome (D'Souza & Minczuk, 2018). Mitochondrial transcription begins in the major non-coding region of the genome at the L-strand (LSP) and Hstrand (HSP) promoters (D'Souza & Minczuk, 2018; Shokolenko & Alexeyev, 2017). The LSP controls the transcription of eight tRNAs and the mitochondrial *ND6* gene, and the HSP, which is broken into 2 promoter systems HSP1 and HSP2, control the transcription of different mitochondrial genes. HSP1 produces transcripts for tRNA^{Phe}, tRNA^{Val}, and 2 ribosomal RNAs, and HSP2 spans the mitochondrial genome (Chang & Clayton, 1984; Montoya, Christianson, Levens, Rabinowitz, & Attardi, 1982). Transcription factor A mitochondrial (TFAM) initiates transcription by binding to high-affinity sites upstream of the HSP1 and LSP promoters and induces a sharp bend in mtDNA, which may be important for the positioning of the remainder of the mitochondrial transcription machinery (Fisher, Lisowsky, Parisi, & Clayton, 1992; Ngo, Lovely, Phillips, & Chan, 2014). The complex formed between TFAM and mtDNA recruits the DNA-dependent RNA polymerase (POLRMT) and mitochondrial transcription factor B2 (TFB2M), which facilitate promoter recruitment of substrate to the POLRMT catalytic site (Morozov et al., 2014; Sologub, Litonin, Anikin, Mustaev, & Temiakov, 2009). TFB2M initiates the elongation step once it dissociates from POLRMT, recruiting the mitochondrial transcriptional elongation factor (TEFM) to the elongation complex (Minczuk et al., 2011; Sologub et al., 2009). TEFM further promotes POLRMT activity and stimulates the formation of longer transcripts (Posse, Shahzad, Falkenberg, Hallberg, & Gustafsson, 2015). Once the length of the polycistronic transcript has been processed, transcription termination is initiated and carried out by mitochondrial termination factor 1 (MTERF1) (M. Martin, Cho, Cesare, Griffith, & Attardi, 2005; Yakubovskaya, Mejia, Byrnes, Hambardjieva, & Garcia-Diaz, 2010). Mitochondrial transcription results in primary transcripts that need to be processed. The mRNAs undergo maturation and stabilization by cleavage and polyadenylation, and the tRNAs synthesized also undergo processing such as the addition of CCA tails and chemical nucleotide modifications (D'Souza & Minczuk, 2018; Shokolenko & Alexeyev, 2017). Additionally, tRNAs are aminoacylated and charged with a cognate amino acid, which is performed by mitochondrial aminoacyl tRNA synthetases (ARS2s), such as aspartyl-tRNA synthetase 2 (DARS2) (Chihara, Luginbuhl, & Luo, 2007). After processing of the mitochondrial mRNAs and tRNAs, they are assembled into the mitochondria ribosome for translation.

The mammalian mitochondria contain their own ribosomes that sediment as 55S particles and are made of 28S (small) and 39S (large) subunits (Christian & Spremulli, 2012; O'Brien, 1971). The mitochondrial ribosomes are associated with the inner membrane to allow the mitochondrial-encoded OXPHOS complex subunits to be synthesized near their sites of insertion (Vogel, Bornhovd, Neupert, & Reichert, 2006). Interestingly, mitochondrial ribosomes are more closely related to bacterial ribosomes than the eukaryotic counterparts, but mainly differ in composition and proteins. Mitochondrial ribosomes are slightly larger and more porous due to the higher protein to RNA ratio (69% to 31%) which is opposite of the bacterial ribosome composition (33% to 67%) (M. R. Sharma et al., 2003). The mitochondrial ribosomal large subunit (LSU) and small subunit (SSU) are composed of mitochondrial ribosomal proteins (MRPs), most of which have homologous ribosomal proteins in bacteria. The mitochondrial large subunit is involved in catalyzing the peptidyl-transferase reaction (Kaushal et al., 2014; E. H. Koc, ME; Spremulli, LL, 2010) and is comprised of 48 MRPs, 15 of which are mitochondrial specific, and the mitochondrial-encoded 16S rRNA (E. C. Koc, Burkhart, Blackburn, Moyer, et al., 2001; O'Brien et al., 2000; Suzuki et al., 2001b). The small subunit (SSU) provides the platform for the binding and decoding of the mitochondrial mRNAs (Kaushal et al., 2014; E. H. Koc, ME; Spremulli, LL, 2010) and is composed of 29 MRPs, 8 mitochondrial specific, and the mitochondrial-encoded 12S rRNA (E. C. Koc, Burkhart, Blackburn, Koc, et al., 2001; O'Brien et al., 2000; Suzuki et al., 2001a). Recently, all of the MRPs have been identified using mass spectrometry-based proteomic approaches (E. C. Koc, Burkhart, Blackburn, Koc, et al., 2001; E. C. Koc, Burkhart, Blackburn, Moyer, et al., 2001; Suzuki et al., 2001a, 2001b), but their functions are not yet fully understood. In addition to their involvement in mitochondrial translation, some MRPs have extra ribosomal functions and are involved in other cellular

regulatory processes. In fact, the mitochondrial ribosomal protein of the small subunit (MRPS) 29 (MRPS29) and 30 (MRPS30) are also involved in programmed cell death or apoptosis (Cavdar Koc, Burkhart, Blackburn, Moseley, & Spremulli, 2001; Cavdar Koc, Ranasinghe, et al., 2001; E. C. Koc, Burkhart, Blackburn, Koc, et al., 2001).

Although some of the details of the mitochondrial translation system remain to be discovered, the mammalian mitochondrial protein biosynthesis takes place in four phases, each of which require a set of auxiliary factors: 1) initiation, 2) elongation, 3) termination, and 4) recycling. Briefly, the initiation phase results in a completed 55S initiation complex with the help of mitochondrial initiation factors 2 and 3 (mtIF2 and mtIF3) (Christian & Spremulli, 2012; E. C. Koc & Spremulli, 2002; Schwartzbach, Farwell, Liao, & Spremulli, 1996; M. R. Sharma et al., 2003; Spurio et al., 2000). The 55S initiation complex moves into the elongation phase of protein synthesis, which is responsible for peptide elongation on the ribosome and involves key mitochondrial proteins such as the mitochondrial elongation factor Tu (mtEF-Tu), elongation factor G1 (mtEF-G1), and elongation factor Ts (mtEF-Ts) (Cai, Bullard, Thompson, & Spremulli, 2000a, 2000b; Christian & Spremulli, 2012; Schwartzbach et al., 1996; Schwartzbach & Spremulli, 1989, 1991). The elongation process adds one amino acid on at a time, until the stop codon appears in the A-site of the ribosome and is recognized by the mitochondrial translation release factor 1a (mtRF1a) which is released from the ribosome, along with the completed peptide. The ribosome complex is then dissociated and translation factors are recycled with the help of the mitochondrial ribosome recycling factors 1 and 2 (mtRRF1 and mtRRF2), so another round of protein synthesis can begin (Christian & Spremulli, 2012; Chrzanowska-Lightowlers, Pajak, & Lightowlers, 2011; Y. Zhang & Spremulli, 1998).

Mitochondrial translation takes place at the IM due to the location of the mitochondrial ribosomes. This also allows the 13 synthesized mitochondrial-encoded OXPHOS subunits to be inserted directly into their respective complexes, which is a co-translational process (Ott & Herrmann, 2010). The synthesis of the mitochondrial-encoded proteins by their own machinery is essential for OXPHOS function (Fig. 2). The OXPHOS complexes are contributions from both the nuclear and mitochondrial DNA, two physically and functionally separate genomes. Disruption of the synthesis of mitochondrial proteins on either genome could be detrimental to OXPHOS and mitochondrial energy metabolism. Therefore, the coordinated expression and regulation of both nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded subunits is essential for the assembly and function of OXPHOS complexes to prevent impaired energy production and mitochondrial dysfunction, which can cause several disease states to emerge.



Figure 2. Overview of mitochondrial transcription and translation. Mammalian mitochondria contain a ~16.5 kilobase circular genome (mtDNA) that encodes two rRNAs, 22 tRNAs, and 13 mRNAs. The mtDNA is transcribed by its own transcription and translation machinery, which is responsible for the synthesis of the 13 mitochondrialencoded subunits of complexes I (purple), III (blue), IV (green), and V (ATP synthase) (pink). The mtDNA is transcribed by its transcription machinery (TFAM, POLRMT, TEFM TFB2M, MTERF1, and ARS2s). The mammalian mitochondrial 55S ribosome (28S and 39S subunits) and rRNAs, along with other translation factors, such as mitochondrial initiation factors (mtIF2 and mtIF3), mitochondrial elongation factors (mtEF-Tu, mtEF-Ts, and mtEF-G1), and mitochondrial ribosomal release and recycling factors (mtRF1a, mtRRF1, and mtRRF2), are responsible for the synthesis of the 13 mitochondrial encoded subunits of complexes I (ND1, ND2, ND3, ND4, ND4L, ND5, and ND6), III (cvt b), IV (COI, COII, and COIII), and V (ATP6 and ATP8). The bovine 55S mammalian ribosome (PDB # 3J9M) was modeled and shown in light purple with mitochondrial rRNAs highlighted in green. Bovine mtEF-Tu (PDB #1XB2) and Escherichia coli aminoacyl tRNA^{Cys} (PDB # IB23) were modeled to show the interaction of tRNA with mtEF-Tu and are presented in violet and blue, respectively. Figure adapted from (C. A. Hunter et al., 2019).

1.3. The Role of Mitochondria in Metabolic Disorders

The mitochondria host many pathways that are necessary for ATP production. Mitochondrial dysfunction, caused by pathogenic alterations and changes in the expression of mitochondrial proteins resulting in diminished ATP and increased ROS production, is an underlying factor in the development and progression of many metabolic diseases, including cancer, cardiovascular disease, obesity, and type 2 diabetes (T2D) (Dalle-Donne, Rossi, Colombo, Giustarini, & Milzani, 2006; Dhalla, Temsah, & Netticadan, 2000; Garcia-Escudero, Martin-Maestro, Perry, & Avila, 2013; Hassanein & Frederick, 2004; Kelley, He, Menshikova, & Ritov, 2002; J. A. Kim, Wei, & Sowers, 2008; E. C. Koc et al., 2015; Sayre, Smith, & Perry, 2001; Wallace, 1999). Mitochondrial dysfunction has been associated with characteristics ranging from poor mitochondrial quality to reduced mitochondrial number and size to the inability to properly undergo cellular respiration by OXPHOS and build new mitochondria, mitochondrial biogenesis, in numerous disease states. Therefore, a better understanding of the cause of mitochondrial dysfunction and the effects on cellular signaling in diseases is essential to determine if the functional impairments are remedial and to discover a potential for novel treatments to target these deficiencies.

Mitochondrial OXPHOS plays a central role in cellular metabolism and impaired OXPHOS function can be the cause of disease pathogenesis. While OXPHOS disorders can be caused by mutations in the nuclear or mitochondrial genomes, there remains a lack of understanding in the pathogenic mechanisms that result in clinical symptoms observed in many patients. Mutations in the mitochondrial OXPHOS genes encoded within the mitochondrial and nuclear genomes, along with reduced expression and/or changes in PTMs result in lower OXPHOS expression, activity, and reduced ATP generation in metabolic disorders (Chandra &

Singh, 2011; Minocherhomji, Tollefsbol, & Singh, 2012). Additionally, OXPHOS inhibition can result in the toxic accumulation of ROS, which can damage nucleic acids, lipids, and mitochondrial and cellular proteins, including the iron-sulfur centers of OXPHOS complexes I, II, and III, resulting in diminished mitochondrial energy production and impaired mitochondrial function (Wallace, 1999, 2005). Due to the complexity of the mitochondria in numerous critical cellular functions which rely on OXPHOS activity, identifying key factors involved in the deregulation of OXPHOS in metabolic diseases such as T2D and cancer is crucial.

1.3.1. Mitochondrial Function, OXPHOS, and Insulin Signaling

Mitochondria play critical roles in numerous cellular processes, especially energy production by OXPHOS since almost all cellular processes require ATP. Therefore, both physiological alterations in energy demand and fuel supply influence mitochondrial biogenesis, dynamics, and mitophagy (Liesa & Shirihai, 2013; Ruegsegger, Creo, Cortes, Dasari, & Nair, 2018). Since mitochondrial OXPHOS is a major function of the mitochondria and plays a pivotal role in normal cellular processes, its deregulation can be detrimental to cellular metabolism and has been suggested as a global pathogenic mechanism in the development of many diseases, especially insulin resistance and T2D (Smeitink, Zeviani, Turnbull, & Jacobs, 2006).

The prevalence of obesity and T2D is increasing rapidly and has recently grown to epic proportions worldwide due to an increase in sedentary lifestyles and increased consumption of calorie dense food. Although there are many factors that contribute to the development of obesity, insulin resistance, and T2D, mitochondrial dysfunction has been implicated in the development and progression of these disease states (Chow, From, & Seaquist, 2010; Kelley et al., 2002; J. A. Kim et al., 2008; Petersen et al., 2003; Rector et al., 2010).

Insulin resistance is a major characteristic in the pathogenesis of T2D and is the primary factor leading to insufficient pancreatic β -cell function. Insulin is the predominant hormone involved in fuel metabolism and is secreted in the pancreatic β -cell (Ashcroft & Rorsman, 2012; Muoio & Newgard, 2008) which is largely controlled by mitochondrial OXPHOS activity. Under normal conditions, glucose and other cellular fuels are oxidized to produce reducing equivalents that are fed into mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes and used to produce ATP. The increase in ATP closes the ATP-sensitive potassium (K⁺) channel, depolarizes the plasma membrane of the β -cell, opens the voltage-gated calcium (Ca²⁺) channels, and triggers the release of the cellular granule containing insulin (Fex et al., 2018; Henquin, 2000). This K_{ATP}-dependent pathway is dependent on mitochondrial OXPHOS activity, thereby demonstrating the essential role of the mitochondria in the control of insulin release in the pancreatic β -cell. Decreased insulin release has been associated with diminished mitochondrial function and reduced OXPHOS activity (J. A. Kim et al., 2008). This results in the inability of tissues to respond to physiological levels of insulin, which leads to insulin resistance and the development of T2D.

Interestingly, insulin secretion is controlled by mitochondrial function and OXPHOS activity; however, insulin is also one of the hormones that regulates mitochondrial functions and has been identified as a critical regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis in numerous tissue types (Ruegsegger et al., 2018). The presence of insulin stimulates the activities of the glucose transporter 4 (GLUT4) and fatty acid transport protein (FATP), enhancing the uptake of these substrates by the cell, which are then oxidized and fed into the mitochondrial OXPHOS for ATP production (Y. Zhang & Ye, 2012). Insulin has also been shown to promote mitochondrial oxidative energy metabolism and ATP synthesis by inducing pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) activity through dephosphorylation to enhance glucose utilization (Y. Zhang & Ye, 2012).

Insulin promotes mitochondrial function by increasing substrate availability for oxidation as well as controlling mitochondrial biogenesis and metabolism (Y. Zhang & Ye, 2012). Briefly, in the insulin signaling pathway, insulin binds to the insulin receptor and induces receptor autophosphorylation, causing a downstream signaling cascade that leads to the recruitment and phosphorylation of insulin receptor substrates 1 and 2 (IRS1 and IRS2) and activation of the AKT pathway (De Meyts, 2000; Ruegsegger et al., 2018). The insulin/IRS/AKT pathway plays an important regulatory role in mitochondrial function and oxidative metabolism. This pathway increases the expression of nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded genes by inhibiting Forkhead box O1 (FOXO1) and activating the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR). The inhibition of FOXO1 influences the activity and expression of the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha (PGC-1 α) which is an inducible transcriptional coactivator that has been shown to interact with nuclear respiratory factors-1and 2 (NRF-1 and NRF-2) and stimulate the transcription of nuclear-encoded mitochondrial genes (Cheng et al., 2009; Heilbronn, Gan, Turner, Campbell, & Chisholm, 2007; McCarty, 2005; Mootha et al., 2003). PGC-1a also enhances mitochondrial gene transcription through transcription factor A, mitochondrial (TFAM). The activation of mTOR causes the downstream activation of other targets responsible for the increased synthesis of nuclear-encoded mitochondrial proteins involved in the TCA cycle, β-oxidation, and OXPHOS (Cunningham et al., 2007; Ruegsegger et al., 2018; Schieke et al., 2006). Collectively, these findings demonstrate insulin signaling is critical in the mitochondrial metabolic activity of the cell and is clearly involved in the synthesis and expression of OXPHOS complexes. Therefore, identifying key players in mitochondrial dysfunction in insulin resistance is essential to determine if mitochondrial dysfunction is a cause or consequence of insulin resistance and the pathogenesis of T2D.

1.3.1.1. Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes

Defects in OXPHOS and energy production is one of the central factors contributing to T2D and insulin resistance. In fact, reduced gene and protein expression has been observed and reported in multiple subunits of each of the five OXPHOS complexes, leading to significant decreases in ATP synthesis in both animal models and human subjects with obesity, T2D, and insulin resistance (Haythorne et al., 2019; Heilbronn et al., 2007; Heinonen et al., 2015; Hou et al., 2017; Patti et al., 2003; Rong et al., 2007; Segerstolpe et al., 2016; Skov et al., 2007). Several studies also demonstrated reduced enzymatic activity along with decreased expression of OXPHOS complexes in obesity and/or T2D (Kelley et al., 2002; Ruegsegger et al., 2018; Simoneau, Veerkamp, Turcotte, & Kelley, 1999). Additionally, studies have also shown that the activity of mitochondrial enzymes that control OXPHOS activities, such as PDH, are also inhibited in diabetic and insulin resistant conditions in various tissues in animals and human subjects (Alves et al., 2011; Mondon, Jones, Azhar, Hollenbeck, & Reaven, 1992; Y. Zhang & Ye, 2012). These studies show significant impairment in ATP generation and fatty acid synthesis in most tissues, further demonstrating mitochondrial dysfunction by reduced energy metabolism. In an effort to uncover the role of mitochondrial dysfunction by OXPHOS in T2D and insulin resistance, many studies have investigated numerous mitochondrial proteins involved in mitochondrial biogenesis and energy metabolism.

Mitochondrial function is largely controlled by mitochondrial biogenesis and is determined by the size, number, and quality of the mitochondria (Fex et al., 2018). Interestingly, in the subcutaneous adipose tissue (SAT) and skeletal muscle of obese and T2D subjects, reduced mitochondrial number, size, mass, and activity was observed (Heinonen et al., 2015; Kelley et al., 2002). Abnormal cristae structure within the mitochondria in obese subjects has

also been reported (Bach et al., 2003; Joseph, Joanisse, Baillot, & Hood, 2012; Kelley et al., 2002), suggesting defects in the inner mitochondrial membrane, which could also alter mitochondrial function and OXPHOS activity.

Mitochondria are dynamic and undergo network remodeling by continuous fusion and fission to adapt to changes in cellular energy demands. Under normal conditions, mitochondrial fusion results in the formation of a mitochondrial network that allows the redistribution of proteins and mtDNA between multiple mitochondria to prevent the accumulation of mutated or damaged mtDNA in a cell (Bo, Zhang, & Ji, 2010; Joseph et al., 2012; Otera & Mihara, 2011). The inhibition of mitochondrial fusion is commonly associated with increased ROS generation and can impair the insulin signaling pathways, leading to insulin resistance and T2D (Joseph et al., 2012). In fact, decreased expression and loss of function of mitofusin 2 (Mfn2) and optic atrophy 1 (OPA1) was observed and reported in T2D and insulin resistant subject and was shown to alter the mitochondrial morphology and impair mitochondrial metabolism and oxygen consumption in skeletal muscle and a variety of other tissues and cell types (Bach et al., 2005; Bach et al., 2003; H. Chen, Chomyn, & Chan, 2005; Kelley et al., 2002; Pich et al., 2005). Collectively, these studies were shown to decrease mitochondrial energy metabolism, further demonstrating mitochondrial dysfunction in T2D, insulin resistance and obesity.

Decreases in the amount of mtDNA and mitochondrial content have been reported in obese twins, as well as obese and insulin resistant adults and offspring of parents with T2D (Heinonen et al., 2015; Mootha et al., 2003; Patti et al., 2003; Petersen, Dufour, Befroy, Garcia, & Shulman, 2004; Sreekumar, Halvatsiotis, Schimke, & Nair, 2002). These findings implicate changes in mitochondrial biogenesis as a contributing factor to the development of insulin resistance, obesity, and T2D. Additionally, changes in mitochondrial gene expression and protein

synthesis have also been observed and contribute to alterations in mitochondrial biogenesis. Mitochondrial biogenesis relies on the coordinated regulation of both nuclear and mitochondrial protein expression for energy metabolism via OXPHOS. Interestingly, one of the most common pathogenic variants linked to T2D was found in the mitochondrial genome. The variant at position 3243 in the mtDNA substitutes adenine (A) with guanine (G) (A3243G) in the gene that encodes the mitochondrial tRNA which recognizes Leu, *tRNA(Leu)* (Kami et al., 2012; Maassen et al., 2004; Scaglia & Northrop, 2006). This mutation decreased mitochondrial protein synthesis and caused a defect in the expression and function of OXPHOS complexes, diminished ATP production, and impaired the insulin secretion response (Maassen et al., 2004).

In mammals, mitochondrial biogenesis is regulated by PGC-1 α (Heilbronn et al., 2007; McCarty, 2005; Mootha et al., 2003). A coordinated reduction in the mitochondrial transcriptionrelated factors PGC-1 α and PGC1-beta (PGC-1 β), and their responsive gene NRF-1 was found in obesity and T2D subjects and obese subjects with a family history of diabetes (Heinonen et al., 2015; Mootha et al., 2003; Patti et al., 2003). Additionally, changes in the expression of mitochondrial translation factors has also been observed in subjects with obesity and T2D and shown to alter energy metabolism by changes in OXPHOS. In fact, haploinsufficiency and/or the heterogenous expression of pentatricopeptide repeat domain 1 (PTCD1) resulted in decreased protein synthesis and impaired RNA processing, which was shown to cause adult onset obesity (Perks et al., 2017).

Additionally, the altered expression and/or sequence variants of numerous mitochondrial ribosomal proteins also contributes to reduced mitochondrial energy metabolism via impaired mitochondrial protein synthesis and T2D (Bains et al., 2004; Heinonen et al., 2015; Rong et al., 2007). One of the essential translation factors, mtEF-Tu, was identified as the most connected

mitochondrial protein to the insulin signaling cascade and is strongly associated with human obesity and T2D (Mercader et al., 2012). In obese Zucker rats, exercise was suggested to increase mitochondrial metabolism and improve impaired mitochondrial function. Exercise resulted in higher mRNA expression of mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM), mtIF2, and Tu translation elongation factor, mitochondrial (TUFM), while the protein expression of mtEF-Tu was only increased in lean Zucker rats (Greene et al., 2014). The lack of increase in mtEF-Tu expression in obese rats further implies that decreased regulation of mitochondrial translation elongation is a possible candidate in impaired mitochondrial biogenesis in obesity and T2D, demonstrating the role of mitochondrial translation in disease development.

Although many studies highlight the role of mitochondrial dysfunction in the development and progression of obesity, insulin resistance, and T2D, there is still a major gap in the molecular pathogenesis. Therefore, further studies should be performed to identify impaired mitochondrial proteins involved in the pathogenesis of the diseases.

1.3.2. Mitochondrial Dysfunction in Cancer

In addition to T2D and other metabolic diseases, mitochondrial dysfunction has also been established as an underlying player in various cancer types. One of the hallmarks of cancer is the metabolic reprogramming of cancer cells which not only alters energy metabolism but also supports the bioenergetic demand of the cell, synthesis of macromolecules, and cellular survival (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2011; Pavlova & Thompson, 2016; Vyas, Zaganjor, & Haigis, 2016). Since mitochondria are the major metabolic hubs of the cells, they are responsible for cellular reprogramming through multiple mechanisms. Interestingly, mitochondrial energy production as well as mitochondrial mass, dynamics, redox homeostasis, cell death regulation, and metabolic signaling influence the initiation, growth, survival, and metastasis of cancer cells (Vyas et al.,
2016). Therefore, their flexibility allows for cell growth and survival in adverse environmental conditions and contributes to tumorigenesis (Vyas et al., 2016).

Mitochondrial OXPHOS is required for specific phases of tumor progression causing mitochondria to be essential for cancer cells (Iommarini, Ghelli, Gasparre, & Porcelli, 2017; Wallace, 2012). However, mitochondrial dysfunction has been established as an underlying factor for tumorigenesis and has been observed in aggressive tumors (Gogvadze, Zhivotovsky, & Orrenius, 2010; Seyfried, 2015; Simonnet et al., 2002). In fact, in 1927 Otto Warburg observed that cancer cells rely more on glycolysis than OXPHOS for ATP production even in the presence of oxygen, known as the Warburg effect or aerobic glycolysis (Warburg, 1956a, 1956b; Warburg, Wind, & Negelein, 1927). Although the Warburg effect is a prominent feature of many cancer cells, this discovery suggested that mitochondrial defects might be central to cancer cell biology. Mitochondrial dysfunction of cancer cells is a result of impaired respiration and energy production caused at the genetic level by sequence variants in the nuclear- and mitochondrialencoded proteins, or at the protein level, by PTMs of mitochondrial proteins.

1.3.2.1. Mutations in Mitochondrial Genes in Cancer

For the past several decades, sequence variants in mitochondrial genes have been associated with an increased risk of cancer; however, it wasn't until recently that mutations in the mtDNA were also reported and linked to the development and progression of cancer (Horton et al., 1996; van Gisbergen et al., 2015). Recent studies have demonstrated the importance of mtDNA in cancer cells by replacing the cancer cell mtDNA with normal and pathogenic mtDNA, resulting in changes in the phenotypes (Ishikawa et al., 2008; Petros et al., 2005; Shidara et al., 2005). Due to the proximity of the mtDNA to damaging ROS, which is produced as a byproduct of OXPHOS, mtDNA is more susceptible to mutations. In fact, over 190 tumorspecific mtDNA variants have been reported in various cancer types (Brandon, Baldi, & Wallace, 2006). Many mtDNA variants found in cancer cells inhibit OXPHOS, increase ROS production, and promote tumor cell proliferation leading to invasion and metastasis (pathogenic or deleterious mutations). Other variants facilitate in the adaptation of tumor cells to the environmental conditions and bioenergetic demands of the cell, such as increased tolerance for high ROS toxicity and exposure to pro-apoptotic conditions, without altering OXPHOS (adaptive or beneficial mutations) (Ashton, McKenna, Kunz-Schughart, & Higgins, 2018; Brandon et al., 2006; Wallace, 2012). Therefore, the identification of variants in mtDNA and their effects on mitochondrial function, OXPHOS, and energy production is essential to determine the relevance of pathogenic mutations in cancer development.

The mitochondria contain their own transcription and translation machinery, most of which is encoded in the nuclear genome. Interestingly, sequence variants have been found in some of the mitochondrial proteins involved in transcription and translation of the mtDNA and result in changes in the expression of OXPHOS complexes. For example, heterozygous variants in TFAM were associated with mtDNA depletion, increased mtDNA damage and oxidative stress, loss of certain OXPHOS complexes, and significant mitochondrial dysfunction in colorectal cancer (J. Guo et al., 2011; Han et al., 2011; Larsson et al., 1998; Woo et al., 2012). Additionally, decreases in the expression of MRPs, including mitochondrial ribosomal protein of the large subunit 11 (MRPL11), were identified by our laboratory and shown to impair OXPHOS expression and activity in head and neck cancer (E. C. Koc et al., 2015). Sequence variants were also found in the mitochondrial-encoded tRNAs encoding for tyrosine (Tyr), tryptophan (Trp), and leucine (Leu) and shown to impair mitochondrial protein synthesis and reduce the expression

of OXPHOS complexes in liver tumors and breast cancer (Bianchi, Bianchi, & Bailliet, 1995; Taira, Yoshida, Kobayashi, Yaginuma, & Koike, 1983).

Additionally, variants in the mtDNA encoding for OXPHOS subunits have been reported in various cancer types. Sequence variants in the coding region of the mtDNA have been found in colon cancer, endometrial cancer, and cervical cancer (Chinnery, Samuels, Elson, & Turnbull, 2002; Copeland, Wachsman, Johnson, & Penta, 2002; V. W. Liu et al., 2003; Zhai, Chang, Zhang, Liu, & Wu, 2011). Outside of the control region variants, variants have been reported in the ND1, ND3, ND4, ND5, and ND6 genes of OXPHOS complex I, which were associated with structural alterations, decreased complex I activity, and truncated mRNA in renal adenocarcinoma, osteosarcomas, and invasive breast cancer (Canter, Kallianpur, Parl, & Millikan, 2005; Horton et al., 1996; Iommarini et al., 2014). Some of these variants were correlated with decreased OXPHOS activity and expression, increased ROS generation, increased resistance to apoptosis, and promotion of tumor growth (Cruz-Bermudez et al., 2015; Ishikawa et al., 2008; L. K. Sharma et al., 2011; van Gisbergen et al., 2015). Sequence variants were also found in the mitochondrial-encoded COI gene of complex IV in prostate cancer and epithelial ovarian cancer (Pereira, Soares, Maximo, & Samuels, 2012; Petros et al., 2005). Interestingly, variants within the mtDNA have been shown to influence cancer progression and metastasis, and the aggressiveness of cancer is often correlated with the decreased OXPHOS activity (Dasgupta et al., 2012; Ishikawa et al., 2008; Larman et al., 2012; V. W. Liu et al., 2001; Petros et al., 2005; Polyak et al., 1998; Simonnet et al., 2002).

During the genetic mapping of oncogenes, sequence variants in the nuclear-encoded mitochondrial proteins were identified in some cancers. Variants were found in enzymes involved in metabolic pathways that converge onto OXPHOS, such as fumarate hydratase (FH)

and isocitrate dehydrogenases 1 and 2 (IDH1 and IDH2) in numerous cancer types (Frezza et al., 2011; Lehtonen et al., 2004; Paschka et al., 2010; Picaud et al., 2011; Yan et al., 2009). Mutations were also found in the nuclear-encoded OXPHOS subunits of complexes I and II and shown to impair mitochondrial function. Decreases in the expression of NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase core subunit V1 (NDUFV1), NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase subunit A13 (NDUFA13), and NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase core subunit S3 (NDUFS3) of complex I were associated with increased metastatic behavior and mesenchymal properties (Gaude & Frezza, 2014; Kulawiec et al., 2008; Pereira et al., 2012; Taylor et al., 2010), demonstrating the correlation between epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) induction and OXPHOS impairment. Additionally, variants were found in three of the subunits of succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) (complex II), SDH subunit B (SDHB), SDH subunit C (SDHC), and SDH subunit D (SDHD), in multiple cancer types (Ishii et al., 2005; Janeway et al., 2011; H. J. Kim & Winge, 2013; Ricketts et al., 2008).

Along with mutations in both nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded proteins, changes in the mitochondrial number and amount of mtDNA were also shown to contribute to the decreased expression of OXPHOS complexes in many cancers including breast cancer, lung cancer, human hepatocellular carcinoma, non-small cell lung cancer, and gastric cancer (Ashton et al., 2018; Pedersen, 1978; van Gisbergen et al., 2015; Vyas et al., 2016). Surprisingly, OXPHOS was upregulated in some cancers such as leukemias, lymphomas, melanomas, ovarian cancer, and head and neck cancers, due to increased mitochondrial number and mtDNA amount which were stimulated to compensate for metabolic defects caused by sequence variants and increased oxidative stress (Ashton et al., 2018; van Gisbergen et al., 2015; Yu, 2011). The mitochondrial diversity between different cancers and within the same cancer type explains why mitochondrial proteins are defined as both tumor suppressors and promotors, stimulate and inhibit mitochondrial biogenesis, and/or increase and decrease OXPHOS and energy production. These variations signify that mitochondrial biology and tumorigenic signaling intersects at multiple levels; therefore, it is essential to identify oncogenic variants or other regulatory mechanisms of mitochondrial proteins to better understand mitochondrial energy metabolism in cancer.

1.3.2.2. Post-Translational Modifications in Cancer

Post-translational modifications (PTMs) are one of the critical cellular regulatory mechanisms that affects numerous biological functions and have been associated with the pathogenesis of many diseases, especially cancer (B.S. Sharma et al., 2019; V. Singh et al., 2017; Stram & Payne, 2016). PTMs such as acetylation, phosphorylation, methylation, and ubiquitination have emerged as dynamic regulators of target proteins that play key roles in cellular processes including signal transduction, cell growth and division, and protein synthesis (Hofer & Wenz, 2014; Paik, Paik, & Kim, 2007; Park, Jo, Kim, Kim, & Ahn, 2015). Phosphorylation is the most widespread class of PTMs and one of the most common signaling mechanisms used in signal transduction (Manning, Whyte, Martinez, Hunter, & Sudarsanam, 2002). Due to its role in the regulation of cellular processes such as cell growth, signaling, and apoptosis in the healthy condition, deregulation of the signaling cascade and alterations in other phosphorylated pathways result in various cancer types (Hofer & Wenz, 2014; Marmiroli, Fabbro, Miyata, Pierobon, & Ruzzene, 2015; V. Singh et al., 2017). In cancer, overactive protein kinases are often due to an overexpression of activated kinases and/or mutations in the kinase genes that hold the kinases in an activated conformation (Marmiroli et al., 2015), resulting in stimulated signal transduction and increased cancer cell growth or metastasis.

Although serine (Ser) and threonine (Thr) phosphorylation have been well studied and identified as the most prevalent forms of phosphorylation, tyrosine (Tyr) phosphorylation has recently emerged as a major cellular regulatory mechanism (Z.Chen et al., 2016; Du, Zhang, Hassan, Biswas, &Balaji, 2010; Hofer & Wenz, 2014; Roskoski, 2005; B.S. Sharma et al., 2019). Alterations in the pathways caused by deregulated kinases result in several cancer types. In fact, the greatest number of oncoproteins are encompassed within the Tyr kinase family including members of the receptor and non-receptor tyrosine kinases (V. Singh et al., 2017; Takeuchi & Ito, 2011). Tyrosine kinases play critical roles in the modulation of growth factor signaling (Arora & Scholar, 2005); therefore, activated forms of these kinases cause tumorigenesis by increasing cell proliferation and growth, inhibiting apoptosis, and inducing metastasis. One of the major groups of tyrosine kinases commonly deregulated in cancer is the Src family kinases (SFKs). The Src family non-receptor protein tyrosine kinases play vital roles in the signal transduction pathways and are capable of inducing malignant transformations in epithelial and non-epithelial cancer types such as colorectal, breast cancer, liver cancer, melanomas, head and neck cancer, lung cancer, brain cancer, pancreatic cancer, and blood cancers (Sen & Johnson, 2011; Summy & Gallick, 2003; Yeatman, 2004; J. Zhao et al., 2013; R. Zhao et al., 2015). SFKs play prominent roles in tumor invasion and progression, metastasis, angiogenesis, epithelial-tomesenchymal transition, resistance to apoptosis, and cell proliferation and migration (Sen & Johnson, 2011; Summy & Gallick, 2003). The contribution of SFKs to tumor development and progression remain to be completely defined, although are further discussed in this dissertation.

Interestingly, along with cell signaling pathways, SFKs have been shown to regulate numerous mitochondrial pathways, especially those involved in energy metabolism (Hebert-Chatelain, 2013; Hebert-Chatelain et al., 2012; Miyazaki, Neff, Tanaka, Horne, & Baron, 2003;

Salvi, Brunati, & Toninello, 2005). In fact, only five SFKs have been located within the mitochondria (Miyazaki et al., 2003; Salvi et al., 2002; Salvi et al., 2005; Vahedi, S., Chueh, Chandran, & Yu, 2015). Two of these mitochondrial SFKs, c-Src and Fyn, are ubiquitously expressed in all cell types and have been shown to regulate mitochondrial functions (Hebert-Chatelain, 2013; Hebert-Chatelain et al., 2012; E. C. Koc, Miller-Lee, & Koc, 2016; Thomas, Soriano, & Imamoto, 1995); yet their roles in the regulation of mitochondrial energy metabolism and OXPHOS in cancer are largely unknown. Since mitochondrial dysfunction is one of the hallmarks of cancer and SFKs have been shown to contribute to cancer development by the induction of the Warburg effect, a better understanding of the role of SFKs in the regulation of mitochondrial energy metabolism in cancer is essential. The effect of SFKs, c-Src and Fyn, on mitochondrial energy metabolism in health and disease, along with potential treatment options to inhibit SFKs and improve mitochondrial function and slow liver cancer progression, are explored in this dissertation.

CHAPTER 2

THE REGULATION OF MITOCHONDRIAL OXIDATIVE PHOSPHORYLATION AND ENERGY METABOLISM BY SRC FAMILY KINASES

2.1. Mitochondrial Regulation by Tyrosine Phosphorylation

Mitochondria are the major metabolic hubs of the cell and are crucial for energy generation and dysfunction of any of these pathways can lead to oxidative stress, energy deprivation, and the development of various pathologies. Therefore, due to their essential role in the cell, mitochondrial functions need to be tightly regulated, making many of the auxiliary factors involved in these processes targets for regulatory interventions. In the last several decades, post-translational modifications have emerged as powerful regulators of mitochondrial processes (Hofer & Wenz, 2014; E. C. Koc & Koc, 2012). Although acetylation has been frequently studied and shown to play a critical role in the regulation of mitochondrial energy metabolism in mammals (Guan & Xiong, 2011; E. C. Koc & Koc, 2012; Lu, Scott, Webster, & Sack, 2009; Sack, 2011), phosphorylation was identified as one of the primary ways to regulate mitochondrial processes to rapidly adjust protein activity without permanently altering its structure (Hebert-Chatelain, 2013).

Recently, Tyr phosphorylation has emerged as a major regulator of cellular pathways and has become more crucial as a regulator of mitochondrial proteins (Hebert-Chatelain, 2013; Salvi et al., 2005). In fact, of the 90 Tyr kinases identified in the human genome by Manning et al., 25 were located within the mitochondria (Manning et al., 2002; Pagliarini & Dixon, 2006; Roskoski, 2004). Of these 25 mitochondrial Tyr kinases, several belong to one of the major family of non-receptor Tyr kinases, Src family kinases (SFKs) (Manning et al., 2002; Salvi et al., 2002). To date, several SFK members have been shown to phosphorylate mitochondrial proteins and regulate mitochondrial function and bioenergetics within the cells (Hebert-Chatelain et al., 2012; E. C. Koc et al., 2016; Miyazaki et al., 2003; Salvi et al., 2002; Salvi, Morrice, Brunati, & Toninello, 2007; Vahedi, Chueh, Chandran, & Yu, 2015), establishing their regulatory role on mitochondrial energy metabolism.

2.2. Src Family Kinases

c-Src is a non-receptor SFK that has been under investigation for several decades and has been shown to play key roles in a number of different cellular pathways, including cell growth and division, cell motility, differentiation, morphology, and survival (G. S. Martin, 2001; Roskoski, 2004, 2005). In 1911, Peyton Rous studied the Rous Sarcoma virus (RSV) and identified a transforming viral protein responsible for the development of chicken tumors, v-Src, along with its cellular homologue, c-Src, which were both established as activated tyrosine kinases (Brown & Cooper, 1996; Collett & Erikson, 1978; Czernilofsky et al., 1980; Levinson, Oppermann, Levintow, Varmus, & Bishop, 1978; Rous, 1911; Stehelin, Varmus, Bishop, & Vogt, 1976). In fact, due to these findings, c-Src became the first molecularly defined and characterized proto-oncogene. c-Src was encoded in a physiological gene in normal cells which resulted in an investigation of its function and a search for other related proteins. This led to the discovery of 11 proteins that had similar amino acid sequence homology, structural features, and functions to c-Src which formed what is now known as the SFKs: Fyn, Yes, Yrk, Blk, Fgr, Hck, Lck, Lyn, Frk, Srm, and Brk (Brown & Cooper, 1996; Manning et al., 2002; Thomas & Brugge, 1997).

The SFKs can be divided into 3 groups of enzymes based on their sequence homology: group I includes c-Src, Yes, Fyn, and Fgr, group II is made of Blk, Lyn, Lck, and Blk, and the distantly related group III consists of Frk, Srm, and Brk. These kinases have been found in

multiple different cell types with a restricted pattern of expression; however, three of the kinases, c-Src, Yes, and Fyn, are expressed in all cell types (Brown & Cooper, 1996; Thomas & Brugge, 1997). SFKs regulate many cellular pathways and couple with distinct cellular targets to activate downstream signaling to promote cell survival (Thomas & Brugge, 1997). SFKs are controlled and activated by a diverse class of cellular receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs), including G-protein coupled receptors, integrin receptors, steroid hormone receptors, epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), and cytokine receptors (Fleming et al., 1997; W. Mao et al., 1997; Munshi, Groopman, Gill, & Ganju, 2000; Thomas & Brugge, 1997). Additionally, the activation of c-Src and SFKs can lead to the upregulation of secretory factors involved in metastasis, migration, proliferation, adhesion, and invasion. SFKs are key downstream transducers that initiate cell signaling to promote survival by stimulating cellular growth and proliferation and maintaining cellular functions. More importantly, five of the SFK members are translocated into the mitochondria and regulate cellular energy metabolism, as shown in Fig. 3.



Figure 3. Src signaling pathways. Src interacts with multiple receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) including insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor (IGF-1R), human epidermal growth factor receptor 2 (HER2), epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), plateletderived growth factor receptor (PDGFR), and c-Met (Met), and activated their downstream signaling to promote cell survival. Additionally, Src is also activated by these RTKs as well as integrins and the erythropoietin receptor (E-cadherin), and other downstream signaling events such as the loss of phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN). The activation of Src leads to other cellular signaling events including the activation of Akt for cell growth and proliferation, the activation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), and upregulation of secretary factors that are involved in metastasis, migration, proliferation, adhesion and invasion. Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) promote the breakdown of the extracellular matrix for the invasion of the surrounding tissue, while the production of interleukin-8 (IL-8) and vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF), signaling molecules that promote tumor angiogenesis, are increased by c-Src activation. Five of the Src family kinase members (Fgr, c-Src, Fyn, Lyn, and Lck) are translocated into the mitochondria where they modulate cellular energy metabolism by the phosphorylation of key enzymes involved in metabolic pathways, including oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS). Figure partially adapted from (Roskoski, 2015; Yeatman, 2004; S. Zhang & Yu, 2012).

2.3. Organization of SFKs

The human c-Src gene encodes a protein that is 536 amino acids long, roughly 52-62 kilodaltons (kDa), while the chicken c-Src gene encodes a protein that has 533 residues and exhibits 99.6% sequence identity to the human c-Src gene with the largest variation near the N-terminus (Roskoski, 2015). Interestingly, c-Src, Yes, and Fyn have a high sequence homology of roughly 77-84% identity in their conserved regions (E. C. Koc et al., 2016) with an even higher percentage of sequence identity in their kinase domains, described below. Their high sequence homology causes them to have overlapping functions that make them redundant and able to compensate for the loss of each other to maintain cellular functions (Thomas et al., 1995). Although many studies have been performed with the human c-Src kinase, the numbering system from the chicken c-Src kinase is historically used in most of the literature and will be used in the remainder of this dissertation, unless otherwise stated.

2.3.1. SFK Domain Organization

The SFKs display similar kinase structure and domain organization with over 70% sequence identity between SFK members (Brown & Cooper, 1996). Each kinase is composed of six distinct regions, from the N- to C- terminus: 1) the N-terminal 14-carbon myristoyl group attached to the Src homology (SH) 4 domain, 2) the unique region, 3) the SH3 domain, 4) the SH2 domain, 5) the protein kinase domain (SH1) which is attached to the SH2 domain by a linker region, and 6) the C-terminal regulatory tail (Boggon & Eck, 2004; Brown & Cooper, 1996), as shown in Fig 4A.

The SH4 domain contains a short N-terminal membrane anchor that encompasses a seven N-terminal amino acid residue chain and a myristoylation site (or palmitylation in some SFKs) (Resh, 1993; Thomas & Brugge, 1997), which is required for the attachment of the SFKs to

cellular membranes and kinase activity (Brown & Cooper, 1996; Kaplan, Mardon, Bishop, & Varmus, 1988; Roskoski, 2015; Schultz, Henderson, Oroszlan, Garber, & Hanafusa, 1985; Thomas & Brugge, 1997). Following the SH4 domain is the unique domain which is composed of 50 to 70 poorly conserved amino acids and is distinct for each family member. It has been proposed that this unique region is important for the interactions of certain family members with specific receptors or proteins.

The next three domains, the SH3, SH2, and the protein kinase domain (SH1), are important for the modular structure of the Src family kinases. The SH3 and SH2 domains are protein-binding domains that are found in lipid kinases, protein and lipid phosphatases, adaptor molecules, transcription factors, cytoskeletal proteins, and other proteins, and aid in the binding of SFKs with their adaptor proteins (B. J. Mayer & Baltimore, 1993; Roskoski, 2004; Thomas & Brugge, 1997). The SH3 domain binds to proteins containing proline rich motifs (PXXP consensus), which is important for inter- and intramolecular interactions that recruit substrates, regulate the catalytic activity, and localize Src kinases (Cohen, Ren, & Baltimore, 1995; Rickles et al., 1995; Thomas & Brugge, 1997), while the SH2 domain binds to phosphotyrosine sites of other proteins, preparing the SFKs for activity. Fyn, c-Src, Lck, and Fgr, have preferences to interact with other proteins that contain the phosphotyrosine motif (pYEEI) compared to other sequences (B. A. Liu, Engelmann, & Nash, 2012; Superti-Furga, 1995).

The SH1 or kinase domain is made of two lobes that form the catalytic cleft. This domain provides the enzymatic activity for the SFKs (Brown & Cooper, 1996; Roskoski, 2004; Superti-Furga, 1995) and contains one of the most important Tyr phosphorylation sites, Tyr416, while the second, Tyr527, resides in the short C-terminal tail that follows the kinase domain. The two

regulating Tyr residues, Tyr416 and Tyr527, are highly conserved among all SFKs, especially between c-Src, Yes, and Fyn (Fig. 4B).



Figure 4. Src family kinase domain structure. A) Six domains compose the structure of the kinases and are lined from the N-terminal to the C-terminal: the Src homology 4 (SH4) domain (yellow), the unique region (orange), the SH3 domain (green), the SH2 domain (purple), the SH1 or kinase domain (blue) which contains the conserved tyrosine residue (Tyr416) involved in the activation and autophosphorylation of SFKs, and the C-terminal regulatory tail which encompasses a second conserved tyrosine residue (Tyr527) that is responsible for keeping the SKFs in the inactive state. B) The conservation between YES, SRC, and FYN at the activating loop and the C-terminal regulatory tail. The activating and inhibiting tyrosine residues, Tyr416 and Tyr527, respectively, are shown in red.

2.3.2. Activation and Inactivation of SFKs

The activity of SFKs is mainly regulated by the phosphorylation and dephosphorylation of the two major Tyr residues, Tyr416 and Tyr527. Similar to many Tyr kinases, SFKs are kept in the inactive state 90-95% of the time (Roskoski, 2015; Salvi et al., 2005; Zheng, Resnick, & Shalloway, 2000). Under basal conditions, Tyr527 is phosphorylated (pTyr527), binds to the SH2 domain by intramolecular interactions, and forms a salt bridge. This stabilizes the enzyme in a dormant or "closed" conformation and inhibits the ability for external ligands to interact with the SH3 or SH2 domains (Brown & Cooper, 1996; Roskoski, 2004; Thomas & Brugge, 1997). In the closed conformation, Tyr416 is sequestered so it is inaccessible to other kinases and unable to be phosphorylated, preventing kinase activation (Fig 5A). Both Csk (C-terminal Src kinase) or Chk kinases are responsible for the phosphorylation of Tyr527 and inactivation of SFKs (Okada, 2012; Okada & Nakagawa, 1989; Zrihan-Licht et al., 1997).

The activation of SKFs occurs in two steps. In the first step, protein tyrosine phosphatases, such as the protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha (PTPα), phosphoenolpyruvate phosphatase (PEP), and Src homology 2 domain-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase 1 and 2 (SHP-1 and SHP-2), displace pTyr527 from the SH2 domain pocket and mediate the dephosphorylation of Tyr527 (Zheng et al., 2000; Zheng, Wang, & Pallen, 1992). During the second step, the enzymatic catalytic cleft opens and exposes Tyr416 to autophosphorylation (Brown & Cooper, 1996; Huse & Kuriyan, 2002; Xu, Doshi, Lei, Eck, & Harrison, 1999). Tyr416 phosphorylation stabilizes the enzyme in the active conformation and allows for continued phosphorylation and activation of SFKs by other Tyr kinases (Fig 5B).

SFKs are also redox-sensitive and can be activated by ROS, including hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and peroxynitrite (Akhand et al., 1999). In fact, ROS activation of SFKs leads to a third,

highly active conformation (Giannoni, Buricchi, Raugei, Ramponi, & Chiarugi, 2005; Giannoni, Taddei, & Chiarugi, 2010; Krasnowska et al., 2008). SFKs contain two conserved, redoxregulated cysteine (Cys) residues at 245 and 487 (Cys245 and Cys487) which are located in the SH2 and kinase domains, respectively (Giannoni & Chiarugi, 2014; Giannoni et al., 2010). When the SFK is activated by ROS, these two Cys residues become oxidized, resulting in the formation of an intramolecular disulfide bond between the SH2 and kinase domain, to protect the dephosphorylation of Tyr416 and keep the kinase in a highly active conformation (Fig 5C). The constitutively active kinases can cause significant defects in downstream signaling and can result in cytoskeletal rearrangement and cell spreading, leading to physiological disturbances and the development of various diseases, such as cancer (Giannoni et al., 2005).



Figure 5. Activation of Src family kinases. A) Resting cells exposed to normal environmental conditions exhibit an inactive (closed) conformation, characterized by intramolecular interactions between the SH2 domain and the phosphorylated Tyr527 and associations between the SH3 and linker domain, sequestering Tyr416 in its dephosphorylated state. **B)** Once Src is activated in the early stage of cell adhesion or by growth factor stimulations, phosphorylated Tyr527 (pTyr527) is dissociated from the SH2 domain and dephosphorylated by several protein tyrosine phosphatases. The catalytic cleft opens and Tyr416 is autophosphorylated by another Src kinase molecule, stabilizing the enzyme in its active conformation and allowing for continued phosphorylation and activation. **C)** During high ROS generation, Src is oxidized in one or both of the redox-regulated cysteine residues, Cys245 and Cys487, located in the SH2 domain and kinase domain, respectively, resulting in the formation of an intramolecular disulfide bond (S-S) between the SH2 and kinase domain, keeping the Src kinase in a highly active conformation. Activating Tyr residue (green); inactivated Tyr residue (red) (see text for details). Figure partially adapted from (Giannoni & Chiarugi, 2014).

2.4. Src Family Kinases and the Mitochondria

2.4.1. Src Kinases are Translocated into the Mitochondria

Recently, five of the SFK members, c-Src, Fyn, Lyn, Fgr, and Lck, along with their regulator kinase Csk, have been found in the intermembrane space and inner membrane of the mitochondria in rat brain tissues and cell lines (Miyazaki et al., 2003; Salvi et al., 2002; Salvi et al., 2005; Vahedi et al., 2015). Additionally, they are activated via phosphorylation by a variety of mitochondrial signals, such as redox state, ATP level, hypoxia, and calcium concentration (Hebert-Chatelain, 2013; Hofer & Wenz, 2014; Sato et al., 2005), demonstrating their significance in the regulation of mitochondrial functions. Although some studies suggested that these SFKs permanently reside in the mitochondria (Salvi et al., 2005), other studies demonstrated continuous import and export of SFKs into and out of the mitochondria (Boerner, Demory, Silva, & Parsons, 2004; Demory et al., 2009).

Since SFKs lack a mitochondrial localization sequence, they rely on interactions with adaptor proteins to be translocated into the mitochondria. The C-terminal proline-rich motif in the SH3 domain of SFKs was established as a key player in directing the SFKs to their final destination, which is carried out by the presence of a localization signal on the SFK interacting partners. Several proteins including the protein kinase A (PKA) anchoring protein 121/84 (AKAP121/84) and the protein tyrosine phosphatase D1 (PTPD1) (Cardone et al., 2004; Livigni et al., 2006), the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 accessory protein p13 (Tibaldi et al., 2011), and the downstream of Tyr kinase docking protein 4 (Dok-4) (Itoh et al., 2005), are involved in the translocation of Src kinases into the mitochondria, further highlighting the importance of these SFKs within the mitochondria.

2.4.2. Mitochondrial Energy Metabolism is Regulated by SFKs

SFK phosphorylation impacts the function of many mitochondrial proteins, including those involved in metabolic pathways that feed into and regulate mitochondrial OXPHOS and energy metabolism (Fig. 6). In fact, several enzymes involved in carbohydrate metabolism, pyruvate decarboxylation, and the TCA cycle, have been identified as SFK targets. Mitochondrial translation components, responsible for the synthesis of the 13 core OXPHOS proteins, as well as the subunits of OXPHOS complexes I-V were also identified as targets for SFK phosphorylation, summarized in Table 2.

Src family kinases are implicated in the regulation of carbohydrate metabolism (glycolysis) through the phosphorylation of key enzymes such as glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, which links carbohydrate and lipid metabolism, and hexokinases 1 and 2 (HK1 and HK2), which catalyzes the phosphorylation of glucose to glucose-6-phosphate (Lewandrowski et al., 2008). Although the physiological role of the phosphorylation of glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase is unknown, the phosphorylation of HK1 and HK2 by c-Src kinase was shown to decrease their activities and significantly impair mitochondrial OXPHOS (J. Zhang et al., 2017). c-Src has also been shown to regulate pyruvate decarboxylation by phosphorylating PDH and inhibiting its activity (Y. Jin et al., 2016; Lewandrowski et al., 2008; J. Zhang et al., 2017). Furthermore, the first two steps of the TCA cycle were found to be phosphorylated by Src kinases. Citrate synthase (CS) and aconitase are phosphorylated by SFKs (Lewandrowski et al., 2008; Salvi et al., 2007); however, the physiological relevance of these modifications and their effects on energy metabolism is not currently known. Interestingly, aconitase is also implicated in the stabilization of mtDNA and iron metabolism; therefore, the phosphorylation of aconitase by Fgr at Tyr71, Tyr544, and Tyr665 (Salvi et al., 2007), could have multiple effects on metabolism, yet these effects remain to be elucidated.

Mitochondrial translation components and, therefore, the expression of OXPHOS complexes, are also regulated by SFKs. Recently, our group has demonstrated the association of Fyn kinase with mitochondrial translation machinery, MRPs, and showed an induction of mitochondrial protein synthesis and OXPHOS expression in liver cancer cell lines (E. C. Koc et al., 2016). On the contrary, Lck kinase was also reported to interact with mitochondrial translation machinery by competitively binding to CR6-interacting factor (CRIF1), a mitochondrial ribosomal protein (E. C. Koc et al., 2013), and inhibiting OXPHOS expression and activity (Vahedi et al., 2015). Since mitochondrial translation is responsible for the synthesis of the 13 essential OXPHOS subunits, SFK phosphorylation plays a clear role in regulating energy metabolism.

In fact, SFKs have also modulated the activity of OXPHOS complexes by directly phosphorylating their subunits (described in Table 2). Interestingly, the first identified mitochondrial protein phosphorylated by c-Src kinase was COII, a mitochondrial-encoded subunit of OXPHOS complex IV (Miyazaki et al., 2003). This phosphorylation event was the first to demonstrate the regulation of OXPHOS activity by Src-dependent phosphorylation of OXPHOS complexes. Since then, SFKs have been shown to phosphorylate several subunits from OXPHOS complexes I-V (Augereau et al., 2005; Hebert-Chatelain et al., 2012; Lewandrowski et al., 2008; Ogura, Yamaki, Homma, & Homma, 2012; Salvi et al., 2007), summarized in Fig. 6. The 39 kDa and 75 kDa subunits, NADH dehydrogenase [ubiquinone] flavoprotein 2 (NDUFV2), and NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase subunit B10 (NDUFB10) of complex I were identified as SFK targets (Augereau et al., 2005; Hebert-Chatelain et al., 2012; Ogura et al.,

2012). Although the physiological relevance of the phosphorylation of the 39 kDa and 75 kDa subunits remains to be identified, the phosphorylation of the core subunit, NDUFV2, and NDUFB10 by c-Src is required for the NADH activity and, therefore, increases complex I activity resulting in stimulated OXPHOS function. Additionally, succinate dehydrogenase subunit A (SDHA) of complex II, subunits I and II of complex III, and subunits α , β , γ , and ε of complex V were also phosphorylated by SFKs, with the phosphorylation of complex III and V leading to a decrease in their complex activities (Augereau et al., 2005; Hebert Chatelain, Dupuy, Letellier, & Dachary-Prigent, 2011; Lewandrowski et al., 2008).

The phosphorylation of COII by c-Src induced the enzymatic activity of complex IV in osteoclasts (Miyazaki et al., 2003; Miyazaki, Tanaka, Sanjay, & Baron, 2006). However, when COII was phosphorylated in combination with the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR), the activity of OXPHOS complex IV was significantly reduced (Boerner et al., 2004; Demory et al., 2009) implying further studies should be performed to identify the effects of c-Src on COII in health and disease. In addition to regulating OXPHOS complexes, SFKs also regulate energy metabolism by targeting the ATP/ADP antiporters, adenine nucleotide translocase 1 and 2 (ANT1 and ANT2), which are involved in transporting ADP to the ATPase (complex V) and providing ATP to the cell by exporting it from the mitochondria (Lewandrowski et al., 2008), although the effect of SFK phosphorylation on ANT1 and ANT2 are not yet known. Together, these studies clearly demonstrate the regulation of mitochondrial energy metabolism through the phosphorylation of mitochondrial proteins by SFKs in health and disease.



Figure 6. OXPHOS complex subunits phosphorylated by Src family kinases. Subunits of oxidative phosphorylation complexes are phosphorylated by Src family tyrosine kinases to alter ATP production. The yellow stars represent phosphorylation sites of SFKs that have not been identified, and the green stars represent Tyr phosphorylation sites of c-Src kinase.

In addition to energy metabolism, apoptosis is also established as a major factor in mitochondrial function. Interestingly, SFKs also regulate different mitochondrial-dependent apoptotic pathways. Lck is involved in the activity of the apoptotic signal transduction pathways after irradiation and ceramide exposure (Belka et al., 1999; Hur, Yun, & Won, 2004; Manna & Aggarwal, 2000), and has, therefore, been identified as a positive regulator of apoptosis (Samraj, Stroh, Fischer, & Schulze-Osthoff, 2006). Lyn was suggested to contribute to apoptosis after exposure to radiation and the deprivation of growth factors (Qin, Minami, Kurosaki, & Yamamura, 1997; Uckun et al., 1996), implicating its role in pro-apoptotic events; however, Lyn was also suggested to preserve mitochondrial integrity and protect against apoptosis during liver regeneration (Ferri et al., 2005; F. Y. Lee et al., 1999). Other SFKs, such as c-Src, also possess anti-apoptotic properties (Lluis, Buricchi, Chiarugi, Morales, & Fernandez-Checa, 2007). Therefore, a better understanding of how these SFKs regulate mitochondrial functions including OXPHOS and apoptosis is essential for disease prevention.

Pathway	Target	Residue	Kinase	Alteration	References
Carbohydrate metabolism (glycolysis)	Glycerol-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	Unidentified	Src kinases	Unknown	(Lewandrowski, Sickmann et al. 2008)
	Hexokinases 1 and 2	Tyr732 and Tyr686	c-Src kinase	Decreases activity of HK1 and HK2	(Lewandrowski, Sickmann et al. 2008, Zhang, Wang et al. 2017)
	Pyruvate dehydrogenase	Tyr289	c-Src kinase	Decreases activity of PDH	(Jin, Cai et al. 2016)
TCA cycle/CAC	Aconitase Hydratase	Tyr71, Tyr544, Tyr665	Fgr kinase	Unknown	(Salvi, Morrice et al. 2007)
	Citrate Synthase	Unidentified	Src kinases	Unknown	(Lewandrowski, Sickmann et al. 2008)
Protein Synthesis	Ribosomal Proteins	Unidentified	Fyn kinase	Increases protein synthesis	(Koc, Miller-Lee et al. 2016)
	CR6-interacting factor 1	Unidentified	Lck kinase	Decreases protein synthesis	(Vahedi, Chueh et al. 2015)
OXPHOS complex I	39kDa and 72kDa	Unidentified	Src kinases	Unknown	(Augereau, Claverol et al. 2005)
	NDUFV2	Tyr193	c-Src kinase	Increases activity of CI	(Hebert-Chatelain, Jose et al. 2012)
	NDUFB10	Unidentified	c-Src kinase	Increases activity of CI	(Hebert-Chatelain et al., 2012; Ogura et al., 2012)
OXPHOS complex II	SDHA	Unidentified	Src kinases	Unknown	(Augereau et al., 2005; Ogura et al., 2012; Salvi et al., 2007)
OXPHOS complex III	Subunits I and II	Unidentified	Src kinases	Decreases activity of CIII	(Augereau et al., 2005; Hebert Chatelain et al., 2011)
OXPHOS complex IV	COII	Unidentified	c-Src kinase	Increases activity of CV	(Augereau et al., 2005; Miyazaki et al., 2003; Miyazaki et al., 2006)
	COII	Unidentified	c-Src kinase and EGFR	Decreases activity of CIV	(Demory, Boerner et al. 2009, Boerner, Demory et al. 2004)
OXPHOS complex V	α-, β-, γ-, and ε-	Unidentified	Src kinases	Decreases activity of CV	(Augereau et al., 2005; Hebert-Chatelain et al., 2012; Hebert Chatelain et al., 2011; Lewandrowski et al., 2008)
Apoptosis (MPTP)	ATP/ADP translocase 1 and 2	Unidentified	Src kinases	Unknown	(Lewandrowski, Sickmann et al. 2008)
	Creatine kinase	Unidentified	Src kinases	Unknown	(Lewandrowski, Sickmann et al. 2008)

Table 2. Mitochondrial pathways that are regulated by Src family kinases. Individual targets, modified residues, the respective modifying Src family kinase, and the physiological role from each modification is listed.

2.5. SFK Signaling and Cancer

Alterations in the expression of SFKs have been shown to contribute to the initiation and progression of multiple diseases including neurological disorders (Alzheimer's and Parkinson's disease), metabolic syndrome, diabetes, and various types of cancer (Elias & Ditzel, 2015; Irby & Yeatman, 2000; Lu et al., 2009; K. Yang et al., 2011; Yeatman, 2004). Many SFK members have been established and characterized as proto-oncogenes (Brown & Cooper, 1996; Czernilofsky et al., 1980; Irby & Yeatman, 2002; L. C. Kim, Song, & Haura, 2009; M. P. Kim, Park, Kopetz, & Gallick, 2009; Stehelin et al., 1976). Surprisingly, to date, no somatic mutations have been identified in SFK genes (Frame, 2004; Yeatman, 2004); therefore, dysregulation of their activities play critical roles in the etiology of cancer. In fact, aberrant activation is implicated in disease development, growth, and progression due to the induction of multiple malignant properties of SFKs including proliferation, invasion, angiogenesis, and metastasis (Elsberger, 2014; M. P. Kim et al., 2009; Yeatman, 2004), linking SFKs to both tumorigenicity and metastasis (Brown & Cooper, 1996; Irby & Yeatman, 2000). c-Src kinase is the SFK member most often implicated in cancer and increased expression and/or activity has been reported in a variety of human cancers including ovarian, lung, breast, colorectal, pancreatic, brain, gastric, liver, melanoma, and leukemia (Dai et al., 1998; Irby & Yeatman, 2002; Rosen et al., 1986; Yeatman, 2004). Aberrant expression and activity of c-Src has been positively correlated with cancer stage, disease recurrence, and adverse prognosis, and is frequently associated with increased cancer metastasis and resistance to treatments (Elsberger, 2014; Irby & Yeatman, 2000; E. L. Mayer & Krop, 2010; Yeatman, 2004; S. Zhang et al., 2011). These findings demonstrate the need for a better understanding of the involvement of c-Src in cancer types, which can be used for the development of novel treatments.

Liver cancer is one of the most common cancer types that is increasing due to the rising rates of obesity and metabolic syndrome and is the sixth major cause of cancer mortality in men (Walker et al., 2019). Approximately 85-90% of primary liver cancers occurring are hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) (El-Serag & Rudolph, 2007; Ren, Fang, Ding, & Chen, 2016; Torre et al., 2015). HCC is one of the most metastatic and malignant cancers and is strongly associated with poor prognosis, recurrence, and resistance to treatments (Daher, Massarwa, Benson, & Khoury, 2018; Pang et al., 2008; Ren et al., 2016). Due to the high recurrent and metastatic nature of HCC, the five-year survival rate is low (R. Zhao et al., 2015); therefore, the identification of oncogenes involved in HCC progression are essential to the prevention and treatment.

The overexpression and/or increased activity of c-Src has been found in HCC (Masaki et al., 1998; Sun et al., 2008; R. Zhao et al., 2015). Aberrant c-Src activity was suggested to contribute to the malignant transformation of hepatocytes and the poor prognosis of patients (Masaki et al., 1998). Interestingly, oxidative stress, which is strongly associated with mitochondrial dysfunction, was indicated as a contributor to HCC carcinogenesis (Hsu, Lee, & Wei, 2013; Klaunig & Kamendulis, 2004; Kumar, Zhao, & Wang, 2011), and is an activator of c-Src kinase. In fact, c-Src has been shown to alter mitochondrial function and energy metabolism by phosphorylating mitochondrial proteins and is implicated in promoting the Warburg effect and malignant properties in various cancer types (Y. Jin et al., 2016; Wallace, 2012; J. Zhang et al., 2017). Previous studies have shown c-Src phosphorylation of HK1 and HK2 at Tyr732 and Tyr686, respectively, in addition to PDH at Tyr289 in cancer cells which inhibited their activities, promoted the glycolytic flux and increased glycolysis, impaired OXPHOS function and ATP synthesis, and contributed to the Warburg effect and the

development of cancer (Y. Jin et al., 2016; J. Zhang et al., 2017). Additionally, c-Src promoted the metastatic phenotype by increasing cell proliferation and enhancing angiogenesis (Fleming et al., 1997; W. Mao et al., 1997; Munshi et al., 2000) as well as stimulating the cell cycle progression to prevent apoptosis by increasing the expression of B-cell lymphoma-extra-large (Bcl-XL) (Karni, Jove, & Levitzki, 1999) and activating Stat3 (Bromberg et al., 1999; Catlett-Falcone et al., 1999).

c-Src plays a critical role in cell growth and maintenance; however, the overactivation of c-Src leads to malignant phenotypes found in cancer. The presence of c-Src and other SFKs within the mitochondria in cancer cells not only implies their role in mitochondrial dysfunction and cancer development (Demory et al., 2009; Hebert-Chatelain et al., 2012; E. C. Koc et al., 2016), but it also demonstrates that mitochondrial metabolism is essential to cancer cell growth, especially since mitochondria are also essential for the biosynthetic machineries of lipids, proteins, and nucleic acids which are largely derived from the TCA cycle. Therefore, a better understanding of the role of c-Src, and other SFKs, in mitochondrial energy metabolism in different cancer cell types needs to be established. Furthermore, identifying direct pathways and substrates regulated by SFKs can make them pharmacological tools for drug development to allow for improved mitochondrial function. Aberrant expression of c-Src was clearly implicated in the progression of HCC, which is also associated with high oxidative stress. Yet, the role of c-Src on mitochondrial dysfunction in liver cancer remains to be elucidated.

2.6. SFKs as Drug Targets

Due to the increased expression of SFKs in a large number of human cancers, they have become promising targets for cancer therapies (Blake et al., 2000; Hanke et al., 1996; Roskoski, 2015; S. Zhang & Yu, 2012). To date, only five orally effective multi-kinase inhibitors have

been approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA). In fact, Vandetanib and Sarcatinib were initially developed as SFK inhibitors, while other inhibitors such as Bosutinib, Dasatinib, and Ponatinib were developed as multi-kinase inhibitors and demonstrated to target SFKs (Boschelli et al., 2004; Hennequin et al., 2006; W. S. Huang et al., 2010; Lombardo et al., 2004; Nowak et al., 2007). Although Vandetanib, Ponatinib, and Sarcatinib were shown to target all SFKs, Bosutinib and Dasatinib were shown to target specific SFKs c-Src, Lyn, and Hck and c-Src, Lck, Fyn, and Yes, respectively. These inhibitors have been used to target specific cancer types, such as small cell lung, colorectal, and ovarian cancers; however, they are currently undergoing additional clinical trials to be used for the treatments of other cancers.

In addition to these FDA-approved drugs for cancer treatments, other SFK inhibitors such as 4-amino-5-(4-chlorophenyl)-7-(dimethylethyl)pyrazolo[3,4-d]pyrimidine (PP2) and 2,3-Dihydro-N,N-dimethyl-2-oxo-3-[(4,5,6,7-tetrahydro-1H-indol-2-yl)methylene]-1H-indole-5sulfonamide (SU6656) have been evaluated for their potential use in cancer treatments (Blake et al., 2000; Finn et al., 2013; Hanke et al., 1996; Lau et al., 2009; E. L. Mayer & Krop, 2010). PP2 and SU6656 are small molecule inhibitors that block the ATP binding site of the ubiquitously expressed SFK members c-Src, Yes, Fyn, and Lyn (Blake et al., 2000; Hanke et al., 1996). While these inhibitors have been proven effective in reducing cell proliferation, and decreased cancer progression by suppressing SFK activity (Finn et al., 2013; H. Guo et al., 2016; Zhu et al., 2018), clinically significant data is limited. Unfortunately, breast cancer, HCC, and others are highly metastatic and resistant to conventional cancer treatments, only providing the ability to minimally extend the life expectancy of patients (E. L. Mayer & Krop, 2010; Salem, Whitaker-Menezes, Howell, Sotgia, & Lisanti, 2012; Wu et al., 2018; S. Zhang et al., 2011; R. Zhao et al., 2015). Currently, the multi-kinase inhibitor Sorafenib is the only approved drug for the systemic treatment of HCC; however, it only extends the life of patients by 3-4 months (Daher et al., 2018; Llovet et al., 2008; Wilhelm et al., 2008), demonstrating a need for alternative treatment options.

2.6.1. Natural Antioxidants as SFK Inhibitors

Increased levels of ROS have been found in various cancer types and are often associated with mitochondrial OXPHOS dysfunction (Delmas, Jannin, Cherkaoui Malki, & Latruffe, 2000; H. Guo et al., 2016; Liao et al., 2010; Zhu et al., 2018). Due to high levels of ROS in cancer and the ability of ROS to activate SFKs, natural antioxidants such as kaempferol and resveratrol have been evaluated as chemotherapeutic agents and Src kinase inhibitors. Kaempferol and resveratrol are both naturally occurring antioxidants that have anti-tumor, anti-inflammatory, and chemopreventative pharmacological activities (H. Guo et al., 2016; Y. B. Huang et al., 2014; Liao et al., 2010; M. Singh, Kaur, & Silakari, 2014; Udenigwe, Ramprasath, Aluko, & Jones, 2008; Zhu et al., 2018). Kaempferol belongs to the flavonoid family that also has anti-diabetic effects (A. Y. Chen & Chen, 2013). Our laboratory has previously demonstrated increased mitochondrial complex II activity with kaempferol treatment, demonstrating improved mitochondrial function (Cimen et al., 2010). Additionally, previous studies demonstrated reduced cell proliferation, migration, invasion, and apoptosis in the liver cancer cell line, HepG2, when cells were treated with kaempferol (H. Guo et al., 2016; Zhu et al., 2018). Resveratrol is a polyphenol that has many protective effects against cardiovascular disease, age-related deterioration, and cancer (Baur, 2010; Jang et al., 1997). Resveratrol has been shown to reduce cell growth and proliferation by inhibiting the cell cycle and inducing apoptosis in various cancer types including liver and breast cancer (Delmas et al., 2000; Kocsis, Marcsek, Jakab, Szende, & Tompa, 2005; Liao et al., 2010; Nakagawa et al., 2001). Resveratrol induces apoptosis by stimulating the

production of intracellular ROS to activate the ROS-dependent apoptotic pathways (Miki et al., 2012). Similarly, resveratrol treatments have also been reported to increase mitochondrial function in cancer cells (Haohao, Guijun, Juan, Wen, & Lulu, 2015; Lagouge et al., 2006). Interestingly, both kaempferol and resveratrol have been shown to have inhibitory effects on Src pathways (K. M. Lee et al., 2010; Oz et al., 2019). Kaempferol acts similarly to PP2 and SU6656 by blocking the ATP binding site of Src kinases, inhibiting the activity, and preventing downstream signaling (K. M. Lee et al., 2010). Although these two antioxidants show promise as SFK inhibitors, their effects on mitochondrial OXPHOS and energy metabolism remains to be elucidated. Due to the aberrant expression of c-Src and its regulatory role in the metabolic reprogramming of cancer cells by altering mitochondrial function, understanding the impact of these inhibitors on mitochondrial energy metabolism will prove to be therapeutically beneficial.

2.7. Research Specific Aims and Hypotheses

Specific Aims

Mitochondrial translation is responsible for producing 13 essential subunits of oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) complexes in mammals. The mitochondria produce the majority of the cell's energy by OXPHOS; therefore, protein synthesis is critical for mitochondrial energy production. Mitochondrial dysfunction is often found to be associated with obesity, type 2 diabetes (T2D), and cancer (Kelley et al., 2002; J. A. Kim et al., 2008; Wallace, 1999, 2012). Although several studies have demonstrated diminished mitochondrial energy metabolism in obesity and T2D subjects, the mitochondrial molecular pathogenesis of the disease remains to be discovered. Sequence variants in mitochondrial genes involved in mitochondrial protein synthesis, such as *Dars2* and several mitochondrial proteins, along with variants in OXPHOS complex subunits, *Sdhc* and *Ndufs2*, have been identified in the human obesity and type 2

diabetes model, TALLYHO/Jng (TH) mice. For this reason, **impaired mitochondrial protein synthesis and oxidative energy metabolism results in mitochondrial dysfunction which can contribute to the development of obesity and T2D in TH mice.**

Post-translational modifications (PTMs) have been shown to be a regulatory mechanism for many mitochondrial processes; however, the regulation of mitochondrial OXPHOS complex expression and energy metabolism remains to be elucidated. The Src family kinases (SFKs) c-Src and Fyn are expressed in all cell types and have been located within the mitochondria where they are involved in the phosphorylation and regulation of mitochondrial proteins (Hebert-Chatelain, 2013; Miyazaki et al., 2006; Salvi et al., 2005). These kinases are activated by cellular reactive oxygen species (ROS), a byproduct of OXPHOS (Giannoni et al., 2005). In fact, in one of the most common and malignant cancers, human hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), increased c-Src expression and activity was reported and correlated with disease progression and cancer metastasis (Masaki et al., 1998; Zhao et al., 2015). Although c-Src phosphorylates many mitochondrial proteins, its role in the regulation of mitochondrial energy metabolism in health and disease, such as liver cancer, has yet to be established. Therefore, due to the essential role of mitochondria in energy metabolism, deregulation of mitochondrial OXPHOS complex expression by increased c-Src expression and activation may result in dysfunctional energy metabolism.

Additionally, elevated Fyn kinase expression has been reported in liver cancer and shown to alter mitochondrial energy metabolism by stimulating mitochondrial protein synthesis (E. C. Koc et al., 2016). Hyperactivation of Fyn, along with other SFKs, has contributed to the development and progression of metabolic diseases such as neurodegeneration and cancer. However, many patients are becoming resistant to available treatment options due to the

increased activity of SFKs, leading to investigations in alternative treatments such as natural antioxidants. Therefore, a better understanding of Fyn kinase in cellular signaling and the regulation of mitochondrial energy metabolism is necessary for the development of novel therapeutic strategies to improve disease prognosis. For this reason, **the inhibition of Fyn kinase activity may improve mitochondrial function and energy metabolism and slow metabolic disease progression.** Our studies will help devise mechanisms for how c-Src and Fyn regulate mitochondrial energy metabolism and oxidative phosphorylation as well as the development of therapeutic tools for combating mitochondrial dysfunction in metabolic diseases.

Aim 1: Determine the changes in oxidative phosphorylation and mitochondrial biogenesis in human obesity and type 2 diabetes model, TALLYHO/Jng mice.

Previous studies have implicated mitochondrial dysfunction as an underlying factor in the development of obesity, insulin resistance, and type 2 diabetes (T2D) (Kelley et al., 2002; J. A. Kim et al., 2008; Petersen et al., 2003). Reduced energy expenditure and sequence variants in mitochondrial proteins have been reported in the human obesity and T2D model TALLYHO/Jng (TH) mice (Denvir et al., 2016; X. Mao, Dillon, McEntee, Saxton, & Kim, 2014), implying that TH mice may have impaired mitochondrial function. <u>We hypothesize</u> that the mitochondrial sequence variants identified in the whole genome analysis of TH mice would affect oxidative phosphorylation and contribute to the obesity and insulin resistant phenotypes. In an effort to uncover the role of mitochondrial function in TH mice, we will investigate differences in the expression and activity of OXPHOS complexes. Additionally, the transcription and translation of nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded OXPHOS subunits will be evaluated in mitochondrial-rich tissues (i.e. the liver and kidney) of TH and C57BL/6J (B6) mice. The role of the sequence

variants identified in TH mice will be observed and discussed. The results from this aim will identify factors that contribute to mitochondrial dysfunction in obesity and T2D and allow us to improve disease prognosis and treatment.

Aim 2: Investigate the role of c-Src on mitochondrial OXPHOS complex expression and activity in liver cancer.

Src family kinases (SFKs) have been shown to regulate mitochondrial energy metabolism in normal and cancer cells. In fact, dysregulation of SFK activities have been shown to contribute to the development and progression of cancer. Several studies have reported high c-Src expression and activity in human hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) which is correlated to disease stage (Masaki et al., 1998; R. Zhao et al., 2015). c-Src kinase has also been shown to contribute to mitochondrial dysfunction and the Warburg effect (Y. Jin et al., 2016; Wallace, 2005; J. Zhang et al., 2017). We hypothesize that c-Src kinase expression and activity is increased in metastatic liver cancer tissues and cell lines and is associated with decreased expression of OXPHOS complex subunits, which can be reversed when treated with SFK inhibitors and c-Src siRNA. To determine the role of c-Src on mitochondrial energy metabolism in liver cancer, noncancerous and cancerous liver biopsies from patients and common liver cancer cell lines, Hep3B and HepG2, will be evaluated for the expression of c-Src and the phosphorylation and activation of c-Src at Tyr416 (pSFK), along with changes in the expression and activity of OXPHOS complexes. Once the association between c-Src and OXPHOS complex expression is determined in the liver cancer tissues and cell lines, the cells will be treated with the SFK inhibitor PP2 and transfected with c-Src specific siRNA to observe changes in c-Src phosphorylation, OXPHOS complex expression and activity, and cell proliferation. Additionally, we will compare the results

from the liver cancer studies to studies using multiple mouse embryonic fibroblast cell lines with varying expressions of c-Src to observe if similar effects are found in normal cells. The results from this aim will reveal the correlation between c-Src and mitochondrial OXPHOS complex expression in both health and disease. The findings will also allow us to have a better understanding of how c-Src kinase alters energy metabolism and responds to SFK inhibitors to develop better treatment options for cancers with high c-Src expression and/or activity.

Aim 3: Identify the effects of Fyn kinase inhibition with natural antioxidants on

mitochondrial energy metabolism and oxidative phosphorylation in metabolic diseases. SFK inhibitors, as well as natural antioxidants kaempferol and resveratrol which have also been reported to have inhibitory effects on Src kinase pathways (Finn et al., 2013; Lau et al., 2009; K. M. Lee et al., 2010; E. L. Mayer & Krop, 2010; Oz et al., 2019), have been investigated as potential therapies. Interestingly, Fyn kinase was shown to be a contributing factor to several metabolic disorders; however, the effects of Fyn kinase and mitochondrial energy metabolism are largely unknown. Recently, our laboratory has shown Fyn kinase is associated with and phosphorylates mitochondrial translation components and increased OXPHOS complex expression (E. C. Koc et al., 2016). We hypothesize that treatment of liver cancer cell lines with the SFK inhibitor, SU6656, and natural antioxidants, kaempferol and resveratrol, will impair Fyn activity and OXPHOS expression while reducing oxidative stress and decrease cell proliferation. To identify the effects of Fyn inhibition on OXPHOS complex expression, we will examine the changes in the expression of OXPHOS complexes and cell proliferation when Hep3B and HepG2 liver cancer cell lines are treated with SU6656, kaempferol, and resveratrol. The results from this aim will identify the effects of Fyn inhibition on mitochondrial oxidative

phosphorylation. These findings will also provide us with a better understanding of the effects of Fyn inhibition on mitochondrial function and cell proliferation. In addition, the data will allow us to better evaluate SU6656, kaempferol, and resveratrol as SFK inhibitors to help develop better treatment options to improve mitochondrial function and prevent the progression of metabolic disorders.
CHAPTER 3

MITOCHONDRIAL OXIDATIVE PHOSPHORYLATION IS IMPAIRED IN TALLYHO MICE, A NEW OBESITY AND TYPE 2 DIABETES ANIMAL MODEL

A manuscript published in The International Journal of Biochemistry and Cell Biology.

Hunter CA, Kartal F, Koc ZC, Murphy T, Kim JH, Denvir J, Koc EC. (2019) Mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation is impaired in TALLYHO mice, a new obesity and type 2 diabetes animal model. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 116, p. 105616. doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2019.105616. Epub 2019 Sep 19.

Reprinting for dissertation is a part of the author's rights and permission is not required from Elsevier the copyright holder.

Caroline A. Hunter, Funda Kartal, Zeynep C. Koc, Tamara Murphy, Jung Han Kim, James Denvir, Emine C. Koc*

Department of Biomedical Sciences, Joan C. Edwards School of Medicine, Marshall University, Huntington, WV, 25755, United States.

*To whom correspondence should be addressed: Emine C. Koc, Department of Biomedical Sciences, Joan C. Edwards School of Medicine, Marshall University, Huntington, WV 25755. Tel: +1-304-696-3680; Fax: +1-304-696-7207; Email: koce@marshall.edu.

Abstract

Type 2 diabetes has become an epidemic disease largely explained by the dramatic increase in obesity in recent years. Mitochondrial dysfunction is suggested as an underlying factor in obesity and type 2 diabetes. In this study, we evaluated changes in oxidative phosphorylation and mitochondrial biogenesis in a new human obesity and type 2 diabetes model, TALLYHO/Jng mice. We hypothesized that the sequence variants identified in the whole genome analysis of TALLYHO/Jng mice would affect oxidative phosphorylation and contribute to obesity and insulin resistant phenotypes. To test this hypothesis, we investigated differences in the expression and activity of oxidative phosphorylation complexes, including the transcription and translation of nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded subunits and enzymatic activities, in the liver and kidney of TALLYHO/Jng and C57BL/6J mice. A significant decrease was observed in the expression of nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded subunits of complex I and IV, respectively, in TALLYHO/Jng mice, which coincided with significant reductions in their enzymatic activities. Furthermore, sequence variants were identified in oxidative phosphorylation complex subunits, a mitochondrial tRNA synthetase, and mitochondrial ribosomal proteins. Our data suggested that the lower expression and activity of oxidative phosphorylation complexes results in the diminished energy metabolism observed in TALLYHO/Jng mice. Sequence variants identified in mitochondrial proteins accentuated a defect in mitochondrial protein synthesis which also contributes to impaired biogenesis and oxidative phosphorylation in TALLYHO/Jng mice. These results demonstrated that the identification of factors contributing to mitochondrial dysfunction will allow us to improve the disease prognosis and treatment of obesity and type 2 diabetes in humans.

Highlights

Mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation is impaired in TALLYHO/Jng mice. Expression and activities of complex I and IV are diminished in TALLYHO/Jng mice. Impaired mitochondrial protein synthesis is one of the contributing factors. Mitochondrial sequence variants may contribute to mitochondrial biogenesis defects.

3.1. Introduction

Diabetes and obesity are two of the major metabolic diseases worldwide that are becoming an epidemic due to an increase in sedentary lifestyles. Type 2 diabetes (T2D) accounts for at least 90% of the diabetic cases and is commonly associated with an increased risk for morbidity and mortality (Bouret, Levin, & Ozanne, 2015; Romao & Roth, 2008). The etiology of obesity and T2D involves complex interactions of several susceptibility genes and environmental factors, making disease prevention difficult (Bouret et al., 2015; Romao & Roth, 2008). Animal models with both physiologic and genetic similarities to humans have become valuable resources for obesity and T2D studies; however, to date, only a few polygenic animal models exist (Rees & Alcolado, 2005). Recently, TALLYHO/Jng (TH) mice were developed as models for human obesity and type 2 diabetes (J. H. Kim et al., 2001). The polygenic pattern of inheritance in TH mice closely resembles the genetic inheritance in humans, making these mice ideal models for the identification of underlying molecular defects in diabetes and obesity related abnormalities (Grarup, Sandholt, Hansen, & Pedersen, 2014; J. H. Kim & Saxton, 2012).

TH mice encompass many aspects of the human T2D condition and are characterized by obesity, glucose intolerance, insulin resistance, hyperinsulinemia, hyperlipidemia, and hyperglycemia (in male mice) (J. H. Kim et al., 2006; J. H. Kim et al., 2005). Additionally, these

mice are also accompanied by lower energy expenditure and locomotor activity (X. Mao et al., 2014). Previous studies have suggested that the diet is an important modulator of susceptibility to obesity and T2D when TH mice are fed a high fat diet (Parkman et al., 2016). Interestingly, the diabetic condition was ameliorated and metabolic flexibility was significantly improved in TH mice treated with Bezafibrate (BEZ), a pan PPAR (peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor) activator (Franko et al., 2017). Several mapping studies were performed to identify significant quantitative trait loci (QTLs) that are linked to the obesity, diabetes, and hyperlipidemia phenotypes present in TH mice (J. H. Kim et al., 2005; Parkman et al., 2017; Stewart, Kim, Saxton, & Kim, 2010). Additionally, whole genome sequencing was also performed to identify causal variants of underlying metabolic diseases found in this animal model (Denvir et al., 2016).

Mitochondrial dysfunction, including impaired mitochondrial biogenesis, was established as a contributing factor to insulin resistance in obesity and T2D (Kelley et al., 2002; Patti et al., 2003; Petersen et al., 2003). Mitochondrial biogenesis relies on the coordinated regulation of both nuclear and mitochondrial protein expression for energy metabolism via oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS). In mammals, mitochondrial biogenesis is regulated by PPAR coactivator-1 alpha (PGC-1 α), a transcriptional coactivator that interacts with nuclear respiratory factor 1 (NRF-1) and stimulates the transcription of nuclear-encoded mitochondrial genes (Heilbronn et al., 2007; Mootha et al., 2003; Patti et al., 2003). A coordinated reduction of PGC-1 α and its responsive gene, NRF-1, were correlated with obesity, insulin resistance, and T2D (Heilbronn et al., 2007; Mootha et al., 2003; Patti et al., 2003; Skov et al., 2007). Lower expression of each of the five mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes, including the mitochondrialencoded subunit of complex IV, cytochrome c oxidase I (COI), was shown in subjects with acquired obesity and insulin resistance (Heinonen et al., 2015; Morino et al., 2005; Perks et al., 2017). Interestingly, one of the most common pathogenic mutations in the mitochondrial genome that is linked to T2D was found in the mitochondrial-encoded tRNA (Leu, UUR), which led to a defect in oxidative phosphorylation (Esterhuizen et al., 2019), and the mutation was identified in patients with impaired insulin secretion (Maassen et al., 2004; van den Ouweland et al., 1992).

The mitochondrial genome codes for 13 polypeptides that are essential subunits of OXPHOS complexes, two ribosomal RNAs (rRNAs), and 22 transfer RNAs (tRNAs). These essential subunits are synthesized by the mitochondrial transcription and translation machinery, which also contribute to the impaired mitochondrial biogenesis identified in obesity and T2D. Studies have demonstrated that the haploinsufficiency of pentatricopeptide repeat domain 1 (PTCD1) and the altered expression and/or mutation of mitochondrial ribosomal proteins (MRPs) led to reduced mitochondrial energy metabolism via decreased RNA processing, impaired mitochondrial protein synthesis, and the diminished expression of OXPHOS complexes in obesity, insulin resistance, and T2D (Bains et al., 2004; Heinonen et al., 2015; Perks et al., 2017; Rong et al., 2007). Additionally, the mitochondrial elongation factor Tu (EF-Tu) was also identified as a possible factor responsible for impaired mitochondrial biogenesis following exercise in an obese state (Greene et al., 2014) and has been recognized as one of the mitochondrial genes most connected to the insulin signaling cascade (Mercader et al., 2012). Taken together, these studies suggest that impaired mitochondrial biogenesis, including diminished mitochondrial protein synthesis, may lead to the metabolic disturbances that are characteristic of obesity, insulin resistance, and T2D. However, we still lack a thorough understanding of mitochondrial biogenesis and the contribution of mitochondrial protein synthesis and oxidative phosphorylation in obesity and T2D.

In this study, we investigated mitochondrial biogenesis, including the expression of nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded subunits of OXPHOS complexes and mitochondrial translation machinery, in mitochondrial rich liver and kidney tissues of TH and C57BL/6J (B6) mice. We discovered reduced expression of nuclear-encoded subunits of OXPHOS complex I, NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase subunit B8 (NDUFB8) and NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase subunit S2 (NDUFS2), and mitochondrial-encoded subunits of OXPHOS complex IV, COI and cytochrome c oxidase II (COII), along with diminished activities of the corresponding complexes. Furthermore, we identified sequence variants in NDUFS2, mitochondrial aspartyl-tRNA synthetase 2 (DARS2), and several MRPs in the whole genome sequence database of TH mice previously published (Denvir et al., 2016). The potential contribution of these sequence variants on mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative phosphorylation is also discussed. Our study strongly indicates that impaired mitochondrial biogenesis could be one of the reasons for the lower mitochondrial oxidative energy metabolism in TH mice.

3.2. Materials and Methods

3.2.1. TALLYHO/Jng and C57BL/6J Tissue Samples

Liver (18-20 weeks old) and kidney (25-27 weeks old) tissues were collected from male TH and B6 mice fed standard rodent chow (Purina 5001, PMI Nutrition, Brentwood, MO, USA). Breeding of TALLYHO/Jng mice was established as previously described (J. H. Kim & Saxton, 2012; X. Mao et al., 2014) and all animal studies were carried out with the approval of Marshall University Animal Care and Use Committee.

3.2.2. Western Blot Analyses

Tissue lysates from the liver of TH and B6 mice (n=5 in each group) and the kidney of TH (n=3) and B6 (n=5) mice were obtained by sonication of samples in RIPA (radioimmunoprecipitation assay) buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl (Tris-hydrochloride) (pH 7.6), 150 mM NaCl (sodium chloride), 1 mM EDTA (ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid), 1 mM EGTA (ethylene glycol-bis (β-aminoethyl ether)-N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid), 1% NP40 (nonylphenoxypolyethoxylethanol), 0.1% SDS (sodium dodecyl sulfate), 0.5% DOC (sodium deoxycholate), 1 mM PMSF (phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride), and protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktails (Abcam, Cambridge, MA). Protein concentration of tissue lysates was determined using the bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay (Pierce, Rockford, USA). Protein lysates were separated by 12% SDS-PAGE (sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis), and the gels were stained with Coomassie brilliant blue to ensure equal protein loading. The lysates $(5 - 40 \mu g)$ were then separated by 12% SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Bio-Rad, Richmond, VA), stained with Ponceau S to check for equal protein loading, and blocked with Tris-buffered saline (TBS) containing 0.05% Tween-20 (TBST), 5% (w/v) dry skim milk powder, and 1% BSA (bovine serum albumin). Membranes were incubated with primary antibodies overnight against the following proteins: OXPHOS cocktail from Mitosciences (Eugene, OR); ATP6 and COII from Abcam (Cambridge, MA); COI, NDUFS2, NRF-1, TFAM, and citrate synthase from Santa Cruz (Dallas, TX); SDHA from Novus Biologicals (Littleton, CO); GAPDH (glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase) from Fitzgerald Industries International Inc. (Acton, MA); PDH, PEPCK, and PDHK1 from Cell Signaling Technology (Danvers, MA); MRPS29 and HSP60 from BD Biosciences (San Jose, CA); MRPL11 and MRPS18-B from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO); DARS2 from Proteintech

(Rosemont, IL); and MRPL15 and EF-Tu were a kind gift from Dr. Linda Spremulli. The protein immunoreactivity was detected using the ECL chemiluminescent kit from Amersham (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Marlborough, MA), and the membranes were developed per the manufacturer's protocol. UN-Scan-It (Silk Scientific, Inc, Orem, UT) and ImageJ (Schneider, Rasband, & Eliceiri, 2012) were used to quantify the protein band intensities detected by Western blot analyses. The quantified values were normalized to the protein loading determined by Ponceau S staining and GAPDH probing of each membrane. The expression of each protein was quantified from each mouse sample from at least three independent experiments. The data are the mean \pm SD for each mouse strain, and the results are expressed as a percentage of B6 mice.

3.2.3. Mitochondrial Complex Activity Assays

Protein lysates used in the activity assays for mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes were prepared in a buffer containing 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.0), 250 mM sucrose, and phosphatase and protease inhibitor cocktails. For complex I and III enzymatic activity assays, liver and kidney protein lysates were further diluted in a 50 mM potassium phosphate (pH 7.5) buffer containing 1 mg/mL BSA, 1 mM potassium cyanide, and 100 μ M cytochrome c. The protein concentration was determined by using the BCA protein assay and protein amounts were normalized with Coomassie brilliant blue stained gels. The reactions were started by adding 200 μ M NADH and the combined complex I and III assay was determined spectrometrically by measuring the reduction of cytochrome c at 550 nm for 6 min. Each sample was run in triplicate (technical replicates) and each assay was run at least three times (biological replicates). The average absorbance values were calculated for both technical and biological replicates and were graphed against the time points to determine the linear range of the assay. The rate of cytochrome c reduction was then calculated by a time-dependent change in the absorbance at the selected time point for each TH and B6 sample using the formula: Rate = (Abs 1 - Abs 2) / (Time 1 - Time 2). The data are the mean \pm SD for each mouse strain and the results are presented as a percentage of B6 mice.

Briefly, liver and kidney lysates for the complex IV enzymatic activity assay were further diluted in a 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) containing 1 mM EDTA and 100 μ M reduced cytochrome c. The complex IV activity was also measured spectrometrically by monitoring the oxidation of cytochrome c at 550 nm, as previously described (Birch-Machin & Turnbull, 2001). The rate of cytochrome c oxidation was calculated as described above for the complex I and III assay.

3.2.4. Quantitative Real-time Polymerase Chain Reaction (qRT-PCR)

Total RNA was extracted from liver and kidney tissues in the presence of TRIzol (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and converted to cDNA with the high capacity cDNA reverse transcription kit using random primers (Applied Biosystems, Inc., Foster City, CA). Quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) was carried out using the PowerUp SYBR green master mix (Applied Biosystems, Inc.), and samples were run on an Applied Biosystems Step One Plus instrument. The relative expression values were calculated using the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method for both biological and technical replicates (Schmittgen & Livak, 2008). The transcript expression values were normalized to GAPDH as the control. Results were presented as a percentage of B6 mice. The following sequences were used as primers: 16S rRNA forward 5'-

TGAACGGCTAAACGAGGGTC-3' and reverse 5'-TATTCTCCGAGGTCACCCCAA-3'; ND6 forward 5'-TATATTGCCGCTACCCCAATCC-3' and reverse 5'-ATCCAGAGACTTGGGGGATCT-3'; Cyt b forward 5'-TGCATACGCCATTCTACGCT-3' and reverse 5'-TGGGTGTTCTACTGGTTGGC-3'; COI forward 5'-TCGGAGCCCCAGATATAGCA-3' and reverse 5'-TTTCCGGCTAGAGGTGGGTA-3'; ATP6 forward 5'-ATCCACACACCAAAAGGACGA-3' and reverse 5'-GGAAGTGGGCAAGTGAGCTT-3'; and GAPDH forward 5'-GGTGAAGGTCGGTGTGAACG-3' and reverse 5'-CTCGCTCCTGGAAGATGGTG-3'.

3.2.5. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 6.07. Statistically significant differences between TH and B6 mice were detected using unpaired Student's *t*-tests (2-tailed). All data are expressed as the mean \pm SD (standard deviation), unless otherwise stated.

3.3. Results

3.3.1. Mitochondrial Oxidative Phosphorylation is Impaired in TH Mice

Mitochondrial dysfunction was recognized as one of the key underlying factors in the development of T2D and identified as a contributing factor to T2D-dependent liver and renal failure (de Boer et al., 2011; El-Serag, Tran, & Everhart, 2004). In the initial characterization studies of TH mice, altered energy balance was reported (X. Mao et al., 2014). Furthermore, data mining of the whole genome sequencing analysis revealed the presence of several missense variants in the genes of nuclear-encoded OXPHOS complexes I and II, *Ndufs2* and *Sdhc*, respectively (Parkman et al., 2017). To determine changes in mitochondrial energy metabolism in this mouse model, we compared the expression and activity of mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes in the liver (Figs. 7 and 8) and kidney tissues (Figs. 12 and 13) of TH and B6 mice due to the high energy demands in these organs. We first evaluated the steady-state expression of OXPHOS complexes by Western blot analyses using antibodies raised against several subunits at varying protein amounts to determine the optimal amount for the consistent detection of

OXPHOS subunits in the liver (Fig. 7A) and kidney (Fig. 12A) of several tissues from both mouse strains. In the liver samples initially analyzed, the expression of nuclear-encoded subunits of complex I, NDUFB8 and NDUFS2, and the mitochondrial-encoded subunits of complex IV, COI and COII, was significantly lower at varying protein amounts in TH mice (Figs. 7A and 9). The consistent detection of diminished OXPHOS subunit expression was observed at 15 μ g (Fig. 7A) with significantly decreased expressions of NDUFB8, NDUFS2, COI, and COII by approximately 55%, 40%, 60%, and 30%, respectively (Fig. 7A, bottom panel). Therefore, the remainder of the liver samples were run at this optimal protein amount. Similar to Fig. 7A, significant reductions were observed in the expression of NDUFB8 and NDUFS2 by approximately 40% and 35%, respectively, in the liver of TH mice (Fig. 7B, P = 0.0002 and P =0.0001). The mitochondrial-encoded subunits of complex IV, COI and COII, were also decreased by 45% and 55%, respectively (Fig. 7B, P = 0.001). On the other hand, the expression of complex II subunits, SDHA and SDHB (P = 0.4303 and P = 0.3027), complex III subunit, UQCRC2 (P = 0.1881), and complex V subunits, ATP5A and ATP6 (P = 0.1790 and P =0.2233), was comparable between the two mouse strains (Figs. 7B and 10A). The changes in expression of OXPHOS complex subunits were normalized to the Ponceau S staining and GAPDH probing of the membranes (Figs. 7 and 10B). To determine the effect of the impaired NDUFB8, NDUFS2, COI, and COII expressions on oxidative phosphorylation activity and energy metabolism, we performed complex I and III and complex IV enzymatic activity assays. As shown in Fig. 8A, the complex I and III enzymatic activity was significantly decreased by about 42% (P = 0.0001) in TH mice. Furthermore, a reduction of 25% (P = 0.0003) was clearly observed in the activity of complex IV (Fig. 8B). An example of the calculation used to determine the difference in enzymatic activities of OXPHOS complexes is described in the

Materials and Methods and demonstrated in Fig. 11. The diminished activity of OXPHOS complexes I, III, and IV coincided with the significantly lower expression of the NDUFB8, NDUFS2, COI, and COII subunits in the TH mice liver.



Figure 7. Mitochondrial OXPHOS is impaired in TH mice liver. A) To determine the linear response range of the antibodies, the expression of OXPHOS subunits NDUFB8 and NDUFS2 (complex I), SDHA and SDHB (complex II), UQCRC2 (complex III), COI and COII (complex IV), and ATP5A and ATP6 (complex V) was detected at varying protein amounts by Western blot analyses of TH and B6 mice liver lysates (n=2 in each group). The average quantitative analyses of the protein bands (15 µg) by densitometry are shown in the bottom panel. **B**) The expression of OXPHOS complexes in TH and B6 mice liver (n=4 in each group). The graph (bottom panel) represents the average quantitative analyses of the OXPHOS complex subunits with significant changes from each mouse strain at the optimal protein amount determined in A. The mitochondrialencoded subunits COI, COII, and ATP6 are marked by arrows. Approximately $5 - 30 \mu g$ of protein lysate was separated by 12% SDS-PAGE and equal protein loading was evaluated by Ponceau S staining and GAPDH probing of the membranes. Results represent the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments for each mouse strain and are presented as a percentage of B6 mice. Significant difference was observed between B6 and TH mice using an unpaired Student's *t*-test (2-tailed), *P < 0.05.

Α











в

Α



Figure 10. Mitochondrial OXPHOS complex expression in the liver of TH mice. A)

Quantitation of OXPHOS complex expression in the liver of TH and B6 mice, shown in Fig. 7B. Results are represented as the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments and presented as a percentage of B6 mice. The unpaired Student's *t*-test (2-tailed) was performed for statistical analysis, and no significant difference was observed in these OXPHOS subunits between the two mouse strains. **B**) Whole Western blots and the corresponding Ponceau S membrane stains for antibodies that show significant changes in the expression between TH and B6 mice. Protein bands for COI and COII are indicated by arrows. See Figure 7 legend for details.





Figure 11. Sample calculation for complex I and III enzymatic activity assays. A) Absorbance values of cytochrome c reduction measured at 550 nm over six min. The values listed are from the control (without lysate), one TH, and one B6 mouse liver sample run two times each. The absorbance values for each mouse strain were averaged together and the percent difference was calculated. **B**) The plot represents the average TH and B6 absorbance values graphed against each time point. The time point used to calculate the percent difference is shown in the black box and bolded. **C**) The graph represents the mean \pm SD of the percent change at the third (3) timepoint between the TH and B6 mice. This process was repeated for each TH and B6 mouse sample in both the liver and the kidney, and each assay was run at least three times. The samples were normalized to the control without lysate per assay. This normalization and calculations were performed for both the liver and kidney tissues on every mouse sample for both complex I and III and complex IV activity assays.

Similar to the results obtained with liver tissues, the biggest difference between TH and B6 mice kidney samples was observed in the expression of OXPHOS complexes I and IV (Figs. 12A and 12B). As shown in Figs. 12A and 14, the expression of NDUFB8, NDUFS2, COI, and COII were significantly lower at varying protein amounts in the TH kidney, with the optimal and consistent detection at 15 μ g, similar to the liver lysates. Reductions of approximately 25% and 30% were detected in the expression of nuclear-encoded NDUFB8 and NDUFS2 subunits, respectively (P = 0.0014 and P = 0.0009), followed by a 40% decrease in the expression of mitochondrial-encoded complex IV subunits, COI and COII (P = 0.001 and P = 0.0008), in TH mice kidney (Figs. 12B). The expression of complex II and III subunits was comparable in the kidney of TH and B6 mice (Fig. 12B, P = 0.2609 and P = 0.9736 and Fig. 15A). The nuclearencoded subunit of complex V, ATP5A, also had a similar expression between the two mouse strains (P = 0.5741); however, the expression of the mitochondrial-encoded subunit of complex V, ATP6, was slightly lower in the TH mice kidney samples although not significant (Fig. 12B, P = 0.2464 and Fig. 15A). The changes observed in the expression of OXPHOS complex subunits were normalized to both the Ponceau S membrane staining and the expression of GAPDH (Figs. 12 and 15B). We also performed OXPHOS complex activity assays to determine the effect of the lower expression of OXPHOS complexes I and IV on oxidative phosphorylation function in the kidney of these mice. Significant decreases of roughly 30% (P = 0.0113) and 27% (P = 0.0005) were observed in the activities of complexes I and III (Fig. 13A) and complex IV (Fig. 13B), respectively, in the TH mice compared to the B6 mice. These diminished activities of OXPHOS complexes were associated with the reduced expression of their subunits. Together, our findings show significant decreases in oxidative phosphorylation complex expression and

activity which implies mitochondrial energy metabolism is impaired in both the liver and the kidney of TH mice.



Figure 12. Mitochondrial OXPHOS is reduced in TH mice kidney. A) The expression of OXPHOS subunits in TH and B6 kidney tissue lysates (n=2 in each group) was evaluated at various protein amounts by Western blot analyses and Ponceau S staining. The average quantitative analyses by densitometry of OXPHOS subunits using 15 µg total protein lysate is shown in the bottom panel. **B**) Western blots of the OXPHOS subunit expression in TH (n=3) and B6 (n=4) mice kidney lysates. The graph in the bottom panel represents the average quantitative analysis of OXPHOS subunits with significant changes at the optimal protein amount determined in A. The expression of mitochondrial-encoded subunits COI, COII, and ATP6 are marked by arrows. Results represent the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments for each mouse strain and are presented as a percentage of B6 mice. Significant difference was observed between the mouse strains using unpaired Student's t-tests (2-tailed), *P < 0.05. See Figure 7 legend for details.







Figure 14. Expression of mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes I and IV is diminished at various protein concentrations in TH mice kidney. A) Quantitation of OXPHOS complex subunits of complex I, NDUFB8 and NDUFS2, and complex IV, COI and COII, at 5 μ g and 10 μ g (B) in the kidney of TH and B6 mice, Western blots shown in Fig. 12A. Results are represented as mean \pm SD of at least three experiments and presented as a percentage of B6 mice. Statistical significance was measured by the unpaired Student's t-test (2-tailed), *P < 0.05. See Fig. 12 legend for details.



Figure 15. Expression of mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes in the kidney of TH mice. A) Quantitation of OXPHOS complex expression in the kidney of TH and B6 mice, shown in Fig. 12B. Results are represented as mean ± SD of at least three experiments and are presented as a percentage of B6 mice. The unpaired Student's *t*-test (2-tailed) was performed for statistical analysis, and no significant difference was observed in these OXPHOS subunits between the two mouse strains. **B**) The full Western blots and their corresponding Ponceau S stained membranes are shown for each OXPHOS subunit with significant changes in expression. The arrows indicate the COI, COII, and NDUFS2 protein bands for the TH and B6 mice kidney samples. See Fig. 12 legend for details.

3.3.2. Citrate Synthase Expression is Elevated in TH Mice

Above, we demonstrated that oxidative phosphorylation is significantly impaired in TH mice (Figs. 7-13). To further evaluate this decrease, we assessed the expression of several crucial metabolic enzymes that control OXPHOS by regulating the citric acid cycle (CAC) and gluconeogenesis, including citrate synthase (CS), pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH), pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 (PDHK1), and mitochondrial phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (mtPEPCK). Interestingly, the expression of CS was increased by approximately 20-25% in the liver (Fig. 16A) and kidney (Fig. 16B) of TH mice. CS is one of the major checkpoints for the CAC and the increase in its expression suggests that the CAC activity is elevated in TH mice. Since CS expression is higher, we further analyzed other metabolic pathways that converge onto the CAC cycle. The expression of mtPEPCK, an enzyme that regulates the rate-controlling step of gluconeogenesis is comparable between the TH and B6 mice in the liver (Fig. 16A) but has a slight increase in expression in the kidney (Fig. 16B) of TH mice indicating that gluconeogenesis may be slightly higher. Little difference was observed in the expression of PDH and PDHK1, two critical enzymes involved in the regulation of pyruvate metabolism, in TH mice liver (Fig. 16A) and kidney (Fig. 16B) mitochondria. These findings imply that pyruvate metabolism and gluconeogenesis functions are comparable in both tissues of the two mouse strains and are not largely responsible for the increase in CS expression. Our results suggest that the lower oxidative metabolism in TH mice is not caused by diminished activities of other metabolic pathways that regulate OXPHOS complexes. Rather, the decrease is due to the reduced expression of OXPHOS complexes I and IV, possibly by a defect in nuclear and mitochondrial protein synthesis.



Figure 16. Citrate synthase is increased in TH mice liver and kidney. A) The expression of various crucial metabolic enzymes involved in the citric acid cycle and gluconeogenesis, including citrate synthase (CS), pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH), pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1 (PDHK1), and mitochondrial phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (mtPEPCK), was assessed in TH and B6 mice liver and kidney (**B**) by Western blot analyses. The quantitative analyses of metabolic enzymes by densitometry were normalized to the expression of GAPDH and Ponceau S stained membranes (bottom panels) as equal loading controls. Results are expressed as the mean \pm SD for each mouse strain and presented as a percentage of B6 mice. Unpaired Student's *t*-tests (2-tailed) were performed to for statistical analyses and no significant difference was observed between TH and B6 mice.

3.3.3. Mitochondrial Transcription Machinery and Translation Components Remain Unaltered in TH mice

In mammals, OXPHOS complexes are encoded by approximately 85 nuclear and 13 mitochondrial genes. Mitochondrial biogenesis, mainly via transcription and translation of these genes, is essential for energy generation by oxidative phosphorylation. We observed a diminished protein expression of OXPHOS subunits NDUFB8, NDUFS2, COI, and COII in the liver and kidney of TH mice (Figs. 7 and 12). Since COI and COII are two of the 13 crucial mitochondrial-encoded subunits, we performed quantitative RT-PCR analyses on several mitochondrial-encoded transcripts to determine if a defect is present in the expression of mitochondrial genes in TH mice. Despite a lower protein expression of COI in the liver (Fig. 7) and kidney (Fig. 12) of TH mice, the mRNA expression of COI was comparable in both tissues between the two mouse strains (Figs. 17A and 18A). Furthermore, minor reductions were observed in the mRNA expression of mitochondrial-encoded 16S rRNA and OXPHOS subunits ND6 (complex I), cyt b (complex III), and ATP6 (complex V) between the TH and B6 mice liver (Fig. 19A) and kidney (Fig. 18A). To further evaluate this slight reduction, we performed Western blot analyses to assess the protein expression of two major transcription factors responsible for the synthesis of both mitochondrial- and nuclear-encoded proteins. The expression of mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM) and NRF-1 was comparable between TH and B6 mice in both the liver (Fig. 17B) and kidney (Fig. 18B). These results suggest that changes in the expression of mitochondrial transcription factors is not responsible for the slight reduction observed in the mitochondrial-encoded transcripts and further implies that there is no defect in the mitochondrial transcription of TH mice.

The minor differences found in the expression of mitochondrial-encoded rRNA/mRNA transcripts without changes in the expression of transcription factors, prompted us to analyze two essential mitochondrial translation factors, EF-Tu and DARS2, and ribosomal proteins that are responsible for the synthesis of the 13 mitochondrial-encoded proteins of the OXPHOS complexes in TH and B6 mice. Although EF-Tu has been associated with insulin signaling and the obesity phenotype (Greene et al., 2014; Mercader et al., 2012), the expression of EF-Tu in the obesity and insulin resistant TH mouse model is comparable to the B6 mice in both the liver (Fig. 17C) and kidney (Fig. 18C) tissues. In the whole genome sequencing analysis of TH mice, mitochondrial aspartyl-tRNA synthetase, DARS2, was shown to have a C370R mutation. Although this variant introduces a positively charged residue into the protein sequence in a highly conserved region, the difference in the expression of the mitochondrial DARS2, was negligible between the two mouse strains in both the liver and kidney (Figs. 17C and 18C, respectively). Interestingly, this C370R variant is also found in Myotis lucifugus (little brown bat) and *Equus caballus* (horse) sequences. Thus, the defect we observed in mitochondrial translation, indicated by the significantly diminished expression of mitochondrial-encoded COI and COII without changes in transcription, could not be exclusively dependent on the DARS2 variant.



Figure 17. Mitochondrial transcription and translation are comparable between TH and B6 mice liver. **A)** Relative changes in mitochondrial transcripts, including 16S rRNA (39S subunit), ND6 (complex I), cyt b (complex III), COI (complex IV), and ATP6 (complex V) were determined by quantitative RT-PCR and reported as fold changes with respect to GAPDH mRNA expression in the liver of TH and B6 mice. Results represent the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments for each mouse strain. Unpaired Student's *t*-tests (2-tailed) were performed for statistical analyses and no significant difference was shown between TH and B6 mice. **B**) Expression of mitochondrial transcription factors, TFAM and NRF-1, and translation factors, EF-Tu and DARS2 (**C**), were evaluated in the liver of both mouse strains by Western blot analyses. Equal protein loading was determined by Ponceau S staining and probing membranes with mitochondrial matrix marker, HSP60.



Figure 18. Mitochondrial transcription and translation are unaltered in TH mice kidney. A) Relative changes in 16S rRNA and mitochondrial-encoded mRNA expression were determined by quantitative RT-PCR in the kidney of TH and B6 mice and reported as fold changes with respect to GAPDH mRNA expression as a control. Results represent the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments for each mouse strain. B) The expression of mitochondrial transcription and translation (C) factors were evaluated in TH and B6 mice kidney by Western blot analyses. See Figure 17 legend for details.

3.3.4. Expression of Mitochondrial Ribosomal Proteins are Comparable

Mitochondrial ribosomes, 55S, are composed of small (28S) and large (39S) subunits with two mitochondrial encoded rRNAs, 12S and 16S, respectively, and approximately 80 nuclear-encoded ribosomal proteins (E. C. Koc et al., 2013). These MRPs are essential to the synthesis of the 13 mitochondrial-encoded subunits of OXPHOS complexes in mammals. To identify changes in MRPs that could contribute to the impaired protein synthesis in TH mice, we analyzed several MRPs in both the 28S (MRPS18B and MRPS29) and 39S (MRPL11 and MRPL15) ribosomal subunits by Western blot analyses (Fig. 19). The expression of the majority of the MRPs analyzed, MRPS18B, MRPL11, and MRPL15, were comparable between the TH and B6 mice in both tissues (Figs. 19A and 19B) relative to GAPDH as a loading control. Surprisingly, the expression of MRPS29 was approximately 20% lower in the TH mice in both the liver (Fig. 19A) and kidney (Fig. 19B); however, the decrease was not statistically significant (P = 0.0628 and P = 0.0558).

The slight reduction observed in the expression of MRPS29 encouraged us to search for MRP variants in the whole genome sequence database previously published (Denvir et al., 2016), which is archived at the Sequence Read Archive (SRA) at the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) via accession number SRP067703. Our data mining revealed the presence of 16 sequence variants in 11 MRPs in TH mice (Table 3). To predict the amino acid substitution on MRP function, the 'Sorting Intolerant From Tolerant' (SIFT) scores were calculated (Table 3). The majority of the SIFT scores for the MRP sequence variants identified were greater than 0.05, indicating that the variants were tolerated (Zerbino et al., 2018). The majority of significant amino acid replacements were found at the N-terminal signal sequences of MRPs (Table 3). One of the most remarkable variants was identified in MRPL20. The missense sequence variant found

in MRPL20 caused the loss of a stop codon (Table 3), which introduces an additional nine amino acid residues into the protein sequence. The possible effect of this insertion at the C-terminus of MRPL20 is unknown. Although the sequence variants identified in mitochondrial ribosomal proteins in TH mice were possibly ineffective in altering the protein expression of other MRPs (Figs. 19A and 19B), the variants may still interfere with the translocation of MRPs into the mitochondria and the function of the ribosome.



Figure 19. Mitochondrial ribosomal protein expression remains unchanged in TH and B6 mice. A) Relative expression of mitochondrial ribosomal proteins (MRPs) of the small (28S) and large (39S) subunits were detected in TH and B6 mice liver and kidney lysates (B) by Western blot analyses. The average quantitative analyses by densitometry of MRPs in TH and B6 mice normalized to GAPDH and Ponceau S staining is shown in the bottom panels. Results represent the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments in each mouse strain and are presented as a percentage of B6 mice. No statistical difference was shown between TH and B6 mice using unpaired Student's *t*-tests (2-tailed). See Figure 7 legend for details.

Gene	AA B6/TH	AA position	UniProtKB	SIFT score
Mitochondrial ribosomal protein mutations				
MRPL20	stop lost	97	Q9CQL4	
MRPS11	R/L	13	Q9DCA2	0.12
	L/R	70		0.06
MRPL22	A/T	4	Q8BU88	0.26
MRPL49	L/F	6	Q9CQ40	1.00
MRPL48	I/V	148	Q8JZS9	1.00
MRPS35	T/S	11	Q8BJZ4	0.37
	C/Y	216		1.00
	I/V	293		1.00
MRPL3	I/T	32	Q99N95	0.48
MRPL19	C/R	39	Q9D338	0.35
	E/Q	72		0.20
MRPL39	K/R	133	Q9JKF7	0.49
	V/A	280		0.52
MRPL55	L/F	19	Q9CZ83	0.65

Table 3. Sequence variants of mitochondrial ribosomal proteins (MRPs) in TH mice (Denvir et al., 2016).

AA: amino acid. Mitochondrial ribosomal small (MRPS) and (MRPL) subunit proteins. Sorting intolerant from tolerant (SIFT) scores are shown to predict if the amino acid substitution is deleterious (SIFT < 0.05) or tolerated/neutral (Zerbino et al., 2018).

3.4. Discussion

Obesity and T2D are two metabolic diseases that are becoming more prevalent worldwide. Recent evidence implies that mitochondrial dysfunction is an underlying defect in the development of obesity, insulin resistance, and T2D (Kelley et al., 2002; Patti et al., 2003; Petersen et al., 2003). The TH mouse has recently been developed as a polygenic model for obesity, insulin resistance, and T2D (J. H. Kim & Saxton, 2012; J. H. Kim et al., 2001). Metabolic characterization, gene mapping, and whole genome sequencing analyses of TH mice have revealed an altered energy balance (Franko et al., 2017; X. Mao et al., 2014; Parkman et al., 2017; Parkman et al., 2016); however, the mechanism is largely unknown. In this study, we evaluated mitochondrial biogenesis including the expression of mitochondrial- and nuclearencoded OXPHOS complex subunits in mitochondrial rich tissues of TH and B6 mice. Additionally, we analyzed mitochondrial energy metabolism by observing changes in oxidative phosphorylation activity. In conjunction with the whole genome sequencing information, our results allowed us to correlate the biogenesis of OXPHOS complexes with mitochondrial translation, oxidative phosphorylation, and energy metabolism in TH mice (Fig. 20).

One of our most compelling observations was the significant reduction in the expression of nuclear-encoded complex I subunits, NDUFS2 and NDUFB8, and mitochondrial-encoded complex IV subunits, COI and COII, which coincided with diminished enzymatic activities of these OXPHOS complexes in TH mice liver and kidney tissues (Figs. 7-13). Strikingly, NDUFS2 carries an R8G variant which is located within the mitochondrial targeting sequence in TH mice. This variant can interfere with the translocation of NDUFS2 into the mitochondria. In fact, NDUFS2 is one of the largest and highly conserved subunits in complex I and its mutations have resulted in the disruption of the subunit as well as an absence in the formation of the

peripheral arm of complex I (Guenebaut, Vincentelli, Mills, Weiss, & Leonard, 1997). Complex I is the major entry point into the OXPHOS complexes and plays a pivotal role in mitochondrial energy metabolism. Several mutations found in complex I subunits and assembly factors were shown to cause a variety of clinical symptoms (Ugalde, Janssen, van den Heuvel, Smeitink, & Nijtmans, 2004). For example, mutations in *NDUFA4* caused a reduction in mitochondrial function, impaired insulin release in the pancreas, and led to the development of diabetes (Yagil, Varadi-Levi, & Yagil, 2018). The diminished expression of NDUFS2 could disrupt the subunit, inhibit the assembly of the peripheral arm of complex I, impair its function, significantly lower mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation and energy metabolism, and contribute to the obesity and insulin resistant phenotypes observed in TH mice.

In addition to defects in complex I, the reduced expression of mitochondrial-encoded COI and COII and the diminished activity of complex IV were evident in TH mice. Interestingly, the expression of complex IV is required for the assembly and stability of complex I (Diaz, Fukui, Garcia, & Moraes, 2006); therefore, the diminished expression of complex IV subunits may contribute to the reduced expression of complex I observed in TH mice. Previous studies have also shown a lower expression of COI in obesity and insulin-resistant subjects (Heinonen et al., 2015; Morino et al., 2005; Perks et al., 2017). These results further implied that metabolic alterations could lead to the development of obesity-related diseases, such as T2D, and may be caused by impaired mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative phosphorylation, as demonstrated in TH mice. Mitochondrial biogenesis relies on the coordinated expression of both nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded OXPHOS subunits for energy metabolism. More significantly, complexes I and IV consist of 10 of the 13 mitochondrial-encoded essential subunits synthesized by the mitochondrial translation machinery. Thus, their expression is more susceptible to the changes in mitochondrial protein synthesis. Although we observed minor differences in the expression of mitochondrial transcription and translation factors, the reduction in the expression of COI and COII subunits indicated that mitochondrial protein synthesis is impaired in TH mice. One of the possible candidates for the defect in mitochondrial translation was the DARS2 variant, C370R, identified in TH mice. The variant introduced a positive charge into a highly conserved region of DARS2 near the tRNA binding site, which can alter aminoacylation of mttRNA^{Asp} and impair mitochondrial protein synthesis (Fig. 20). However, the presence of this variant in *M. lucifugus* and *E. caballus* DARS2 gene, demonstrated that the diminished mitochondrial protein synthesis observed in TH mice is not exclusively caused by the C370R conversion.

A negligible difference was observed in the expression of the majority of the MRPs analyzed, except a slightly lower expression of MRPS29 in TH mice. MRPS29 provides the only GTPase activity to the 28S subunit, making its expression essential for ribosome function and the regulation of mitochondrial protein synthesis (Cavdar Koc, Ranasinghe, et al., 2001; O'Brien, O'Brien, & Norman, 2005). Although the reduction observed in TH mice is not statistically significant, the decreased expression of MRPS29 can impair the ribosome assembly and function reducing protein synthesis and oxidative phosphorylation activity. The probability of defects in mitochondrial translation machinery compelled us to search for sequence variants in translation factors and MRPs in the whole genome sequence database of TH mice. The sequence variants found in 11 MRPs of TH mice were not predicted to be deleterious based on the SIFT scores (> 0.05) (Table 3). In fact, the majority of the variants were either at the less conserved N-terminus of the MRPs or the amino acid substitutions were conservative replacements with similar amino acid residues (Table 3). The variants at the N-terminus could interfere with the translocation of
MRPs into the mitochondria, which may impair the assembly and function of the mitochondrial ribosome and inhibit protein synthesis. Perhaps the most compelling variant found in TH mice was in MRPL20. The loss of the stop codon and the nine residue extension of MRPL20 may alter the folding, structure, and/or activity of the protein, in addition to its ability to interact with other MRPs in the mitochondrial ribosome. Moreover, these extra residues make MRPL20 a viable candidate for the defect found in mitochondrial protein synthesis contributing to impaired mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative phosphorylation in TH mice.



Figure 20. A schematic synopsis of OXPHOS and mitochondrial translation component variants found in TH mice. Mammalian mitochondria have a ~16.5 kb circular genome (mtDNA) that encodes two rRNAs, 22 tRNAs, and 13 mRNAs (nine monocistronic and two dicistronic). The mammalian mitochondrial 55S ribosome (28S and 39S subunits), are responsible for the synthesis of the 13 mitochondrial-encoded subunits of complexes I, III, IV, and ATP synthase (complex V). The expression of mitochondrial-encoded subunits COI, COII, and ATP6 detected in TH mice are bolded. The expression of nuclear-encoded mitochondrial OXPHOS complex subunits NDUFB8 and NDUFS2 (complex I), SDHA, SDHB, and SDHC (complex II), UQCRC2 (complex III), ATP5A (complex V) were also detected in TH mice. The expression of nuclearencoded NDUFB8 and NDUFS2 and mitochondrial-encoded COI and COII were lower in TH mice, indicated by red arrows. Missense variants found in OXPHOS complexes, MRPs, and mitochondrial aspartyl-tRNA synthetase 2 (DARS2) in TH mice are shown by asterisks (*). Bovine mtEF-Tu (PDB #1XB2) and E. coli aminoacyl-tRNA^{Cys} (PDB #IB23) were modeled to demonstrate the interaction of tRNA with mtEF-Tu and shown in violet and blue, respectively. The bovine 55S mammalian ribosome (PDB #3J9M) was also modeled and shown in light purple, with the mitochondrial rRNAs highlighted in green.

3.5. Conclusions

In summary, our data clearly demonstrated a significant impairment of mitochondrial energy metabolism, observed through a significant reduction in oxidative phosphorylation in TH mice. The sequence variants discussed in this study may be contributing factors to the diminished mitochondrial biogenesis by inhibiting protein synthesis in TH mice. Further studies need to be performed to determine the contribution of mitochondrial defects to the development of obesity, insulin resistance, and T2D in this animal model.

3.6. Conflict of Interests

The authors declare they have no conflict of interest.

3.7. Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Dr. Linda Spremulli, UNC Chapel Hill for the EF-Tu antibody. We would like to acknowledge the Genomics and Bioinformatics Core (GABC) Facility at Joan C. Edwards School of Medicine, Marshall University for help with sequencing data. We also gratefully acknowledge Biomedical Sciences Department at Joan C. Edwards School of Medicine, Marshall University for its support.

3.8. Funding

This work was partly supported by National Institutes of Health [GM071034 to ECK] and NASA WV Space Grant Consortium issued by NASA Goddard Space Flight Center [NNG05GF80H]. The GABC is supported by the WV-INBRE [P20GM103434], WV-CTSI [2U54GM104942], and the COBRE ACCORD [1P20GM121299] grants. JHK is funded by NIH [1 R15 DK113604-01A1] and American Heart Association [18AIREA33960437].

CHAPTER 4

C-SRC KINASE IMPAIRS THE EXPRESSION OF MITOCHONDRIAL OXPHOS COMPLEXES IN LIVER CANCER

A manuscript published in Cellular Signaling.

Hunter CA, Koc H, Koc EC. (2020) c-Src kinase impairs the expression of mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes in liver cancer. *Cell Signal*, 72, p. 109651. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2020.109651. Epub 2020 April 23.

Reprinting for dissertation is a part of the author's rights and permission is not required from Elsevier the copyright holder.

Caroline A. Hunter¹, Hasan Koc², and Emine C. Koc¹*

¹Department of Biomedical Sciences, Joan C. Edwards School of Medicine, Marshall University, Huntington, WV, 25755, United States.

²Department of Pharmacological Science and Research, School of Pharmacy, Marshall University, Huntington, WV, 25755, United States.

*To whom correspondence should be addressed: Emine C. Koc, Tel: +1-304-696-3680; Fax: +1-304-696-7207; Email: koce@marshall.edu. Correspondence may also be addressed to H.K. at kocha@marshall.edu.

Abstract

Src family kinases (SFKs) play a crucial role in the regulation of multiple cellular pathways, including mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS). Aberrant activities of one of the most predominant SFKs, c-Src, was identified as a fundamental cause for dysfunctional cell signaling and implicated in cancer development and metastasis, especially in human hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). However, the role of c-Src in mitochondrial energy metabolism in liver cancer remains to be elucidated. In this study, we investigated the effect of c-Src expression on mitochondrial energy metabolism by examining changes in the expression and activities of OXPHOS complexes in liver cancer biopsies and cell lines. An increased expression of c-Src was correlated with an impaired expression of nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded subunits of OXPHOS complexes I and IV, respectively, in metastatic biopsies and cell lines. Additionally, we observed a similar association between high c-Src and reduced OXPHOS complex expression and activity in mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) cell lines. Interestingly, the inhibition of c-Src kinase activity with the SFK inhibitor PP2 and c-Src siRNA stimulated the expression of complex I and IV subunits and increased their enzymatic activities in both cancer and normal cells. Evidence provided in this study reveals that c-Src impairs the expression and function of mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes, resulting in a significant defect in mitochondrial energy metabolism, which can be a contributing factor to the development and progression of liver cancer. Furthermore, our findings strongly suggest that SFK inhibitors should be used in the treatment of HCC and other cancers with aberrant c-Src kinase activity to improve mitochondrial energy metabolism.

4.1. Introduction

Src family kinases (SFKs) are a major group of tyrosine (Tyr) kinases that are essential for the regulation of a large number of intracellular signaling pathways, including cell growth and proliferation, differentiation, motility, adhesion, cell death, and survival, in a variety of cell types (Parsons & Parsons, 2004; Thomas & Brugge, 1997). Aberrant expression of SFK members, such as c-Src, have been shown to induce malignant properties in cells, thereby establishing them as proto-oncogenes (Blume-Jensen & Hunter, 2001; Irby & Yeatman, 2002; M. P. Kim et al., 2009). In fact, the increased expression and/or activity of c-Src kinase has been observed in colorectal, ovarian, lung, breast, and liver cancer (Djeungoue-Petga et al., 2019; Irby & Yeatman, 2000; Rosen et al., 1986; Yeatman, 2004), including human hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) which is the most common type of liver cancer and one of the most malignant and metastatic cancers worldwide (Masaki et al., 1998; R. Zhao et al., 2015).

c-Src is one of the ubiquitously expressed SFK members with a high sequence homology to Yes and Fyn and, consequently, has overlapping functions in cellular pathways (E. C. Koc et al., 2016; Thomas et al., 1995). c-Src, as well as several other SFKs, Fyn, Fgr, Lyn, and Lck, are localized to the mitochondria and regulate mitochondrial pathways (Hebert-Chatelain, 2013; Salvi et al., 2002; Tibaldi et al., 2008; Vahedi et al., 2015), such as pyruvate decarboxylation (Y. Jin et al., 2016), the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle (Lewandrowski et al., 2008; Salvi et al., 2007), apoptosis (Lopez et al., 2012), and oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) (Acin-Perez et al., 2014; Augereau et al., 2005; Demory et al., 2009; Hebert-Chatelain et al., 2012; Lewandrowski et al., 2008; Miyazaki et al., 2003; Ogura et al., 2012; Salvi et al., 2007). OXPHOS is supported by four electron transfer chain complexes, complex I-IV and ATP synthase, complex V. The majority of these complexes have been shown to be Tyr

phosphorylated by SFKs; however, c-Src was identified as the kinase responsible for the phosphorylation of two nuclear-encoded subunits, NDUFB10 and NDUFV2, of complex I, SDHA of complex II, and the mitochondrial-encoded subunit, COII, of complex IV (Demory et al., 2009; Hebert-Chatelain et al., 2012; Miyazaki et al., 2003; Ogura et al., 2012). The phosphorylation of COII by c-Src kinase and the epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) were shown to regulate the activity of complex IV as well as cellular ATP synthesis in several normal and cancer cell lines (Demory et al., 2009). In addition to the alteration of OXPHOS activity by SFK phosphorylation of its complexes, our laboratory recently demonstrated the implication of Fyn with mitochondrial translation which is responsible for the synthesis of the 13 core subunits of OXPHOS complexes I, III, IV, and V (E. C. Koc et al., 2016). Although reduced mitochondrial function and c-Src activity have been implicated in promoting the Warburg effect in various cancer types (Y. Jin et al., 2016; Wallace, 2005, 2012), the role of c-Src in mitochondrial energy metabolism in liver cancer still remains to be established.

In this study, we investigated the role of c-Src on mitochondrial energy metabolism by studying the steady-state expression of OXPHOS complex subunits. We observed increased expression of c-Src in metastatic liver tumors and the metastatic liver cancer cell line, Hep3B, which was correlated with significant reductions in the expression and activity of OXPHOS complex I and IV subunits. Additionally, we observed the same association between high c-Src expression and impaired OXPHOS complex expression and activity in mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) cell lines. Interestingly, the inhibition of c-Src with the SFK inhibitor PP2 stimulated the expression of complex I and IV subunits, improved their enzymatic activities, and significantly reduced cell proliferation in both cancer and normal cell lines. The suppression of c-Src using c-Src siRNA was also shown to increase mitochondrial OXPHOS expression. Our

studies strongly indicate that c-Src impairs the expression and function of OXPHOS complexes, which can be one of the underlying factors for the development and progression of liver cancer. Furthermore, our findings provide evidence that the inhibition of SFKs with PP2 can be used as possible therapeutic strategies to inhibit cell proliferation and improve mitochondrial function and energy metabolism in liver cancers.

4.2. Materials and Methods

4.2.1. Liver Tumor Samples

Liver tissue biopsies, five cancerous and four non-cancerous, were derived from patients treated at the Pennsylvania State University Health Milton S. Hershey Medical Center. Protein lysates used in Western blot analyses were obtained by the resuspension and sonication of tissues in RIPA buffer containing 1% SDS. Lysates were then separated by 12% SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose membranes, and probed with various antibodies, as described below.

4.2.2. Cell Culture

Human liver cancer Hep3B and HepG2 cell lines and mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) cells with endogenous expression of c-Src, Yes, and Fyn (WT), MEF cells with functional null mutations in both alleles of c-Src, Yes, and Fyn kinases (SYF), MEF cells with an endogenous expression of c-Src kinase and null mutations in Yes and Fyn (Src⁺⁺), and SYF cells with a stable over expression of c-Src kinase (Src) were purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC). Monolayer cultures of each cell line were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagles Medium (DMEM) (Hyclone, Thermo-Scientific, Waltham, MA) with 4.5 g/L glucose and adjusted to contain 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Rocky Mountain Biologicals, Missoula, MT), 4 mM glutamine, 1 mM pyruvate, and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (P/S) (Corning Cellgro, Manassas, VA). The cells were grown in a humidified incubator at 37 °C with

5% CO₂. Collected cells were treated with sodium orthovanadate to preserve Tyr phosphorylation (Hebert Chatelain et al., 2011; Nishikawa et al., 2009).

Transfections of small interfering ribonucleic acids (siRNAs) were performed using Lipofectamine transfection reagent according to the manufacturer's protocols (Thermo Fisher Scientific). Partial knock down of human and mouse c-Src were performed using control and c-Src siRNAs obtained from Santa Cruz Biotechnology Inc. (Dallas, TX). The Hep3B, HepG2, WT, SYF, Src⁺⁺, and Src cell lines were also treated with the Src family kinase inhibitor PP2 (4amino-5-(4-chlorophenyl)-7-(dimethylethyl)pyrazolo[3,4-d]pyrimidine) (EMD Chemicals, Gibstown, NJ) (Hanke et al., 1996), dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), at concentrations ranging from 0 to 10 μ M. Briefly, cells were seeded at 25x10⁴ cells/mL in DMEM containing 0.2% FBS and incubated for 24 h. The media was then replaced with fresh DMEM containing 10% FBS and cells were treated with PP2 for 24 to 72 h. To measure cell proliferation, cells were grown as described above and counted using the Trypan blue exclusion assay. For reactive oxygen species (ROS) generation assays, cells were grown as described above and the amount of ROS produced by the Hep3B and HepG2 cells was measured using Amplex Red assays (Thermo Fisher Scientific) according to the manufacturer's protocol. The results for cell proliferation and ROS generation assays are represented as the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments for each group and presented as a percentage of the control cells (HepG2 cells = 100%; control cells for treatments = 100%).

4.2.3. Western Blot Analyses

Whole cell lysates obtained from liver biopsies and cell lines were lysed in RIPA buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.6), 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 1% NP40, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% DOC, 1 mM PMSF, and protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktails. Protein

concentrations were determined using the bicinchoninic protein assay (BCA) (Pierce, Rockford, USA). The protein lysates $(10 - 40 \mu g)$ were separated by 12% SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Amersham, GE Healthcare, Pittsburg, PA), stained with Ponceau S to ensure equal protein loading, blocked in a Tris-buffered saline (TBS) containing 0.05% Tween-20 (TBST), 5% (w/v) dry skim milk, and 1% BSA, and incubated with the corresponding primary antibodies overnight. Human and rodent OXPHOS complex cocktails and SDHA antibodies were purchased from Sigma Aldrigh (St. Louis, MO). Citrate synthase (CS), acylcoenzyme A oxidase 1 (ACOX1), and c-Src kinase antibodies were purchased from Santa Cruz (Dallas, TX). Phosphotyrosine (PY-100), phospho-Src family (pSFK), LDHA, and PDH antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling Technologies (Danvers, MA). The pSFK antibody detects the phosphorylation of c-Src and other family members Fyn, Lyn, Lck, Yes, and Hck at the kinase activation site Tyr416 (pTyr416) or the equivalent residue. The loading control antibody GAPDH was purchased from Fitzgerald (Acton, MA). Mitochondrial EF-Tu and TFAM antibodies were kind gifts from Dr. Linda Spremulli and Dr. Craig Cameron, respectively. The protein immunoreactivity was detected using the ECL Western blotting detection kit from Amersham (GE Healthcare, UK) and the membranes were developed per the manufacturer's protocol. The membranes were exposed to autoradiography films and band intensities were quantified using UN-Scan-It (Silk Scientific, Inc, Orem, UT) and ImageJ (Schneider, C. A., Rasband, & Eliceiri, 2012). The quantified values were normalized to the protein loading determined by Ponceau S staining and GAPDH antibody probing of the membranes. The expression of each protein was quantified from individual tissue and cell lysates from at least three independent experiments. The results represent the mean \pm SD for each

quantified sample and are expressed as a percentage of the control cells (non-cancerous liver tissues = 100%; HepG2 cells = 100%; SYF cells = 100%; control cells for treatments = 100%).

4.2.4. Mitochondrial OXPHOS Complex Enzymatic Activity Assays

Cell pellets were dissolved in a buffer containing 10 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.0), 250 mM sucrose, and phosphatase and protease inhibitor cocktails. Briefly, for the complex I and III enzymatic activity assay, cell lysates were further diluted in a 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) containing 1 mM potassium cyanide, 1 mg/mL BSA, and 100 μ M cytochrome c. Protein concentrations were determined using the BCA protein assay and protein amounts were normalized by Ponceau S staining and GAPDH antibody probing of the membranes. The reactions were started by adding 200 μ M NADH and the combined activity of complex I and III was determined spectrometrically by measuring the reduction of cytochrome c at 550 nm. The complex IV enzymatic activity protein lysates were diluted in a 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) containing 1 mM EDTA and 100 µM reduced cytochrome c. The activity of complex IV was also measured spectrometrically by monitoring cytochrome c oxidation at 550 nm, as previously described (Birch-Machin & Turnbull, 2001). The rate of cytochrome c reduction and oxidation were calculated by dividing the change in absorbance at 550 nm between two linear points by the difference in time using the formula: Rate = (Abs 1 - Abs 2) / (Time 1 - Time 2). Each sample was run in triplicate for each experiment. The data are expressed as the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments and are presented as a percentage of the control (HepG2 cells =100%; SYF cells = 100%; control for treated cells = 100%).

4.2.5. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 6.07. Statistically significant differences between non-cancerous/cancerous liver biopsies, HepG2/Hep3B cell lines, MEF

(WT/SYF//Src⁺⁺/Src) cell lines, and control/treated cells were detected using unpaired Student's *t*-tests (2-tailed), *P < 0.05. The non-cancerous tissues, HepG2, SYF, and control cells for treatments were set to 100% during statistical analyses. All data are expressed as mean \pm SD, unless otherwise described.

4.3. Results and Discussion

4.3.1. c-Src is Overexpressed in Metastatic Liver Cancers

Aberrant expression and activity of c-Src was reported in patients with HCC and was positively correlated with tumor stage and metastasis. Thus, c-Src is believed to play an important role in the malignant transformation of hepatocytes (Masaki et al., 1998; R. Zhao et al., 2015). Although c-Src has been located in the mitochondria and established as one of the major regulators of mitochondrial energy metabolism and OXPHOS in various cell lines (Salvi et al., 2002; Tibaldi et al., 2008) and has been identified as a promoter of the aggressiveness of breast cancer cells by reduced mitochondrial activity (Djeungoue-Petga et al., 2019), the effects of c-Src on the expression of OXPHOS complexes in liver cancer have yet to be determined. Therefore, a better understanding of c-Src signaling and mitochondrial energy metabolism in liver cancer is essential to improve disease prognosis and treatments. To investigate c-Src kinase in liver cancer, we examined and compared the expression of c-Src in two groups of liver biopsies, cancerous and non-cancerous (patient tissue characteristics described in Table 4), by Western blot analyses. The expression of c-Src was detected in all liver tissues with a significantly higher expression of approximately 61% in the cancerous tissues compared to the non-cancerous tissues (Fig. 21). We also assessed the activation of c-Src by observing its phosphorylation at Tyr416, which is located in the activation loop of the kinase domain and is responsible for the enzymatic activity of c-Src when phosphorylated (T. Hunter, 1987; Thomas

& Brugge, 1997). The phospho-Src family (pSFK) antibody detects the endogenous c-Src phosphorylation at Tyr416, in addition to the phosphorylation of other SFK members, Lyn, Fyn, Lck, Yes, and Hck, at equivalent activation sites. An increase in SFK phosphorylation was also detected in liver cancer biopsies with an increased phosphorylation in cancerous tissues, especially those correlated with a higher c-Src expression (Fig. 21). The SFK phosphorylation was increased in the non-cancerous tissue from patient 7; however, this increase in pSFK may be due to the detection of another active SFK member. Interestingly, the tissues with the highest expression of c-Src and pSFK were metastatic adenocarcinomas (Table 4) from patients 2, 3, and 5 (Fig. 21), implying that increased c-Src expression and activity may contribute to the metastatic state of the tumors.

Subsequently, the steady-state expression of OXPHOS complex subunits was also examined in the two tissue groups using an antibody cocktail that detects the nuclear-encoded subunits of complex I (NDUFB8), II (SDHB), III (UQCRC2), and V (ATP5A) and the mitochondrial-encoded subunit of complex IV (COII) (Fig. 21), along with an antibody for complex II (SDHA). The lysates were also probed with GAPDH antibody as a protein loading control. Compared to the non-cancerous biopsies, the expression of complex III and V subunits (UQCRC2 and ATP5A, respectively) were reduced in the cancerous tissues, while the subunits of complexes I (NDUFB8) and II (SDHA and SDHB) were significantly decreased by roughly 55%, 45%, and 25%, respectively, as shown in Fig. 21. The expression of the mitochondrialencoded complex IV subunit (COII) was also substantially decreased by approximately 35% in the cancerous liver tissues (Fig. 21). Surprisingly, the lowest expression of OXPHOS complexes was also identified in the metastatic tissues from patients 2, 3, and 5 (Fig. 21), potentially implicating impaired OXPHOS complex expression in cancer metastasis. The altered expression of both nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded OXPHOS subunits implies that there may be a possible defect in protein synthesis. Due to these findings, we investigated two factors essential to the synthesis of mitochondrial proteins. The expression of both mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM) and mitochondrial elongation factor Tu (EF-Tu) was comparable between the two tissue types, signifying that the synthesis of nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded OXPHOS subunits may be regulated by c-Src kinase. These results strongly suggest that increased c-Src expression is correlated with reduced OXPHOS subunit expression and may play a role in liver cancer.

To further examine the impaired OXPHOS complex expression observed in the cancerous liver tissues above, we analyzed the expression of several crucial metabolic enzymes that control OXPHOS by regulating pathways such as the citric acid cycle (CAC), fatty acid beta oxidation, and pyruvate metabolism, including peroxisomal acyl-coenzyme A oxidase 1 (ACOX1), citrate synthase (CS), pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH), as well as mitochondrial markers heat shock protein 60 (HSP60) and voltage-dependent anion channel (VDAC)/porin. The expression of ACOX1, the first enzyme of the fatty acid beta oxidation pathway, is significantly decreased in the cancerous tissues from patients 2, 3, and 5, indicating that fatty acid beta oxidation is reduced in these patients which possibly implies lower energy production through oxidative phosphorylation, as observed by reduced expression of OXPHOS complexes (Fig. 22). Next, we also examined the expression of citrate synthase, one of the major checkpoints for the CAC. CS expression was comparable between the cancerous and noncancerous liver tissues (Fig. 22) suggesting that the CAC activity is relatively equal between the two tissue types. Due to these findings, we further analyzed other metabolic pathways and enzymes that converge onto the CAC, such as PDH. The expression of PDH, which is a critical

enzyme involved in the regulation of pyruvate metabolism by catalyzing the conversion of pyruvate to acetyl-CoA and connecting glycolysis to the CAC and mitochondrial oxidative metabolism. The expression of PDH was higher in the cancerous tissues of patients 2, 3, and 5 (Fig. 22), implying that pyruvate metabolism is high in liver cancer tissues. Interestingly, c-Src expression, which has been shown to phosphorylate, inactivate PDH, and cause a restraint on the pyruvate flux into mitochondrial metabolism (Y. Jin et al., 2016), was increased in these cancerous liver tissues (Fig. 21). Therefore, although the expression of PDH was increased, the presence of high c-Src expression may inhibit the activity of PDH, causing these metastatic tissues to rely more on glycolysis than mitochondrial oxidative metabolism, the Warburg effect. Combined, our results suggest that c-Src may be contributing to the metabolic reprogramming of cancer tissues and inducing cancer metastasis by impairing mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation.

To ensure the reduction in the expression of OXPHOS complexes was not a result of decreased mitochondrial presence, we assessed the expression of two mitochondrial markers, VDAC/porin and HSP60. The expression of VDAC/porin, found in the mitochondrial outer membrane, was comparable between cancerous and non-cancerous tissues, implying comparable amounts of mitochondria between each liver tissue analyzed (Fig. 22). The expression of HSP60, a mitochondrial chaperone protein that is responsible for the folding and assembly of newly imported proteins in the mitochondria, is reduced (Fig. 22). Additionally, minor differences were observed in the expression of mitochondrial matrix protein, CS, between the cancerous and non-cancerous liver tissues, demonstrating that mitochondrial content was almost equal levels in both tissue types. These findings suggest that the decrease in OXPHOS complex expression was largely a result of the expression and activation of c-Src kinase.

Patient	Age	Tissue type	Metastasis	Disease state
1	18	Т	+	Adenocarcinoma
2	20	Т	+	Adenocarcinoma
3	28	Т	+	Adenocarcinoma
4	31	Т	-	Adenoma
5	43	Т	+	Adenocarcinoma
6	58	Ν	-	Benign cyst
7	36	Ν	-	Hyperplasia
8	69	Ν	-	Bilary cystadenoma
9	73	Ν	-	Macrovesicular steatosis

 Table 4. Characterization of liver tumor and non-cancerous tissues.

T: primary tumor

N: non-cancerous tissue



Figure 21. c-Src expression is increased in metastatic liver cancer tissues. The expression of OXPHOS subunits, including NDUFB8 (complex I), SDHA and SDHB (complex II), UQCRC2 (complex III), COII (complex IV), and ATP5A (complex V) were detected by Western blot analyses. The expression of c-Src kinase, mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM), and mitochondrial elongation factor Tu (EF-Tu) were also detected. Approximately 30 µg of whole cell lysates from each tissue was separated by 12% SDS-PAGE, and equal protein loading was determined by GAPDH antibody and Ponceau S staining of the membranes. The bar graphs represent the average quantitative analyses from densitometry of the expression of c-Src (top right panel) and the OXPHOS complex subunits (bottom right panel) of the two groups. Significant differences were identified in c-Src (P=0.0488), COII (P=0.0028), SDHA (P=0.0253), SDHB (P=0.0001), and NDUFB8 (P=0.0001). The data is represented as the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments for each tissue group and are presented as a percentage of the non-cancerous tissues (non-cancerous tissues = 100%) (see Table 4 for details). Significant differences were observed between the non-cancerous and cancerous tissues via unpaired Student's ttests (2-tailed), *P < 0.05.





4.3.2. c-Src is Expressed in Metastatic Liver Cancer Cell Line

The findings from the liver biopsies led us to further explore the relationship between c-Src and OXPHOS complex expression by studying their expressions in whole cell lysates from two of the most common liver cancer cell lines, Hep3B and HepG2, which are isolated from patients with primary HCC and hepatoblastoma (HB), respectively (Lopez-Terrada, Cheung, Finegold, & Knowles, 2009; Qiu et al., 2015; Slany et al., 2010). HepG2 cells express proteins that are characteristic of normal hepatocytes, while proteins expressed in Hep3B cells are involved in the induction of the epithelial mesenchymal transition (EMT) (Slany et al., 2010). Due to the increased expression of c-Src in the metastatic liver biopsies, we first assessed its expression in both cell lines. c-Src expression was clearly increased in Hep3B cells compared to almost no expression in HepG2 cells (Fig. 23A). Surprisingly, we found relatively similar SFK phosphorylation between Hep3B and HepG2 cell lines (Fig. 23A), indicating other SFK members are active in the two cell lines. Since a handful of SFKs have been located in the mitochondria (Salvi et al., 2002; Tibaldi et al., 2008), we analyzed the expression of some of these kinases. The expression of Lyn was comparable between the two cell lines (data not shown), while the expression of Lck and Fyn (data not shown) were increased in HepG2 cells, as previously described (E. C. Koc et al., 2016). Therefore, the expression of Lyn, Lck, Fyn, c-Src, and other SFKs contribute to the pSFK signal detected in Hep3B and HepG2 cells. Yet, our results clearly show c-Src expression is only found in the metastatic Hep3B cell line.

The mitochondrial localization of c-Src has been shown to increase (Arachiche et al., 2008; Ogura et al., 2012) or decrease (Demory et al., 2009; Y. Jin et al., 2016) the OXPHOS activity and expression in various cell lines. Due to our findings in the liver biopsies and the expression of c-Src in the Hep3B liver cancer cell line only, we investigated the relationship

between c-Src and changes in mitochondrial energy metabolism by observing the expression of OXPHOS subunits. Similar to what was found in the metastatic cancerous liver tissues from patients 2, 3, and 5 (Fig. 21), the subunits of complexes II, III, and V were decreased in Hep3B cells compared to HepG2 cells (Fig. 23A), with significant reductions in the expression of the nuclear-encoded subunit of complex I and the mitochondrial-encoded subunit of complex IV (NDUFB8 and COII, respectively) in Hep3B cells (Fig. 23A). Even with a lower expression of mitochondrial-encoded COII, the expression of EF-Tu and TFAM were comparable between the two cell lines (Fig. 23A). These results imply that c-Src may regulate the expression of both nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded OXPHOS subunits in liver cancer tissues and cell lines.

Next, we determined the effects of the reduced expression of NDUFB8 and COII on mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation and energy metabolism by performing complex I and III and complex IV enzymatic activity assays in both cell lines. As shown in Fig. 23B, a significant decrease of approximately 60% was observed in the complex I and III activity and a reduction of about 50% was found in the complex IV activity in Hep3B cells compared to HepG2 cells. The impaired mitochondrial enzymatic activities of complexes I and III and complex IV in Hep3B cells can be attributed to the reduction of the expression of nuclearencoded NDUFB8 and mitochondrial-encoded COII, which are two core subunits of complexes I and IV, respectively. The reduced COII expression and activity are in agreement with previous studies that demonstrate reduced complex IV activity due to the phosphorylation of COII by c-Src and EGFR (Boerner et al., 2004; Demory et al., 2009). Since reactive oxygen species (ROS) are major byproducts of oxidative phosphorylation, we examined the ROS production between Hep3B and HepG2 cell lines. ROS generation was significantly reduced in Hep3B cells, which is possibly a result of the decreased OXPHOS expression and activity found in Hep3B cells.

Although Hep3B cells have significantly lower OXPHOS function, cell proliferation was increased compared to HepG2 cells.

To further study the decrease in OXPHOS in Hep3B cells, we analyzed the expression of several metabolic enzymes that control OXPHOS. The expression of ACOX1 was increased in Hep3B cells compared to HepG2 cells, demonstrating increased fatty acid oxidation in these cells (Fig. 23C). The expression of CS, PDH, and lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHA) were decreased in Hep3B cells implying that the reduction in oxidative phosphorylation may be a result of impaired CAC and pyruvate metabolism and further suggesting that Hep3B cells may rely more on anaerobic glycolysis for energy metabolism. In fact, both PDH and LDHA have known to be phosphorylated by c-Src and induce a more metastatic phenotype in various cancers (L. Jin et al., 2017; Y. Jin et al., 2016; J. Zhang et al., 2017), similar to our observation in Hep3B cells. Reductions in the expression of these metabolic enzymes could be caused by the diminished OXPHOS subunit expression and/or activity in the Hep3B cell line. Although the expression of mitochondrial marker, HSP60, is comparable between Hep3B and HepG2 cells indicating similar mitochondrial presence in the two cell lines, mitochondrial OXPHOS is regulated by c-Src kinase expression and activity. Along with an aberrant activity of c-Src, decreased expression of OXPHOS complexes I and IV and reduced mitochondrial function have been correlated with cancer metastasis and the induction of EMT (Gaude & Frezza, 2016; Porporato et al., 2014). The expression of several EMT factors analyzed were increased in Hep3B compared to HepG2 cell lines (data not shown), confirming the metastatic state of Hep3B cells, as previously described (Qiu et al., 2015; Slany et al., 2010). Furthermore, our findings suggest that increased c-Src expression may impair OXPHOS expression and activity which could contribute to the metastatic phenotype of the Hep3B cell line.



Figure 23. c-Src is overexpressed in liver cancer cell lines. A) The expression of OXPHOS complex subunits, c-Src kinase, and mitochondrial proteins TFAM and EF-Tu were detected by Western blot analyses in Hep3B and HepG2 cell lines. Additionally, the phosphorylation of SFK members at the activation site, Tyr416 (pSFK), was also observed. Equal protein concentration was determined by GAPDH antibody expression and Ponceau S staining of the membranes. Quantification of the average expression of OXPHOS complex subunits between the two cell lines is shown in the bar graph (right panel). The results represent the mean \pm SD of at least three independent experiments. Significant difference was observed between HepG2 and Hep3B cells in OXPHOS subunits COII (P = 0.0104) and NDUFB8 (P = 0.0001). The data is presented as a percentage of HepG2 protein expression (HepG2 cells = 100%). B) HepG2 and Hep3 cells were grown for 48 h and proliferation was measured by the Trypan blue exclusion assay (cell proliferation). Combined complex I and III activity was determined by measuring the rate of cytochrome c reduction at 550 nm using equal amounts ($10 \mu g$) of whole cell lysates obtained from HepG2 and Hep3B cells. Complex IV enzymatic activity was determined by measuring the rate of cytochrome c oxidation spectrometrically at 550 nm using equal amounts of HepG2 and Hep3B whole cell lysates. ROS generation was assessed with the Amplex Red assay using equal concentrations of HepG2 and Hep3B cell lysates. Significant differences were observed between Hep3B and HepG2 cells in complex I and III activity (P = 0.0001), complex IV activity (P = 0.0139), cell proliferation (P = 0.013), and ROS generation (P = 0.0002). C) The expression of metabolic enzymes peroxisomal acyl-coenzyme A oxidase 1 (ACOX1), citrate synthase (CS), pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH), lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHA), and heat shock protein 60 (HSP60) were detected by Western blot analyses of HepG2 and Hep3B cell lines. See Fig. 21 legend for details. Values are presented as mean \pm SD for at least three experiments and presented as a percentage of HepG2 (HepG2 = 100%). Significant differences were observed between Hep3B and HepG2 cells via unpaired student's t-test (2tailed) with Welch's correction, *P < 0.05.

4.3.3. Inhibition of c-Src Stimulates the Expression of OXPHOS Subunits

Our data provide strong evidence that c-Src expression is associated with impaired OXPHOS complex expression and activity in liver cancer cells. Since aberrant expression of c-Src was shown in metastatic liver cancer tissues and cell lines (Figs. 21 and 23) and has been correlated with cancer metastasis, recurrence, adverse prognosis, and resistance to therapies (Yeatman, 2004; S. Zhang et al., 2011; R. Zhao et al., 2015), we investigated c-Src kinase as a potential target for liver cancer therapies by treating Hep3B and HepG2 cell lines with the selective SFK inhibitor PP2 at concentrations ranging from $0 - 10 \,\mu$ M for 72 h and investigated the steady-state expression of OXPHOS complex subunits. PP2 is a membrane-permeable inhibitor that blocks the ATP binding site of c-Src and prevents activation without altering its expression (Hanke et al., 1996; Hebert-Chatelain, 2013).

We first determined the effect of PP2 treatments on c-Src kinase in Hep3B cells and observed a substantial decrease of approximately 40% in phosphorylation at Tyr416 (pSFK) using the pSFK and the phospho-Tyr antibody, along with a reduction in the overall Tyr phosphorylation at PP2 concentrations ranging from 0 to 5 μ M (Fig. 24A). Although SFK phosphorylation was lower, minor differences in the expression of c-Src were observed in the presence of PP2 (Fig. 24A). Interestingly, the suppression of c-Src kinase stimulated the expression of nuclear-encoded NDUFB8 and mitochondrial-encoded COII in a concentration-dependent manner, with a significant increase of approximately 50% in their expression at 5 μ M PP2, as shown in Fig. 24A. However, minor changes were found in most of the nuclear-encoded OXPHOS complex subunits, SDHB, UQCRC2, and ATP5A in the presence of PP2 (Fig. 24A). Despite the higher expression of COII and NDUFB8, the expression of EF-Tu and TFAM were comparable between the treated and control cells (Fig. 24A), demonstrating that the increase

expression of OXPHOS subunits may be a result of c-Src inhibition and decreased Tyr phosphorylation. To determine if the increases in the expression of NDUFB8 and COII altered the function of complexes I and IV, respectively, we performed complex I and III and complex IV enzymatic activity assays. Significant increases were measured in the complex I and III activity of Hep3B cells treated with 2.5 and 5 μ M PP2 (Fig. 24B). Similar increases were found in the complex IV activity of PP2 treated Hep3B cells (Fig. 24B). Additionally, the proliferation of Hep3B cells was decreased by approximately 65% and 80% at 2.5 and 5 μ M PP2, respectively (Fig. 24B). The results of these studies demonstrated that the inhibition of c-Src kinase by PP2 stimulated OXPHOS complex expression which may be therapeutically beneficial to increase mitochondrial energy metabolism and possibly contribute to the decrease in cell proliferation.

In addition to Hep3B cells, we treated the HepG2 cell line with PP2 at concentrations ranging from 0 to 10 µM for 72 h. Minor differences were found in the expression of OXPHOS complex subunits in HepG2 treated cells compared to the control cells (Fig. 25). Yet, we showed a clear reduction in the proliferation of HepG2 cells, which was associated with reduced SFK phosphorylation at increasing concentrations of PP2 (data not shown). Although PP2 treatments reduced cell proliferation in both Hep3B and HepG2 cell lines by suppressing phosphorylation at Tyr416, the increase in OXPHOS complex subunits COII and NDUFB8 were only observed in Hep3B cells. These findings strongly imply that c-Src impairs OXPHOS expression, which can be alleviated when c-Src activity is suppressed.

As shown in Fig. 24C, siRNA mediated knock down of c-Src kinase reduced c-Src expression and activity relative to the cells transfected with control siRNA in Hep3B cells. The expression of NDUFB8 and COII of complexes I and IV, respectively, were slightly increased by approximately 40% in cells transfected with c-Src siRNA (Fig. 24C). The expression of SDHB

and UQCRC2, of complexes II and III, respectively, were also increased; however, the expression of ATP5A of complex V remained unchanged (Fig. 24C). Minor differences were observed in the expression of TFAM and EF-Tu (data not shown), implying that the increase found in the expression of OXPHOS complexes may be a result of the suppression of c-Src. The increase in the expression of NDUFB8 and COII in Hep3B cells transfected with c-Src siRNA is similar to what was observed in PP2 treated Hep3B cells (Fig. 24A). These findings provide further evidence that c-Src inhibition stimulates OXPHOS expression and increases mitochondrial energy metabolism. Therefore, c-Src should be closely evaluated as a therapeutic agent for cancers with increased c-Src expression and activity.



Figure 24. Inhibition of c-Src increases OXPHOS expression in the Hep3B cell line. A) Hep3B cells were treated with $0-5 \,\mu\text{M}$ Src family kinase (SFK) inhibitor PP2 for 72 h before collection. Changes in the expression of OXPHOS complex subunits, c-Src, pSFK, Tyr phosphorylation (pTyr), EF-Tu, and TFAM were measured by Western blot analyses with respect to GAPDH antibody probing and Ponceau S staining of the membranes as equal protein loading controls. The phosphorylation of SFK members (pSFK) was detected by the pTyr antibody, indicated by an arrow, as well as the pSFK antibody that detects phosphorylation at Tyr416. The quantitative analyses of the expression of OXPHOS subunits are represented as mean \pm SD of at least three experiments for each group (bar graph, right panel). Significant differences were observed in the expression of COII (P = 0.0091) and NDUFB8 (P = 0.024) at 5 μ M PP2. B) Cell proliferation of PP2 treated Hep3B cells were measured with the Trypan blue exclusion assays after 72 h treatment. Statistical difference was shown between the control and 2.5 μ M (P = 0.001) and 5 μ M (P = 0.0001) PP2. Complex I and III and complex IV activities were measured by determining the rates of cytochrome c reduction and oxidation, respectively, at 550 nm. Significant differences were observed in the complex I and III activity at 2.5 μ M (P = 0.0122) and 5 μ M (P = 0.0006) PP2 and complex IV activity at 2.5 μ M (P = 0.0002) and 5 μ M (P = 0.0001) PP2. C) Western blot analyses were used to identify changes in Hep3B cells transfected with with c-Src siRNA (c-Src) relative to control siRNA (cont). The quantitative analyses of OXPHOS expression are represented as the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments for each group (bar graph, right panel). Significant differences were observed in the expression of COII (P = 0.0397) and NDUFB8 (P = 0.0022) between the control and c-Src siRNA transfected Hep3B cells. Data represents the mean ± SD of at least three independent experiments. The results are presented as a percentage of the control cells (cont = 100%). Statistical difference was observed between the control and treatment groups via unpaired Student's t-test (2-tailed), *P < 0.05.



Figure 25. PP2 treatments of HepG2 cells reduce cell proliferation without altering OXPHOS expression. HepG2 cells were treated with $0 - 10 \,\mu$ M PP2 for 72 h before collection. Expression of OXPHOS complex subunits, including NDUF8 (complex I), SDHA and SDHB (complex II), UQCRC2 (complex III), COII (complex IV), and ATP5A (complex V) were detected by Western blot analyses. Approximately 30 μ g of protein lysates from HepG2 cells treated with PP2 were separated by 12% SDS-PAGE and equal protein loading was assessed by Ponceau S staining and GAPDH antibody probing of the membranes.

4.3.4. c-Src Expression Impairs the Expression of OXPHOS Complexes

Above, we clearly showed increased c-Src expression was associated with impaired OXPHOS expression and activity, especially complexes I and IV, in metastatic liver cancer tissues and cell lines which was alleviated when c-Src activity was suppressed. Our findings imply that c-Src kinase regulates mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation by altering the expression and activity of its complexes. To further examine the functional significance of c-Src on mitochondrial energy metabolism, we investigated changes in the expression of OXPHOS complexes in more homogenous cellular system. For this purpose, we used the mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) cell line (WT cells), MEF cells with functional null mutations in both alleles of c-Src, Yes, and Fyn (SYF cells), MEF cells with an endogenous expression of wild-type c-Src and null mutations in Yes and Fyn (Src++ cells), and SYF cells with a stable over expression of wild-type c-Src kinase (Src cells). Detection of c-Src expression by Western blot analyses in all four cell lines revealed varying expression of c-Src in WT, Src⁺⁺ and Src cells (Fig. 26A) compared to its complete knock down in SYF cells. The pSFK level was significantly higher in Src⁺⁺ and Src cells compared to SYF cells with the highest phosphorylation in WT cells (Fig. 26A). The phosphorylation of Tyr416 in WT cells could be a result of the activation of c-Src as well as Yes, Fyn, and other SFKs expressed in WT cells. The levels of pSFK detection in WT, Src⁺⁺, and Src cell lines can also be correlated to the level of Tyr phosphorylation in these cell lines (Fig. 27) confirming both c-Src expression and activity in Src⁺⁺, Src, and WT cells compared to SYF cells.

We assessed the steady-state expression of OXPHOS subunits in the four cell lines using an OXPHOS antibody cocktail that detects subunits from nuclear-encoded complex I (NDUFB8), II (SDHB), III (UQCRC2), V (ATP5A), and the mitochondrial-encoded complex IV

(COI) (Fig. 26A). Significant reductions were observed in the expression of the nuclear-encoded complex I (NDUFB8) and mitochondrial-encoded complex IV (COI) subunits with increasing c-Src expression in WT, Src⁺⁺, and Src cells compared to the SYF cells (Fig. 26A). On the contrary, the expression of complex II, III, and V subunits were comparable among all the cell lines (Fig. 26A). These results strongly suggest that c-Src expression impairs the expression of complex I and IV subunits in mouse embryonic fibroblast cells.

To determine the effect of reduced NDUFB8 and COI expressions, we performed mitochondrial complex I and III and complex IV enzymatic activity assays in WT, SYF, Src⁺⁺, and Src cells. The activity of complex I and III was significantly decreased with an increasing expression of c-Src found in WT, Src⁺⁺, and Src cells compared to SYF cells (Fig. 26B). Similarly, the complex IV activity was also decreased in WT, Src⁺⁺, and Src cells compared to the SYF cell line (Fig. 26B). Therefore, the impaired mitochondrial function and diminished complex I and III and complex IV activities can be attributed to the reduced expression of the core subunits, NDUFB8 and COI, and the associated increase in the expression of c-Src in these cells.

c-Src kinase has also been shown to control cell proliferation, migration, and adhesion; consequently, we examined the cell proliferation of fibroblast cells with and without c-Src expression. In cells expressing c-Src, cell proliferation was significantly higher compared to SYF cells (Fig. 26B). Increased cell proliferation and c-Src activity are correlated with high glycolytic metabolism by inhibiting PDH activity and OXPHOS, as previously described (Y. Jin et al., 2016). Therefore, the increased c-Src expression could also cause inhibition of PDH activity, resulting in diminished OXPHOS as observed in MEF cell lines (Fig. 26). These findings are in agreement with our Hep3B cell line data shown above and further imply that c-Src alters the

enzymatic activity of OXPHOS complexes, possibly by changing the expression of their subunits. Together, our results obtained with liver biopsies and cell lines suggest that c-Src expression regulates mitochondrial function in both normal and cancerous cells.



Figure 26. c-Src expression reduces OXPHOS expression in fibroblast cells. A) Mouse embryonic fibroblast (MEF) cells with functional null mutations in both alleles of three SFK members, c-Src, Yes, and Fyn (SYF), MEF cells with the endogenous expression of c-Src and null mutations in Yes and Fyn (Src++), SYF cells with the overexpression of c-Src (Src), and wild-type embryonic fibroblast cells (WT) were cultured. Expression of OXPHOS complex subunits, including NDUFB8 (complex I), SDHB (complex II), UQCRC2 (complex III), COI (complex IV), and ATP5A (complex V) were detected by Western blot analyses of WT, SYF, Src++, and Src cell lines. The expression of c-Src and pSFK were also detected with respect to GAPDH and Ponceau S staining as a control for equal protein loading. Quantification of the average expression of OXPHOS complex subunits between SYF and WT, Src++, and Src cells is shown in the bar graph (right panel). Significant differences were observed in the expression of COI between SYF and WT (P = 0.0426), Src++ (P = 0.0017), and Src (P = 0.0001) and in the expression of NDUFB8 between SYF and WT (P = 0.0163), Src++ (P = 0.0033), and Src (P = 0.0030.0016). B) WT, SYF, Src++, and Src cells were grown for 24 h and proliferation was measured by the Trypan blue exclusion assay (cell proliferation). Significant differences were observed in the cell proliferation between SYF and WT (P = 0.0007), Src++ (P = 0.0018), and Src (P = 0.0014). The complex I and III and complex IV enzymatic activities were determined by measuring the reduction and oxidation rate, respectively, of cytochrome c using equal amounts of whole cell lysates obtained from WT, SYF, Src++, and Src cells. Significant differences were observed in the complex I and III activity between SYF and WT (P = 0.0071), Src++ (P = 0.0001), and Src (P = 0.0002) and complex IV activity (P = 0.0001). Results are expressed as mean \pm SD for at least three experiments and are presented as a percentage of SYF cells (SYF = 100%). Significant differences were observed between SYF, WT, Src++, and Src cells via unpaired student's t-tests (2-tailed) to measure statistical significance, *P < 0.05. See Fig. 23 legend for details.



Figure 27. Increased tyrosine phosphorylation is correlated with increased c-Src. The overall tyrosine phosphorylation and the expression of citrate synthase (CS) and pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) were detected by Western blot analyses in WT, SYF, Src⁺⁺, and Src cells. See Fig. 26 legend for details.

4.3.5. c-Src Inhibition with PP2 Stimulates the Expression of OXPHOS Subunits

Our data provide strong evidence that c-Src expression is associated with impaired OXPHOS complex expression and activity in normal and cancerous cells. To investigate if the inhibition of c-Src kinase activity could improve OXPHOS subunit expression and function, we first treated MEF cell lines expressing the highest c-Src kinase, Src cells, with PP2 for 24 to 48 h. As expected, PP2 treatments decreased overall Tyr phosphorylation and the phosphorylation of c-Src at Tyr416 without influencing the c-Src expression (Fig. 28A). Interestingly, the steady-state expression of nuclear-encoded NDUFB8 and mitochondrial-encoded COI subunits of complexes I and IV, respectively, were significantly increased with PP2 treatments compared to the control cells, while minor changes were observed in the expression of the remainder of the OXPHOS subunits detected by the rodent antibody cocktail (Fig. 28A). Despite the higher expression in COI and NDUFB8, the expression of EF-Tu and TFAM (data not shown) were comparable, suggesting that the increase in the expression of OXPHOS subunits may be a result of the inhibition of c-Src kinase activity and the associated changes in Tyr phosphorylation.

Subsequently, significant increases of roughly 40% and 50% were observed in the enzymatic activities of complexes I and III and complex IV in PP2 treated Src cells, respectively, which may be a result of the stimulated expression of the NDUFB8 and COI subunits (Fig. 28B). In fact, the OXPHOS subunit expression and activity found in PP2 treated Src cells was comparable to the subunit expression of the SYF cell line (Figs. 26 and 28). The morphology of PP2 treated Src cells became similar to SYF cells (data not shown). Clearly, cell proliferation was also reduced by approximately 50% in PP2 treated Src cells compared to the control cells (Fig. 28B), further demonstrating the role of c-Src on cell proliferation and morphology.

In addition to the treatment of Src cells with PP2, we also treated the WT, Src⁺⁺, and SYF cell lines with PP2. Similar to what was observed in Src cells, we detected an increase in the expression of NDUFB8 and COI of complexes I and IV, respectively, in PP2 treated Src⁺⁺ cells (Fig. 29) and WT cells (data not shown). The increases in the expression of NDUFB8 and COI were correlated with a decrease in c-Src activity, determined by the changes in the pSFKs at Tyr416 and total Tyr phosphorylation. Additionally, increasing concentrations of PP2 were also correlated with significant decreases in cell proliferation in Src⁺⁺ (Fig. 29) and WT (data not shown) cell lines. To ensure the increases in the expression of OXPHOS complexes I and IV were a result of reduced c-Src activity, we treated SYF cell lines with PP2 for 48 h and observed the effects on OXPHOS complexes. Although the cell proliferation was diminished in SYF cells treated with PP2, the OXPHOS subunit expressions were comparable between the control and PP2 treated SYF cells (Fig. 30). Combined, these results demonstrate the negative effects of c-Src on mitochondrial OXPHOS and energy metabolism, cell proliferation, and cell morphology which can be alleviated in the presence of an SFK inhibitor, such as PP2.



Figure 28. Inhibition of c-Src stimulates mitochondrial OXPHOS expression in Src cells. A) Src cells were treated with DMSO (cont) or $5 \,\mu$ M Src family kinase (SFK) inhibitor PP2 (PP2) for 24 h before collection. Changes in OXPHOS complex subunits, c-Src, and EF-Tu expression were measured by Western blot analyses with respect to GAPDH as a loading control. The phosphorylation of SFK members (pSFK), around 60 kDa, detected by the pTyr antibody, is indicated by an arrow. Quantitation of mitochondrial protein expression of OXPHOS complex subunits are represented as the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments (right panel) and expressed as a percentage of the control cells (cont = 100%). Significant difference was observed between PP2 treated Src cells in mitochondrial-encoded COI and nuclear-encoded NDUFB8 subunits via an unpaired student's t-test (2-tailed), *P-value < 0.05. B) Cell proliferation, complex I and III activity, and complex IV enzymatic activity of PP2 treated Src cells were measured after 24 h treatments. Significant differences were observed between the cont and PP2 treated Src cells in the cell proliferation (P = 0.0003), complex I and III activity (P =0.0001), and complex IV activity (P = 0.0001). Results are presented as the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments and expressed as a percentage of the control cells (cont = 100%). The statistical significance was analyzed by unpaired student's *t*-tests (2-tailed), *P < 0.05. See Fig. 26 legend for details.

Α



Figure 29. Inhibition of c-Src with PP2 stimulates OXPHOS expression in Src⁺⁺ cells. A) Src⁺⁺ cells were treated with $0 - 5 \mu$ M PP2 for 24 h before collection. The expression of OXPHOS complex subunits were detected by Western blot analyses with respect to GAPDH as a loading control. The quantitation of the protein expression of OXPHOS subunits are represented as the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments (right panel) and are expressed as a percentage of the control cells (cont = 100%). Significant difference was observed between PP2 treated Src⁺⁺ cells in mitochondrial-encoded COI (P = 0.0084) and nuclear-encoded NDUFB8 (P = 0.0022) subunits. B) Cell proliferation was measured between the control and PP2 treated Src⁺⁺ cells and significant difference was observed (P = 0.0003). Results are presented as the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments and expressed as a percentage of the control cells (cont = 100%). The statistical significance was analyzed by unpaired student's *t*-tests (2-tailed), *P < 0.05. See Fig. 28 legend for details.


Figure 30. PP2 treatments of SYF cells reduce cell proliferation without changing the expression of OXPHOS complexes. SYF cells were treated with $0 - 10 \mu$ M PP2 for 48 h before collection. Expression of OXPHOS complex subunits were detected by Western blot analyses with respect to Ponceau S staining of the membrane. See Fig. 28 legend for details.

4.3.6. c-Src Knock Down Increases OXPHOS Complex Expression

Above, we demonstrated that the increasing expression of c-Src was correlated with a decrease in OXPHOS subunit expression and activity in cells treated with PP2. To further investigate c-Src inhibition, we transfected WT, Src⁺⁺, and Src cell lines with mouse specific c-Src siRNA. The c-Src expression was significantly reduced in WT, Src⁺⁺, and Src cell lines (Figs. 31A, 31B, and 31C, respectively) transfected with c-Src siRNA relative to cells treated with control siRNA. A significant increase was observed in the expression of NDUFB8 and COI of complexes I and IV, respectively, in all three cell lines transfected with c-Src siRNA (Fig. 31). The remainder of the OXPHOS complexes analyzed, were comparable between the cells transfected with the control and c-Src siRNAs. Clearly, the increases in OXPHOS complex expression was a result of the c-Src knock down in these MEF cell lines expressing c-Src to varying degrees. Therefore, our findings strongly suggest that c-Src regulates mitochondrial energy metabolism by inhibiting the expression and activity of OXPHOS complexes, specifically complexes I and IV. Furthermore, our results demonstrate that therapies targeting c-Src kinase alleviate the inhibition on mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation and could be beneficial for the treatment of cancers with elevated c-Src expression and activity.



Figure 31. c-Src knock down increases the expression of OXPHOS complexes. A) WT, Src⁺⁺ (**B**), and Src (**C**) cells were transfected with c-Src specific siRNA (c-Src) and control siRNA (cont). The expression of OXPHOS complex subunits were detected by Western blot analyses with respect to GAPDH antibody probing and Ponceau S membrane staining as loading controls. Quantitation of the expression of OXPHOS complex subunits are represented as the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments (right panel) and expressed as a percentage of the control siRNA cells (cont = 100%). Significant difference was observed between c-Src and control siRNA transfected cells in the expression of NDUFB8 and COI in WT cells (P = 0.0001 and P = 0.0029, respectively), Src⁺⁺ cells (P = 0.0020 and P = 0.0056, respectively), and Src cells (P = 0.0004 and P = 0.0356, respectively). Statistical differences were analyzed between the cont and c-Src siRNA transfected cells with the unpaired student's *t*-tests (2-tailed), *P < 0.05.

4.4. Conclusions

Increased c-Src expression and activity are recognized as major underlying factors in the development of various diseases, including cancer, and is also suggested to contribute to increased metastatic, recurrence, and resistance rates in HCC (Masaki et al., 1998; R. Zhao et al., 2015). Although many systemic agents have been studied, to date, Sorafenib is the only approved drug for the systemic treatment of HCC, which has been shown to only extend the life of patients by 3-4 months (Daher et al., 2018; Llovet et al., 2008; Wilhelm et al., 2008). Interestingly, c-Src is located in the mitochondria and shown to alter mitochondrial energy metabolism via regulating OXPHOS complexes (Demory et al., 2009; Hebert-Chatelain et al., 2012; Miyazaki et al., 2003; Ogura et al., 2012). In some cases, c-Src has also been shown to induce the Warburg effect by inhibiting mitochondrial energy metabolism (Y. Jin et al., 2016; Wallace, 2012). Therefore, due to the various functions of c-Src in cell signaling, a better understanding of its role in mitochondrial energy metabolism in cancer and normal cells is essential.

In this study, we examined the effects of aberrant c-Src expression on mitochondrial energy metabolism by determining the relative changes in the expression of OXPHOS subunits in human liver cancer biopsies and cell lines. We clearly demonstrated that increased expression of c-Src was associated with an impaired expression of OXPHOS complex subunits in metastatic liver cancer biopsies and the Hep3B cell line. More importantly, we showed diminished OXPHOS complex expression and activity in mouse embryonic fibroblast cells expressing c-Src kinase alone. These results exhibited an inhibitory effect of c-Src on mitochondrial OXPHOS expression in both health and disease. Both c-Src kinase and mitochondrial energy metabolism have become important targets for cancer therapy. We investigated the effects of c-Src inhibition on mitochondrial energy metabolism by treating cells with the SFK inhibitor PP2 as well as transfecting cells with c-Src siRNA. A significant increase in the expression of complex I and IV and their corresponding activities was shown in the metastatic Hep3B cell line in addition to c-Src expressing mouse fibroblast, WT, Src⁺⁺, and Src, cell lines treated with PP2 and c-Src siRNA. Interestingly, the inhibition of c-Src was also shown to reduce cell proliferation in Hep3B and c-Src expressing MEF cells, suggesting that c-Src regulates by modulating OXPHOS. Our results provide a better understanding of the relationship between c-Src and OXPHOS expression in normal and cancerous cells. Additionally, our results indicate that c-Src inhibition should be utilized in anticancer therapies to reduce cell proliferation and improve mitochondrial function.

4.5. Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare they have no conflict of interest.

4.6. Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Tissue Procurement Center at the Pennsylvania State University Health Milton S. Hershey Medical Center for providing liver biopsies. We also gratefully acknowledge Biomedical Sciences Department at Joan C. Edwards School of Medicine, Marshall University for its support.

4.7. Funding

This work was partly supported by National Institutes of Health [GM071034 to ECK] and NASA WV Space Grant Consortium issued by NASA Goddard Space Flight Center [NNG05GF80H].

CHAPTER 5

FYN INHIBITION REDUCES THE EXPRESSION OF OXPHOS COMPLEXES AND CELL PROLIFERATION

Unpublished Manuscript in Preparation

Caroline A. Hunter¹, Hasan Koc², and Emine C. Koc^{1*}

¹Department of Biomedical Sciences, Joan C. Edwards School of Medicine, Marshall University,

Huntington, WV, 25755, United States.

²Department of Pharmacological Science and Research, School of Pharmacy, Marshall University, Huntington, WV, 25755, United States.

*To whom correspondence should be addressed: Emine C. Koc, Tel: +1-304-696-3680; Fax: +1-304-696-7207; Email: koce@marshall.edu. Correspondence may also be addressed to H.K. at kocha@marshall.edu.

Abstract

Mitochondrial dysfunction plays a role in the development and progression of many different diseases, including cancer. The mitochondrion is not only important for energy production via oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), but it also plays a major role in the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), a byproduct of OXPHOS. Aberrant levels of ROS are major characteristics of mitochondrial dysfunction and the development and progression of various diseases and cancers. Fyn kinase, a Src family tyrosine (Tyr) kinase (SFK), is activated by oxidative stress and has been reported in various diseases. Additionally, Fyn was found in the mitochondria and shown to regulate mitochondrial OXPHOS. However, inhibitors that target both Fyn and mitochondrial OXPHOS have yet to be identified. In this study, we examined the role of Fyn kinase, along with the effect of the SFK inhibitor, SU6656, and natural antioxidants, kaempferol and resveratrol, on the expression of OXPHOS complexes. Fyn expression was correlated with high OXPHOS complex expression, which was reduced when cells were treated with SU6656 and kaempferol. Furthermore, the treatment of these cells with SU6656, kaempferol, and resveratrol significantly reduced cell proliferation. Evidence provided in this study reveals that Fyn regulates mitochondrial energy metabolism by altering the expression of OXPHOS complex subunits, which can be contributing factors to the development and progression of cancer. Our findings strongly suggest that the suppression of Fyn significantly reduces cell proliferation, implying that targeting the regulation of mitochondrial function by SFK inhibitors and natural antioxidants could prove valuable in cancer treatments.

5.1. Introduction

Mitochondria are unique organelles that are responsible for producing over 90% of the cell's energy in the form of ATP via oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS). The mitochondria also play essential roles in various cellular processes such as energy metabolism, cell survival and death, calcium homeostasis, and the generation of free radicals (Bhatti, Bhatti, & Reddy, 2017; J. A. Kim et al., 2008; Osellame et al., 2012). Reactive oxygen species (ROS), a family of free radicals (Halliwell, 2006), are produced as a byproduct of OXPHOS through leakage at complexes I and III (Q. Chen, Vazquez, Moghaddas, Hoppel, & Lesnefsky, 2003; Turrens, 2003; Turrens & Boveris, 1980). An uncontrolled production of ROS can contribute to oxidative stress which leads to cell damage, altered mitochondrial redox signaling, damage to regulatory proteins, mitochondrial membranes, and DNA, and mitochondrial dysfunction (Bhatti et al., 2017; Duchen, 2004; Finkel & Holbrook, 2000; Murphy, 2009). Interestingly, both mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress have been reported as contributing factors in the development of a number of diseases including cancer (Bhatti et al., 2017; Dalle-Donne et al., 2006; Dhalla et al., 2000; Mitchell & Darley-Usmar, 2012; Petersen et al., 2003; Roberts & Sindhu, 2009; Sayre et al., 2001). Both genetic predisposition and environmental factors contribute to the development of diseases, which is attributed to oxidative stress generated through mitochondrial dysfunction. Although mitochondrial dysfunction has been established as a key factor in disease states, regulatory mechanisms for mitochondrial energy metabolism and ROS generation are not well understood.

Fyn kinase, a non-receptor Src family tyrosine (Tyr) kinase has emerged as a regulator of diverse pathological processes including the immune response, cell proliferation and adhesion, and has been shown to play a major role in metabolism and insulin signaling (Cary, Chang, &

Guan, 1996; T. W. Lee et al., 2013; Saito, Jensen, Salgia, & Posadas, 2010; Thomas & Brugge, 1997). Fyn was also reported as an inhibitor of AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) and fatty acid oxidation in the mitochondria (Bastie et al., 2007; Yamada, Pessin, Kurland, Schwartz, & Bastie, 2010). More importantly, Fyn is activated by oxidative stress and was located within the mitochondria where it regulates mitochondrial pathways (Lewandrowski et al., 2008; Salvi et al., 2002; Salvi et al., 2005). Recently, our laboratory has demonstrated the implication of Fyn with mitochondrial translation which is responsible for the synthesis of the 13 core subunits of OXPHOS complexes I, III, IV, and V and established the association of Fyn with increased mitochondrial translation and OXPHOS complex expression (E. C. Koc et al., 2016). As a result of its involvement in various cellular pathways, the hyperactivation of Fyn has contributed to the development of neurodegenerative diseases and multiple types of cancers (Elias et al., 2015; Saito et al., 2010; Schenone et al., 2011) indicating the need for novel therapeutic strategies. Although SFK inhibitors have been tested as potential cancer therapies (Finn et al., 2013; Lau et al., 2009; E. L. Mayer & Krop, 2010), the clinical data are limited. Due to the high levels of ROS found in cancer cells (Delmas et al., 2000; H. Guo et al., 2016; Liao et al., 2010; Zhu et al., 2018), natural antioxidants, kaempferol and resveratrol, have also been studied as chemotherapeutic agents. Even though these two antioxidants reduce cell proliferation in some studies and were reported to have inhibitory effects on Src kinase pathways (K. M. Lee et al., 2010; Oz et al., 2019), their role on the inhibition of Fyn and effects on mitochondrial OXPHOS remains to be elucidated.

In this study, we investigated the role of Fyn kinase on mitochondrial energy metabolism by analyzing the expression and activity of OXPHOS complexes. Additionally, we studied the effects of Fyn inhibition on mitochondrial energy metabolism and cell proliferation to examine

Fyn kinase as a potential target for the treatment of metabolic diseases with high Fyn kinase activity. Our studies strongly indicate that Fyn regulates the expression of OXPHOS complexes. Furthermore, our findings provide evidence that Fyn inhibition can be used as possible therapeutic strategies to prevent the progression of cancer by regulating mitochondrial energy metabolism and reducing cell proliferation.

5.2. Materials and Methods

5.2.1. Cell Culture

Monolayer cultures of HepG2 and Hep3B cell lines purchased from the American Type Culture Collection (ATCC) were maintained in DMEM medium (HyClone, Thermo-Scientific, Waltham, MA) adjusted to contain 4 mM glutamine, 1 mM pyruvate, 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Rocky Mountain Biologicals, Missoula, MT), and 1% penicillin/streptomycin (P/S) (Corning Cellgro, Manassas, VA). The cells were grown in a humidified incubator at 37 °C and 5% CO₂. Collected cells were treated with sodium orthovanadate to preserve Tyr phosphorylation (Hebert Chatelain et al., 2011; Nishikawa et al., 2009).

For treatments, HepG2 and Hep3B cells were seeded at 25 x 10⁴ cells/mL in DMEM containing 0.2% FBS and incubated for 24 h. The media was then replaced with fresh DMEM containing 10% FBS and cells were treated for 48 – 72 h. The two cell lines were treated with the Src kinase inhibitor SU6656 (2,3-Dihydro-N,N-dimethyl-2-oxo-3-[(4,5,6,7-tetrahydro-1H-indol-2-yl)methylene]-1H-indole-5-sulfonamide) (Millipore Sigma, St. Louis, MO) (Blake et al., 2000) dissolved in dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) at concentrations ranging from 0 – 10 μ M. Additionally, both cell lines were treated with natural antioxidants kaempferol and resveratrol (Calbiochem, EMD Millipore, Burington, MA), also dissolved in DMSO), at concentrations ranging from 0 – 50 μ M, as previously described by our laboratory (Cimen et al., 2010). For cell

proliferation, cells were counted using the Trypan blue exclusion assay. The results are represented as the mean \pm SD of triplicates from at least three experiments for each group and are presented as a percentage of the control (DMSO treated) cells.

5.2.2. Western Blot Analysis

Cell pellets were lysed in RIPA buffer containing 50 mM Tris-HCl (pH 7.6), 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, 1 mM EGTA, 1% NP40, 0.1% SDS, 0.5% DOC, 1 mM PMSF, and protease and phosphatase inhibitor cocktails. Protein concentrations were determined by BCA assays (Pierce, Rockford, USA) using bovine serum albumin (BSA) as a standard. The protein lysates were separated by 12% SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose membranes (Amersham, GE Healthcare, Pittsburg, PA) and stained with Ponceau S to ensure equal protein loading. The membranes were blocked in 5% (w/v) dry skim milk powder and 1% BSA dissolved in Trisbuffered saline (TBS) containing 0.05% Tween20 (TBST) and incubated with the corresponding primary antibodies overnight at 4 °C. The antibody for the OXPHOS complex cocktail was obtained from Mitosciences (Eugene, OR). The Fyn and phosphotyrosine (PY-20) antibodies were purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). The GAPDH antibody used as the protein loading control was obtained from Fitzgerald (Acton, MA). The phospho-Src family (pSFK) at Tyr416 (pTyr416) and phosphotyrosine (PY-100) antibodies were purchased from Cell Signaling Technologies (Danvers, MA). The pSFK antibody detects the phosphorylation of Fyn and other family members, c-Src, Lyn, Yes, Hck, and Lck, at the kinase activation site, Tyr416, or the equivalent residue. Mitochondrial elongation factor Tu (EF-Tu) and mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM) antibodies were kind gifts from Dr. Linda Spremulli and Dr. Craig Cameron, respectively. The protein immunoreactivities were detected using the protocols provided by the manufacturer. Un-Scan-It (Silk Scientific Inc., Orem, UT) and ImageJ (Schneider et al., 2012)

were used to quantify protein band intensities. Quantified protein values were normalized to the protein loading determined by GAPDH antibody probing and Ponceau S staining of the membranes. The expression of each protein was quantified from individual cell lysates from at least three independent experiments. The results of the protein quantifications represent the mean \pm SD for each sample and are expressed as a percentage of the control.

5.2.3. Mitochondrial Complex IV Enzymatic Activity Assays

Cell pellets from HepG2 and Hep3B cell lines were dissolved in a 50 mM phosphate buffer (pH 7.4) containing 1 mM EDTA and 100 μ M reduced cytochrome c. The assay was performed by monitoring cytochrome c oxidation at 550 nm, as previously described (Birch-Machin & Turnbull, 2001). The rate was calculated by dividing the difference in absorbances between two linear points by the difference in time points: Rate = (Abs 1 – Abs 2)/(Time 2 – Time 1). The enzymatic data are expressed as the mean ± SD of at least three experiments and are presented as a percentage of the control.

5.2.4. Statistical Analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism 6.07. Statistically significant differences were determined between HepG2 and Hep3B cell lines as well as control and treated cells using unpaired student's *t*-tests (2-tailed), *P < 0.05. All data are expressed as the mean \pm SD, unless otherwise specified.

5.3. Results and Discussion

5.3.1. Fyn Kinase is Expressed in HepG2 Cells and Associated with Increased OXPHOS

Fyn kinase is expressed in a variety of cell types and has therefore been identified as a factor in the involvement of numerous diseases (Bastie et al., 2007; Elias & Ditzel, 2015;

Matsushima et al., 2016; Saito et al., 2010). Additionally, Fyn kinase is one of the few SFK members found within the mitochondria (Lewandrowski et al., 2008; Salvi et al., 2002; Salvi et al., 2005) and has recently been shown to regulate mitochondrial protein synthesis and OXPHOS expression (E. C. Koc et al., 2016). We evaluated two human liver cancer cell lines to study the role of Fyn expression on mitochondrial OXPHOS expression and energy metabolism. An increased expression of Fyn kinase was found in HepG2 cells compared to almost no expression in the Hep3B cell line (Fig. 32A). Although Fyn kinase expression was absent in Hep3B cells, the phosphorylation of SFK members at the activation site, Tyr416 (pSFK), was comparable between the two cell lines (data not shown). Tyr416 is located within the activation loop of the kinase domain and is therefore responsible for the activity of Fyn and other SFK members when phosphorylated (T. Hunter, 1987; Thomas & Brugge, 1997). Since the phospho-Src family kinase (pSFK) antibody detects endogenous Fyn phosphorylation at Tyr416, as well as other family members at equivalent activation sites, these findings imply that other SFKs besides Fyn are active in Hep3B cells.

The differential endogenous expression of Fyn kinase between HepG2 and Hep3B cell lines allowed us to investigate its role on the expression of OXPHOS complexes. Reduced expression of OXPHOS subunits of complexes II, III, and V, as well as a significant decrease of approximately 80% in the expression of subunits of OXPHOS complexes I and IV, were associated with the absence of Fyn kinase in Hep3B cells relative to the expression of OXPHOS complexes found in HepG2 cells (Fig. 32A). To determine the effect of endogenous Fyn kinase expression on mitochondrial function, complex IV enzymatic activity assays were performed in the two cell lines. The activity of complex IV was significantly lower by roughly 40% in Hep3B cells (Fig. 32B). This impaired activity could be a result of the reduced expression of one of the core subunits of complex IV, COII. Due to the decreased expression in one of the essential 13 mitochondrial-encoded proteins COII, we analyzed the expression of mitochondrial transcription factor A (TFAM) and mitochondrial elongation factor Tu (EF-Tu) to determine if changes in two of the main transcription and translation factors contributed to the decreased expression of COII. However, minor differences were observed in the expression of TFAM (data not shown) and EF-Tu (Fig. 33A). To further evaluate the reduction in COII, we performed quantitative RT-PCR analyses on several mitochondrial-encoded transcripts to determine if a defect is present in the expression of mitochondrial genes. The mRNA expression of COII, and other mitochondrialencoded genes analyzed, were comparable between HepG2 and Hep3B cells (data not shown). Together, these results suggest that the reduction in mitochondrial-encoded COII was possibly a result of the absence of Fyn kinase expression and the associated reduction in Tyr phosphorylation in the Hep3B cell line. These findings are also in agreement with results previously published by our group (E. C. Koc et al., 2016) and imply that Fyn kinase regulates mitochondrial energy metabolism, possibly by increasing the expression of OXPHOS complexes.



Figure 32. Fyn increases OXPHOS expression in the HepG2 liver cancer cell line. A) The relative expression of Fyn kinase, OXPHOS complex subunits, and mitochondrial proteins TFAM and EF-Tu were detected by Western blot analyses and compared between the HepG2 and Hep3B cell lines. The expression of OXPHOS subunits, including NDUF8 (complex I), SDHB (complex II), UQCRC2 (complex III), COII (complex IV), and ATP5A (complex V) were detected. Equal protein loading was determined by GAPDH antibody expression and Ponceau S staining of the membranes. Quantification of the average expression of OXPHOS complex subunits between the two cell lines is shown in the bar graph (right panel). The results represent the mean \pm SD of at least three independent experiments. Significant difference was observed in OXPHOS subunits COII (P=0.001) and NDUF8 (0.0001) of complexes IV and I respectively between HepG2 and Hep3B cells. The protein quantitation data is presented as a percentage of HepG2 protein expression. B) Complex IV enzymatic activity was determined by spectrometically measuring the rate of cytochrome c oxidation at 550 nm using equal amounts of whole cell lysates from HepG2 and Hep3B cells. Enzymatic activity assay values are presented as mean \pm SD for at least three experiments and presented as a percentage of the HepG2 complex IV activity. Significant difference was observed between HepG2 and Hep3B cells via unpaired student's t-test (2-tailed) with Welch's correction, *P < 0.05.

5.3.2. SU6656 Inhibits SFKs and Decreases OXPHOS Complex Expression

In an effort to further identify the role of Fyn in mitochondrial OXPHOS and energy metabolism, we treated HepG2 and Hep3B cell lines with the SFK inhibitor SU6656 and monitored the differences in the expression of OXPHOS complexes. SU6656 is a small molecule, potent inhibitor of ubiquitously expressed SFK members Fyn, c-Src, Yes, and Lyn (Blake et al., 2000). We first treated HepG2 cells with SU6656 and observed a decrease in Tyr phosphorylation with increasing concentrations of SU6656 (Fig. 33A). This reduction was associated with a decrease in the phosphorylated SFK band at Tyr416 (pSFK, pTyr416) implying that the SU6656 treatment inhibits the activation of SFKs in HepG2 cells (Fig. 33A). Although Tyr and SFK phosphorylation were reduced when cells were exposed to SU6656, the expression of Fyn was comparable to cells without treatment (Fig. 33A).

Subsequently, in addition to lower SFK and Tyr phosphorylation, reductions were observed in the expression of the mitochondrial-encoded subunit of complex IV and the nuclearencoded subunit of complex II, COII and SDHB respectively, by approximately 25% with a more substantial reduction of roughly 45% found in the expression of complex I subunit NDUF8 at the highest SU6656 concentration (Fig. 33A). The expression of the remainder of OXPHOS subunits, UQCRC2 and ATP5A (Fig. 33A), along with EF-Tu and TFAM (data not shown) were comparable between the treated and control HepG2 cells. Our findings with SU6656 treatments are supported by previous studies by our laboratory demonstrating reduced mitochondrial translation with Fyn inhibition by siRNA (E. C. Koc et al., 2016), implying the effect of SU6656 treatment is a result of reduced Fyn kinase activity. Additionally, due to the role of Fyn activity on cell growth and proliferation (Cary et al., 1996; Schlessinger, 2000; Thomas & Brugge, 1997), we assessed the effect of Fyn inhibition by SU6656 on cell proliferation and observed a

significant reduction in HepG2 cell proliferation with increasing concentrations of SU6656 (Fig. 33B). Together our data further suggests that Fyn regulates mitochondrial energy metabolism by stimulating OXPHOS complex expression. Furthermore, treatment with SU6656 reduces OXPHOS expression as well as cell proliferation, implying a potential role of Fyn in cell growth in health and disease.

As a result of the impaired expression of OXPHOS complexes and the significant reduction in the proliferation of HepG2 cells treated with SU6656, we also treated the Hep3B cell line with SU6656 to observe possible changes in energy metabolism since it has a comparable expression of pSFK to HepG2 cells. Similar to HepG2 cells, lower SFK phosphorylation which coincided with reduced Tyr phosphorylation was found in Hep3B cells treated with SU6656, yet minor differences were observed in the expression of mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes (data not shown). Interestingly, a clear reduction in cell proliferation was shown in SU6656 treated Hep3B cells in a concentration-dependent manner (data not shown). The differences in the expression of OXPHOS complexes in SU6656 treated HepG2 and Hep3B cells are possibly due to the endogenous expression of Fyn kinase in HepG2 cells compared to almost no expression in Hep3B cells. These findings further imply that Fyn regulates mitochondrial energy metabolism by altering the expression of OXPHOS complexes and suggest that SFK inhibition can be beneficial for the treatment of diseases with high Fyn activity.



Figure 33. SU6656 inhibits SFKs and decreases OXPHOS expression HepG2 cells. HepG2 cells were treated with $0 - 10 \mu$ M SFK inhibitor SU6656 for 72 h before collection. A) The expression of OXPHOS complex subunits, Fyn, pTyr, EF-Tu, and TFAM were measured by Western blot analyses with respect to GAPDH antibody probing and Ponceau S staining of the membranes as controls for equal protein loading. The phosphorylation of SFKs (pSFK) was detected by the pTyr antibody and indicated by an arrow. The quantification of OXPHOS subunits is represented in bar graph (right panel). B) Cell proliferation of SU6656 treated HepG2 cells were measured with the Trypan blue exclusion assays after 72 h treatment and is shown as the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments with statistical significance between the control and 5 μ M (P=0.001) and 10 μ M (P=0.001) SU6656. The results are represented as a percentage of the control. Statistical difference was observed between the control and treatment groups via unpaired Student's *t*-test (2-tailed), *P < 0.05.

5.3.3. Kaempferol Impairs OXPHOS Expression by Inhibiting SFKs

Kaempferol and resveratrol have anti-oxidant, chemo-preventative, anti-tumor, and antiinflammatory pharmacological activities (H. Guo et al., 2016; Y. B. Huang et al., 2014; Liao et al., 2010; M. Singh et al., 2014; Udenigwe et al., 2008; Zhu et al., 2018) and have been shown to improve mitochondrial function in various cancer types (Cimen et al., 2010; Haohao et al., 2015; Lagouge et al., 2006). In addition to its many beneficial properties, kaempferol was shown to act as a c-Src kinase inhibitor by blocking the ATP-binding site of Src kinases and inhibiting their downstream signals (K. M. Lee et al., 2010). Fyn has been reported to be activated when exposed to oxidative stress. Since mitochondria produce the majority of ROS via oxidative phosphorylation to meet biosynthetic demands for cell proliferation (Wallace, 2012), we treated HepG2 and Hep3B cells with natural antioxidants kaempferol and resveratrol to observe their effects on Fyn kinase activity and OXPHOS complex expression.

A reduction in SFK phosphorylation was observed in a concentration-dependent manner with a decrease of approximately 35% at the highest kaempferol concentration (Fig. 34A). This decrease in SFK phosphorylation was associated with a reduction in the Tyr phosphorylation of proteins in HepG2 cells treated with kaempferol (Fig. 34A). Although kaempferol was identified as a c-Src kinase inhibitor (K. M. Lee et al., 2010), the high sequence conservation between Fyn and c-Src makes Fyn a likely target for kaempferol's inhibitory effect. Therefore, our results imply kaempferol acts as an SFK inhibitor in HepG2 cells and reduces the activity of SFKs by decreasing phosphorylation at the activation site, Tyr416 (pSFK).

Along with reduced SFK phosphorylation, a clear decrease was observed in the nuclearencoded subunits of complexes I, NDUF8, and II, SDHA/SDHB, and the mitochondrial-encoded subunits of complex IV, COII, with increasing concentrations of kaempferol (Fig. 34A). The

expression of the remainder of the complex III, UQCRC2, and complex V, ATP5A, subunits analyzed were comparable to the control cells (Fig. 34A). To determine if the decrease in the expression of mitochondrial-encoded COII was due to changes in mitochondrial transcription and/or translation, we studied the mRNA expression of mitochondrial-encoded transcripts and the protein expression of TFAM and EF-Tu. Minor differences were found in the mRNA transcript expression (data not shown) and the expression of TFAM (data not shown) and EF-Tu (Fig. 34A), indicating the decreases in OXPHOS expression were a result of changes in Tyr phosphorylation by SFK inhibition. These results are in agreement with our SU6656 treatment data above. Our findings further demonstrate the possible regulation of mitochondrial OXPHOS by Fyn kinase. Furthermore, a significant reduction in cell proliferation was observed in a concentration-dependent manner (Fig. 34B). These findings reveal that kaempferol acts as an SFK inhibitor to reduce OXPHOS expression and lower cell proliferation. Therefore, kaempferol could potentially be used as a therapeutic tool to prevent the progression of cancer.

To observe if kaempferol had similar effects on Hep3B cells, the Hep3B cell line was also treated with kaempferol, which did not cause major changes in the expression of OXPHOS complexes under these conditions (Fig. 35A). Interestingly, a reduction in SFK phosphorylation, as shown with the pTyr antibody, and a correlated decrease in Tyr phosphorylation was found when Hep3B cells were treated with kaempferol (data not shown). However, similar to HepG2 cells, Hep3B cell proliferation was significantly decreased with increasing concentrations of kaempferol (Fig. 35B). Our findings were also supported by previous studies demonstrating that kaempferol-mediated reduction of the proliferation of Hep3B cells (Berger et al., 2013). Together, these results suggest that kaempferol acts as an SFK inhibitor in both cell lines and dramatically reduces cell proliferation.



Figure 34. Kaempferol impairs OXPHOS, reduces cell proliferation, and inhibits SFK activity in the HepG2 cell line. HepG2 cells were treated with $0 - 50 \,\mu M$ kaempferol for 48 h before collection. A) The expression of OXPHOS subunits, phosphorylated Src at Tyr416 (pSFK), pTyr, EF-Tu, and TFAM were detected by Western blot analyses in three cell lysates with equal protein loading was evaluated by GAPDH antibody probing and Ponceau S staining of the membranes. The average quantitative analyses of the expression of OXPHOS subunits in the triplicates is shown in the bar graph (right panel) and statistical difference was observed in the expression of NDUF8 (P=0.001), SDHA (P=0.0007), SDHB (0.0135), and COII (0.0001) between the control and 50 µM kaempferol treatment (Kaemp). The results are represented as the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments. **B**) Cell proliferation of kaempferol treated HepG2 cells was measured with the Trypan blue exclusion assays after 48 h treatment. Data is represented as the mean \pm SD and statistical significance was found at 50 μ M (P=0.0001) kaempferol. The results are represented as a percentage of the control. Statistical difference was observed between the control and treatment groups via unpaired Student's *t*-test (2-tailed), *P < 0.05.



Figure 35. Kaempferol suppresses cell proliferation in the Hep3B cell line. Hep3B cells were treated with $0 - 50 \,\mu$ M kaempferol for 48 h before collection. **A**) The

expression of OXPHOS complex subunits were measured by Western blot analyses with respect to GAPDH antibody probing and Ponceau S staining of the membranes as equal loading controls for the control (0) and 25 μ M (25) kaempferol treatments. **B**) Cell proliferation of kaempferol treated Hep3B cells was measured with the Trypan blue exclusion assays after 48 h treatment. Statistical significance was observed between the control and 50 μ M kaempferol treatment (P=0.0001). Results represent the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments and are presented as a percentage of the control cells. Significant difference was analyzed by unpaired Student's *t*-tests (2-tailed), *P < 0.05. See Figure 34 legend for details.

5.3.4. Resveratrol Reduces Cell Proliferation

The natural antioxidant kaempferol showed promise as a potential therapeutic agent to improve cellular stress by decreasing OXPHOS expression in HepG2 cells and inhibiting cell proliferation in both HepG2 and Hep3B cell lines. To determine whether other natural antioxidants can be used as a treatment for metabolic disorders and mitochondrial dysfunction, we treated the two liver cancer cell lines with resveratrol for 48 h. In HepG2 cells, we found minor differences in the expression of nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded OXPHOS subunits when treated with resveratrol (Fig. 36A); however, a significant decrease in the cell proliferation was observed (Fig. 36B). Similar results were obtained in Hep3B cells treated with resveratrol with the expression of OXPHOS subunits comparable between the control and treated cells (Fig. 37A) while the cell proliferation was substantially diminished in a concentration-dependent manner (Fig. 37B). Resveratrol has been shown to inhibit Src kinase pathways in cell cultures (Oz et al., 2019), yet its role as an SFK inhibitor and the effects on mitochondrial OXPHOS have not been identified. Under these conditions, resveratrol did not alter the steady-state expression of OXPHOS subunits, but it clearly decreased cell proliferation in both HepG2 and Hep3B cell lines, as demonstrated previously (Delmas et al., 2000; Udenigwe et al., 2008). Together, our findings suggest that SFK inhibitors and natural antioxidants kaempferol and resveratrol should be utilized in treatment regiments to prevent the progression of liver cancer by impairing cell proliferation.



Figure 36. Resveratrol treatment inhibits cell proliferation in the HepG2 cell line. HepG2 cells were treated with $0 - 40 \,\mu$ M resveratrol for 48 h before collection. A) The expression of OXPHOS complex subunits were measured by Western blot analyses with respect to GAPDH antibody probing and Ponceau S staining of the membranes as equal loading controls. B) Cell proliferation of resveratrol treated HepG2 cells was measured with the Trypan blue exclusion assays after 48 h treatment. Significant reduction was observed at 20 μ M (P=0.0269) and 40 μ M (P=0.0089) resveratrol concentrations. Results represent the mean \pm SD of at least three experiments and are presented as a percentage of the control (0). Statistical differences were analyzed by unpaired student's *t*-tests (2-tailed) for statistical significance, p-value < 0.05 (*).



Figure 37. Resveratrol impairs cell proliferation in the Hep3B liver cancer cell line. Hep3B cells were treated with $0 - 40 \,\mu$ M resveratrol for 48 h before collection. A) The changes in OXPHOS complex subunit expression was measured by Western blot analyses with respect to GAPDH antibody probing and Ponceau S staining of the membranes as equal loading controls. B) Cell proliferation of resveratrol treated Hep3B cells was measured with the Trypan blue exclusion assays after 48 h treatment. Significant reduction was observed at both 20 μ M (P=0.02) and 40 μ M (P=0.0001) resveratrol treatments. The results represent the mean \pm SD of at least three independent experiments and are presented as a percentage of the control (0). Statistical significance was analyzed between the control and treatment groups via unpaired Student's *t*-test (2-tailed), *P < 0.05. See Fig. 36 legend for details.

5.4. Conclusions

Mitochondria are essential for energy metabolism and ATP production via oxidative phosphorylation and are also major contributors to the generation of ROS. Uncontrolled ROS production can be detrimental to the cell and lead to mitochondrial dysfunction, which has been reported as a factor in the development and progression of numerous diseases including cancer (Bhatti et al., 2017; Dalle-Donne et al., 2006; Dhalla et al., 2000; Mitchell & Darley-Usmar, 2012; Petersen et al., 2003; Roberts & Sindhu, 2009; Sayre et al., 2001). Fyn kinase was located in the mitochondria, shown to regulate mitochondrial translation and OXPHOS, and activated by oxidative stress (E. C. Koc et al., 2016; Lewandrowski et al., 2008; Salvi et al., 2002; Salvi et al., 2005). Aberrant activation of Fyn contributed to the development of many diseases and has been reported as a key player in cancer resistance (Elias et al., 2015; Saito et al., 2010; Schenone et al., 2011), yet to date, no Fyn inhibitors are currently available. Therefore, understanding the role of Fyn and its inhibition on cell signaling and mitochondrial OXPHOS and energy metabolism is crucial for the treatment of metabolic diseases.

In this study, we demonstrated that Fyn kinase expression was associated with increased expression of OXPHOS complexes in liver cancer cell lines. These results suggested that the aberrant activation of Fyn could result in the continual stimulation of OXPHOS and mitochondrial dysfunction. To alleviate these effects and improve mitochondrial energy metabolism, we treated cells with the SFK inhibitor, SU6656, and observed decreased OXPHOS complex expression and cell proliferation. Additionally, we treated the cells with the natural antioxidants, kaempferol and resveratrol, and found a significant reduction in cell proliferation with both antioxidant treatments. A reduction in OXPHOS expression was only found in HepG2 cells treated with kaempferol. These findings suggest Src-dependent pathways promote cell

proliferation in the two cell lines. Our data clearly show that Fyn regulates mitochondrial energy metabolism by increasing OXPHOS complex expression, which can be alleviated when cells are treated with SFK inhibitors. More significantly, our results highlight the importance of Fyn inhibition in the treatment of cancer to slow disease progression and improve mitochondrial energy metabolism.

5.5. Conflicts of Interest

The authors declare no conflicts of interest.

5.6. Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank Drs. Craig Cameron, Pennsylvania State University, and Linda Spremulli, UNC Chapel Hill, for their kind donations of mitochondrial TFAM and EF-Tu antibodies, respectively. We also acknowledge the Department of Biomedical research at Marshall University School of Medicine for their support.

5.7. Funding

This research was funded by the NASA WV Space Grant consortium issued by NASA Goddard Space Flight Center [NNG05GF80H] and National Institutes of Health to ECK [GM071034].

CHAPTER 6

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

6.1. Conclusions

Mitochondria are the metabolic hub of the cell and therefore, are responsible for producing most of the cellular energy, ATP, through oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) and activating numerous cellular pathways. In mammals, the majority of OXPHOS complex subunits are encoded in the nuclear genome and translocated into the mitochondria; however, 13 core enzymatic subunits are encoded in the mitochondrial genome and synthesized within the mitochondria by their own translation machinery. Changes in the expression of mitochondrial proteins, including OXPHOS complexes, can be detrimental to many cellular pathways and more importantly, mitochondrial biogenesis and energy metabolism. In fact, mitochondrial dysfunction impacts cellular and whole-body metabolism and has been identified as the cause for several metabolic diseases such as T2D and cancer. Therefore, a better understanding of key players involved in the regulation of mitochondrial functions in health and disease is essential. In these studies, we investigated mitochondrial biogenesis and energy metabolism by observing changes in OXPHOS expression and activity and evaluated potential targets and therapies in two major metabolic diseases, type 2 diabetes (T2D) and liver cancer. Together, our studies clearly demonstrated that changes in the expression of OXPHOS complexes can significantly impair mitochondrial energy metabolism and may contribute to the development of T2D and liver cancer.

6.1.1. Mitochondrial Biogenesis is Impaired in TALLYHO/Jng Mice

The TALLYHO/Jng (TH) mouse is a polygenic model for human obesity and T2D (J. H. Kim & Saxton, 2012; J. H. Kim et al., 2001). Gene mapping, whole genome sequencing, and

metabolic characterizations have been performed and altered energy balance has been reported (Franko et al., 2017; J. H. Kim et al., 2005; X. Mao et al., 2014; Parkman et al., 2017; Parkman et al., 2016); however, the mechanism is largely unknown. Additionally, the role of mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative phosphorylation has yet to be identified in TH mice. In this study, we investigated mitochondrial biogenesis by analyzing the expression of nuclear- and mitochondrial-encoded translation machinery and OXPHOS complex subunits in mitochondrial rich liver and kidney tissues of TH and B6 mice. We observed a significant decrease in the expression of nuclear-encoded complex I subunits, NDUFS2 and NDUFB8, in the liver and kidney of TH mice. These decreases in the expression were correlated with reduced complex I and III enzymatic activity. Interestingly, a sequence variant was identified in the NDUFS2 subunit that may be related to the impaired expression and activity of complex I. We also found a significant decrease in the mitochondrial-encoded subunits of complex IV, COI and COII, which were correlated with diminished activity of complex IV. The expression of complex IV is required for the stability and assembly of complex I (Diaz et al., 2006); therefore, the reduced expression of the subunit of complex IV may contribute to the reduced complex I expression observed in TH mice.

The reduction in COI and COII expression in TH mice indicated impaired mitochondrial protein synthesis, since it is responsible for the synthesis of the 13 mitochondrial-encoded core OXPHOS subunits. Although the expression of translation machinery was comparable between TH and B6 mice, a sequence variant was identified in DARS2 which was predicted to alter the tRNA binding during protein synthesis and inhibit OXPHOS expression in TH mice. Other translation components, such as MRPL20 and other MRPs, were also reported to have sequence

variants that may influence the mitochondrial protein synthesis and OXPHOS. We identified factors that may contribute to the impaired mitochondrial biogenesis found in TH mice.

6.1.2. c-Src Impairs OXPHOS Expression and Activity

Aberrant expression of c-Src has been shown to induce malignant properties in various cancer types including increased resistance, metastasis, and recurrence in HCC (Blume-Jensen & Hunter, 2001; Irby & Yeatman, 2000, 2002; M. P. Kim et al., 2009; Masaki et al., 1998; Yeatman, 2004). c-Src is located within the mitochondria and regulates mitochondrial energy metabolism by phosphorylating enzymes in carbohydrate metabolism, pyruvate decarboxylation, TCA cycle, and more important, OXPHOS complexes (Augereau et al., 2005; Hebert-Chatelain et al., 2012; Y. Jin et al., 2016; Lewandrowski et al., 2008; Miyazaki et al., 2003; Salvi et al., 2007). Interestingly, c-Src was shown to induce the Warburg effect by impairing mitochondrial energy metabolism (Y. Jin et al., 2016; Wallace, 2012). Although c-Src is reported as a major contributing factor to the development of HCC, its role in mitochondrial energy metabolism in liver cancer is currently unknown. In this study, we investigated the role of c-Src on mitochondrial energy metabolism in liver cancer and MEF cell lines. We clearly demonstrated that reduced mitochondrial OXPHOS expression was correlated with an increased expression of c-Src in metastatic liver cancer tissues and the metastatic HCC cancer cell line, Hep3B. The decrease in OXPHOS expression was associated with impaired activity of OXPHOS complexes I and III and complex IV. More importantly, we observed reduced OXPHOS complex expression and activity in MEF cell lines expressing varying levels of c-Src kinase. Our data signifies an inhibitory effect of c-Src on mitochondrial OXPHOS expression in health and disease.

Since c-Src and mitochondrial energy metabolism are currently targets for cancer therapies, we treated liver cancer and MEF cell lines with the SFK inhibitor PP2 to investigate

the inhibition of c-Src on mitochondrial energy metabolism. A significant increase was observed in the expression of OXPHOS complexes I and IV and their activities with increased concentrations of PP2 in both cell types. Interestingly, treatments with PP2 reduced cell proliferation in Hep3B and MEF cells. Since PP2 inhibits multiple SFKs, we studied the direct effect of c-Src inhibition on mitochondrial OXPHOS by transfecting Hep3B and MEF cells with c-Src siRNA. Similar to PP2 treatments, cells transfected with c-Src siRNA showed increased expression of OXPHOS complexes I and IV. These results indicate that c-Src inhibition should be utilized as anti-cancer therapies to improve mitochondrial function while slowing cell growth and proliferation. More importantly, our results clearly show the role of c-Src in the regulation of energy metabolism and provide a better understanding of the relationship between c-Src and OXPHOS in normal and cancerous cells.

6.1.3. Fyn Inhibition Reduces OXPHOS Expression and Cell Proliferation

Mitochondria are not only important for energy production via oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS), but it also plays a major role in the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS), a byproduct of OXPHOS. Uncontrolled ROS generation can be detrimental to the cell and has been identified as a major characteristic of mitochondrial dysfunction (Bhatti et al., 2017; Dalle-Donne et al., 2006; Dhalla et al., 2000; Mitchell & Darley-Usmar, 2012; Petersen et al., 2003; Roberts & Sindhu, 2009; Sayre et al., 2001). Fyn kinase, a Src family tyrosine (Tyr) kinase (SFK), is activated by oxidative stress and is located within the mitochondria and shown to regulate protein synthesis and OXPHOS (E. C. Koc et al., 2016; Lewandrowski et al., 2008; Salvi et al., 2005). Aberrant activation of Fyn contributed to the development of many metabolic diseases and has been reported as a key player in cancer resistance (Elias et al., 2015; Saito et al., 2010; Schenone et al., 2011). Inhibitors that target both Fyn and

mitochondrial energy metabolism and OXPHOS have yet to be identified. In this study, we examined the role of Fyn kinase, along with the effect of the SFK inhibitor, SU6656, and natural antioxidants, kaempferol and resveratrol, on the expression of OXPHOS complexes. Increased Fyn expression was correlated with high OXPHOS complex expression. These results suggested that the aberrant activation of Fyn could result in the continual stimulation of OXPHOS and lead to increased ROS production and mitochondrial dysfunction. The increase in OXPHOS was alleviated when cells were treated with SU6656 and kaempferol. Furthermore, the treatment of these cells with SU6656, kaempferol, and resveratrol significantly reduced cell proliferation. Evidence provided in this study reveals that Fyn regulates mitochondrial energy metabolism by altering the expression of OXPHOS complex subunits, which can be a contributing factor to the development and progression of metabolic diseases such as cancer. Additionally, these results suggest Src-dependent pathways promote cell proliferation in the two cell lines. Our findings strongly suggest that the suppression of Fyn significantly reduces cell proliferation, implying that improving mitochondrial function by SFK inhibitors and natural antioxidants could prove valuable in the treatment of metabolic diseases.

6.2. Future Directions

In chapter 3, we reported impaired mitochondrial biogenesis, protein synthesis and OXPHOS activity in TH mice. We identified sequence variants in the previously published whole genome database for TH mice NDUFS2, DARS2, and MRPL20 as possible candidates for reduced mitochondrial protein synthesis. To further examine the role of mitochondrial biogenesis and energy metabolism in TH mice, mitochondria should be isolated from fresh liver and kidney tissues of TH and B6 mice. Similar experiments should be performed to observe the expression of mitochondrial proteins and measure the activity of OXPHOS complexes in isolated

mitochondria instead of whole cell lysates. In addition to animal tissues, changes in mitochondrial biogenesis and OXPHOS can be observed in various cell lines treated with very high glucose concentrations to mimic hyperglycemic conditions found in insulin resistance and T2D. The changes in the expression of OXPHOS complexes, as well as other mitochondrial proteins involved in biogenesis, can be evaluated at different glucose concentrations. The enzymatic activities of mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes should also be measured. Additionally, site-directed mutagenesis should be used to create the major protein variants found in TH mice to express within the cell culture models. Changes in the expression of OXPHOS complexes and their enzymatic activities should be observed. By altering the sequences of NDUFS2, DARS2, and MRPL20, we can evaluate the effects of these sequence variants on mitochondrial biogenesis and energy metabolism, as well as determine any changes in the metabolic activity that reflect changes observed in the obesity and T2D phenotypes of TH mice. Resveratrol has been shown to activate mitochondrial biogenesis by altering the expression and activity of PGC-1 α and has been shown to improve glucose tolerance and oxygen consumption (Lagouge et al., 2006). Therefore, the effects of resveratrol on glucose tolerance and mitochondrial energy metabolism should be investigated by treating the cell lines with varying concentrations of resveratrol and observing changes in the expression and activity of OXPHOS complexes. These studies would provide a better understanding of the factors involved in changes in mitochondrial biogenesis that may lead to mitochondrial dysfunction in obesity and T2D and could provide therapeutic targets for improving disease prognosis and treatments.

In chapter 4, we determined the role of c-Src in the regulation of mitochondrial OXPHOS in cancerous and normal cells. To better understand the relationship, further studies need to be performed to identify c-Src targets within the mitochondria. Since complex IV subunits COI and

COII are mitochondrial-encoded and are significantly reduced in the presence of c-Src and mitochondrial proteins were shown to be associated with Fyn kinase, another SFK member closely related to c-Src (E. C. Koc et al., 2016), the phosphorylation of MRPs by c-Src should be evaluated. *In vitro* phosphorylation assays should be performed with isolated c-Src kinase and cell lysates from MEF cells overexpressing c-Src kinase (Src cells). After identification of phosphorylation sites, site-directed mutagenesis can then be performed to alter the Tyr residue to mimic phosphorylation, which can then be transfected into cells overexpressing c-Src to examine the effects on OXPHOS expression and activity. By identifying c-Src targets within the mitochondria, we can get a better understanding of the effects c-Src has on more mitochondrial pathways than OXPHOS, which should provide more targeted therapy options. Additionally, the liver cancer cell lines Hep3B and HepG2, as well as the MEF cells with varying expressions of c-Src, should be treated with FDA-approved multi-kinase inhibitors to observe their effects on mitochondrial OXPHOS expression. These findings would allow us to better understand the effects of these inhibitors on c-Src and how they alter mitochondrial energy metabolism.

In chapter 5, we evaluated the association of Fyn kinase with OXPHOS expression and its effects when liver cancer cell lines were treated with the SFK inhibitor SU6656 and natural antioxidants kaempferol and resveratrol. To better determine the effects of SU6656 and kaempferol on mitochondrial oxidative energy metabolism, cells should be treated with the two compounds and changes in mitochondrial biogenesis should be investigated. First, OXPHOS complex enzymatic activity should be measured with the whole cell lysates obtained from liver cancer cell lines treated with the two compounds. Furthermore, changes in the expression of other mitochondrial components involved in mitochondrial biogenesis and OXPHOS regulation should be observed in whole cell lysates treated with SU6656 and kaempferol compared to the

control cells. Due to the association between increased Fyn and OXPHOS expression, mitochondrial biogenesis and OXPHOS should be further evaluated in additional cell lines with high Fyn expression. Once the correlation between Fyn and OXPHOS expression is identified, cell lines should be treated with SU6656 and kaempferol to determine if these treatments can potentially be used to inhibit cell growth and proliferation and improve mitochondrial function in other cancer types. Fyn was also shown to phosphorylate MRPs (E. C. Koc et al., 2016); therefore, identifying more Fyn targets within mitochondrial energy metabolism will be beneficial to better understand the role of Fyn kinase on mitochondrial OXPHOS. *In vitro* phosphorylation assays should be performed to identify Fyn-specific mitochondrial targets, which can then be altered with site-directed mutagenesis, and transfected into various cell lines with Fyn overexpression to determine the effects of the variants on Fyn activity and mitochondrial energy metabolism. The results from these phosphorylation studies should provide phosphorylation targets for further analyses and investigation.

Although our laboratory has clearly demonstrated the role of mitochondrial dysfunction by impaired OXPHOS expression in T2D and liver cancer, further studies are needed to better understand the involvement of the sequence variants identified in TH mice as well as c-Src and Fyn kinase in the regulation of mitochondrial energy metabolism in T2D and liver cancer, respectively.

REFERENCES

- Acin-Perez, R., Carrascoso, I., Baixauli, F., Roche-Molina, M., Latorre-Pellicer, A., Fernandez-Silva, P., . . . Enriquez, J. A. (2014). ROS-triggered phosphorylation of complex II by Fgr kinase regulates cellular adaptation to fuel use. *Cell Metab*, 19(6), 1020-1033. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2014.04.015
- Akhand, A. A., Pu, M., Senga, T., Kato, M., Suzuki, H., Miyata, T., . . . Nakashima, I. (1999). Nitric oxide controls src kinase activity through a sulfhydryl group modificationmediated Tyr-527-independent and Tyr-416-linked mechanism. *J Biol Chem*, 274(36), 25821-25826.
- Alves, T. C., Befroy, D. E., Kibbey, R. G., Kahn, M., Codella, R., Carvalho, R. A., . . . Shulman, G. I. (2011). Regulation of hepatic fat and glucose oxidation in rats with lipid-induced hepatic insulin resistance. *Hepatology*, 53(4), 1175-1181. doi:10.1002/hep.24170
- Ames, B. N., Atamna, H., & Killilea, D. W. (2005). Mineral and vitamin deficiencies can accelerate the mitochondrial decay of aging. *Mol Aspects Med*, 26(4-5), 363-378. doi:10.1016/j.mam.2005.07.007
- Anderson, S., Bankier, A. T., Barrell, B. G., de Bruijn, M. H., Coulson, A. R., Drouin, J., ... Young, I. G. (1981). Sequence and organization of the human mitochondrial genome. *Nature*, 290(5806), 457-465. doi:10.1038/290457a0
- Anderson, S., de Bruijn, M. H., Coulson, A. R., Eperon, I. C., Sanger, F., & Young, I. G. (1982). Complete sequence of bovine mitochondrial DNA. Conserved features of the mammalian mitochondrial genome. *J Mol Biol*, 156(4), 683-717. doi:10.1016/0022-2836(82)90137-1
- Arachiche, A., Augereau, O., Decossas, M., Pertuiset, C., Gontier, E., Letellier, T., & Dachary-Prigent, J. (2008). Localization of PTP-1B, SHP-2, and Src exclusively in rat brain mitochondria and functional consequences. *J Biol Chem*, 283(36), 24406-24411. doi:10.1074/jbc.M709217200
- Arora, A., & Scholar, E. M. (2005). Role of tyrosine kinase inhibitors in cancer therapy. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 315(3), 971-979. doi:10.1124/jpet.105.084145
- Ashcroft, F. M., & Rorsman, P. (2012). Diabetes mellitus and the beta cell: the last ten years. *Cell*, 148(6), 1160-1171. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2012.02.010
- Ashton, T. M., McKenna, W. G., Kunz-Schughart, L. A., & Higgins, G. S. (2018). Oxidative Phosphorylation as an Emerging Target in Cancer Therapy. *Clin Cancer Res*, 24(11), 2482-2490. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-17-3070
- Augereau, O., Claverol, S., Boudes, N., Basurko, M. J., Bonneu, M., Rossignol, R., . . . Dachary-Prigent, J. (2005). Identification of tyrosine-phosphorylated proteins of the mitochondrial
oxidative phosphorylation machinery. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, *62*(13), 1478-1488. doi:10.1007/s00018-005-5005-7

- Bach, D., Naon, D., Pich, S., Soriano, F. X., Vega, N., Rieusset, J., . . . Zorzano, A. (2005).
 Expression of Mfn2, the Charcot-Marie-Tooth neuropathy type 2A gene, in human skeletal muscle: effects of type 2 diabetes, obesity, weight loss, and the regulatory role of tumor necrosis factor alpha and interleukin-6. *Diabetes*, 54(9), 2685-2693. doi:10.2337/diabetes.54.9.2685
- Bach, D., Pich, S., Soriano, F. X., Vega, N., Baumgartner, B., Oriola, J., . . . Zorzano, A. (2003). Mitofusin-2 determines mitochondrial network architecture and mitochondrial metabolism. A novel regulatory mechanism altered in obesity. *J Biol Chem*, 278(19), 17190-17197. doi:10.1074/jbc.M212754200
- Bains, R. K., Wells, S. E., Flavell, D. M., Fairhall, K. M., Strom, M., Le Tissier, P., & Robinson, I. C. (2004). Visceral obesity without insulin resistance in late-onset obesity rats. *Endocrinology*, 145(6), 2666-2679. doi:10.1210/en.2003-1608
- Barrell, B. G., Bankier, A. T., & Drouin, J. (1979). A different genetic code in human mitochondria. *Nature*, 282(5735), 189-194. doi:10.1038/282189a0
- Bastie, C. C., Zong, H., Xu, J., Busa, B., Judex, S., Kurland, I. J., & Pessin, J. E. (2007).
 Integrative metabolic regulation of peripheral tissue fatty acid oxidation by the SRC kinase family member Fyn. *Cell Metab*, 5(5), 371-381. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2007.04.005
- Baur, J. A. (2010). Resveratrol, sirtuins, and the promise of a DR mimetic. *Mech Ageing Dev*, 131(4), 261-269. doi:10.1016/j.mad.2010.02.007
- Belka, C., Marini, P., Lepple-Wienhues, A., Budach, W., Jekle, A., Los, M., . . . Bamberg, M. (1999). The tyrosine kinase lck is required for CD95-independent caspase-8 activation and apoptosis in response to ionizing radiation. *Oncogene*, 18(35), 4983-4992. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1202878
- Berger, A., Venturelli, S., Kallnischkies, M., Bocker, A., Busch, C., Weiland, T., . . . Bitzer, M. (2013). Kaempferol, a new nutrition-derived pan-inhibitor of human histone deacetylases. *J Nutr Biochem*, 24(6), 977-985. doi:10.1016/j.jnutbio.2012.07.001
- Bhatti, J. S., Bhatti, G. K., & Reddy, P. H. (2017). Mitochondrial dysfunction and oxidative stress in metabolic disorders - A step towards mitochondria based therapeutic strategies. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis, 1863*(5), 1066-1077. doi:10.1016/j.bbadis.2016.11.010
- Bianchi, M. S., Bianchi, N. O., & Bailliet, G. (1995). Mitochondrial DNA mutations in normal and tumor tissues from breast cancer patients. *Cytogenet Cell Genet*, 71(1), 99-103. doi:10.1159/000134072

- Bibb, M. J., Van Etten, R. A., Wright, C. T., Walberg, M. W., & Clayton, D. A. (1981).
 Sequence and gene organization of mouse mitochondrial DNA. *Cell*, 26(2 Pt 2), 167-180. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(81)90300-7
- Birch-Machin, M. A., & Turnbull, D. M. (2001). Assaying mitochondrial respiratory complex activity in mitochondria isolated from human cells and tissues. *Methods Cell Biol*, 65, 97-117.
- Blake, R. A., Broome, M. A., Liu, X., Wu, J., Gishizky, M., Sun, L., & Courtneidge, S. A. (2000). SU6656, a selective src family kinase inhibitor, used to probe growth factor signaling. *Mol Cell Biol*, 20(23), 9018-9027. doi:10.1128/mcb.20.23.9018-9027.2000
- Blume-Jensen, P., & Hunter, T. (2001). Oncogenic kinase signalling. *Nature*, 411(6835), 355-365. doi:10.1038/35077225
- Bo, H., Zhang, Y., & Ji, L. L. (2010). Redefining the role of mitochondria in exercise: a dynamic remodeling. *Ann N Y Acad Sci, 1201*, 121-128. doi:10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05618.x
- Boerner, J. L., Demory, M. L., Silva, C., & Parsons, S. J. (2004). Phosphorylation of Y845 on the epidermal growth factor receptor mediates binding to the mitochondrial protein cytochrome c oxidase subunit II. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24(16), 7059-7071. doi:10.1128/MCB.24.16.7059-7071.2004
- Boggon, T. J., & Eck, M. J. (2004). Structure and regulation of Src family kinases. *Oncogene*, 23(48), 7918-7927. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1208081
- Boschelli, D. H., Wu, B., Barrios Sosa, A. C., Durutlic, H., Ye, F., Raifeld, Y., . . . Boschelli, F. (2004). Identification of 7-phenylaminothieno- [3,2-b]pyridine-6-carbonitriles as a new class of Src kinase inhibitors. *J Med Chem*, 47(27), 6666-6668. doi:10.1021/jm049237m
- Bouret, S., Levin, B. E., & Ozanne, S. E. (2015). Gene-environment interactions controlling energy and glucose homeostasis and the developmental origins of obesity. *Physiol Rev*, 95(1), 47-82. doi:10.1152/physrev.00007.2014
- Brandon, M., Baldi, P., & Wallace, D. C. (2006). Mitochondrial mutations in cancer. *Oncogene*, 25(34), 4647-4662. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1209607
- Bromberg, J. F., Wrzeszczynska, M. H., Devgan, G., Zhao, Y., Pestell, R. G., Albanese, C., & Darnell, J. E., Jr. (1999). Stat3 as an oncogene. *Cell*, *98*(3), 295-303. doi:10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81959-5
- Brown, M. T., & Cooper, J. A. (1996). Regulation, substrates and functions of src. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, *1287*(2-3), 121-149.
- Cai, Y. C., Bullard, J. M., Thompson, N. L., & Spremulli, L. L. (2000a). Interaction of mammalian mitochondrial elongation factor EF-Tu with guanine nucleotides. *Protein Sci*, 9(9), 1791-1800.

- Cai, Y. C., Bullard, J. M., Thompson, N. L., & Spremulli, L. L. (2000b). Interaction of mitochondrial elongation factor Tu with aminoacyl-tRNA and elongation factor Ts. J Biol Chem, 275(27), 20308-20314. doi:10.1074/jbc.M001899200
- Canter, J. A., Kallianpur, A. R., Parl, F. F., & Millikan, R. C. (2005). Mitochondrial DNA G10398A polymorphism and invasive breast cancer in African-American women. *Cancer Res*, 65(17), 8028-8033. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-1428
- Cardone, L., Carlucci, A., Affaitati, A., Livigni, A., DeCristofaro, T., Garbi, C., . . . Feliciello, A. (2004). Mitochondrial AKAP121 binds and targets protein tyrosine phosphatase D1, a novel positive regulator of src signaling. *Mol Cell Biol*, 24(11), 4613-4626. doi:10.1128/MCB.24.11.4613-4626.2004
- Cary, L. A., Chang, J. F., & Guan, J. L. (1996). Stimulation of cell migration by overexpression of focal adhesion kinase and its association with Src and Fyn. *J Cell Sci*, 109 (Pt 7), 1787-1794.
- Catlett-Falcone, R., Landowski, T. H., Oshiro, M. M., Turkson, J., Levitzki, A., Savino, R., . . . Jove, R. (1999). Constitutive activation of Stat3 signaling confers resistance to apoptosis in human U266 myeloma cells. *Immunity*, 10(1), 105-115. doi:10.1016/s1074-7613(00)80011-4
- Cavdar Koc, E., Burkhart, W., Blackburn, K., Moseley, A., & Spremulli, L. L. (2001). The small subunit of the mammalian mitochondrial ribosome. Identification of the full complement of ribosomal proteins present. *J Biol Chem*, 276(22), 19363-19374. doi:10.1074/jbc.M100727200
- Cavdar Koc, E., Ranasinghe, A., Burkhart, W., Blackburn, K., Koc, H., Moseley, A., & Spremulli, L. L. (2001). A new face on apoptosis: death-associated protein 3 and PDCD9 are mitochondrial ribosomal proteins. *FEBS Lett*, 492(1-2), 166-170.
- Chandra, D., & Singh, K. K. (2011). Genetic insights into OXPHOS defect and its role in cancer. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1807(6), 620-625. doi:10.1016/j.bbabio.2010.10.023
- Chang, D. D., & Clayton, D. A. (1984). Precise identification of individual promoters for transcription of each strand of human mitochondrial DNA. *Cell*, *36*(3), 635-643. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(84)90343-x
- Chen, A. Y., & Chen, Y. C. (2013). A review of the dietary flavonoid, kaempferol on human health and cancer chemoprevention. *Food Chem*, *138*(4), 2099-2107. doi:10.1016/j.foodchem.2012.11.139
- Chen, Z., Dempsey, D. R., Thomas, S. N., Hayward, D., Bolduc, D.M., & Cole, P.A. (2016). Molecular features of phosphatase and tensin homolog (PTEN) regulation by C-terminal phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem*, 291(27), 14160-14169. doi:10.1074/jbc.M116.728980

- Chen, H., Chomyn, A., & Chan, D. C. (2005). Disruption of fusion results in mitochondrial heterogeneity and dysfunction. *J Biol Chem*, 280(28), 26185-26192. doi:10.1074/jbc.M503062200
- Chen, Q., Vazquez, E. J., Moghaddas, S., Hoppel, C. L., & Lesnefsky, E. J. (2003). Production of reactive oxygen species by mitochondria: central role of complex III. *J Biol Chem*, 278(38), 36027-36031. doi:10.1074/jbc.M304854200
- Cheng, Z., Guo, S., Copps, K., Dong, X., Kollipara, R., Rodgers, J. T., . . . White, M. F. (2009). Foxo1 integrates insulin signaling with mitochondrial function in the liver. *Nat Med*, *15*(11), 1307-1311. doi:10.1038/nm.2049
- Chihara, T., Luginbuhl, D., & Luo, L. (2007). Cytoplasmic and mitochondrial protein translation in axonal and dendritic terminal arborization. *Nat Neurosci*, *10*(7), 828-837. doi:10.1038/nn1910
- Chinnery, P. F., Samuels, D. C., Elson, J., & Turnbull, D. M. (2002). Accumulation of mitochondrial DNA mutations in ageing, cancer, and mitochondrial disease: is there a common mechanism? *Lancet*, 360(9342), 1323-1325. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(02)11310-9
- Chow, L., From, A., & Seaquist, E. (2010). Skeletal muscle insulin resistance: the interplay of local lipid excess and mitochondrial dysfunction. *Metabolism*, 59(1), 70-85. doi:10.1016/j.metabol.2009.07.009
- Christian, B. E., & Spremulli, L. L. (2012). Mechanism of protein biosynthesis in mammalian mitochondria. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, *1819*(9-10), 1035-1054. doi:10.1016/j.bbagrm.2011.11.009
- Chrzanowska-Lightowlers, Z. M., Pajak, A., & Lightowlers, R. N. (2011). Termination of protein synthesis in mammalian mitochondria. *J Biol Chem*, 286(40), 34479-34485. doi:10.1074/jbc.R111.290585
- Cimen, H., Han, M. J., Yang, Y., Tong, Q., Koc, H., & Koc, E. C. (2010). Regulation of succinate dehydrogenase activity by SIRT3 in mammalian mitochondria. *Biochemistry*, 49(2), 304-311. doi:10.1021/bi901627u
- Cohen, G. B., Ren, R., & Baltimore, D. (1995). Modular binding domains in signal transduction proteins. *Cell*, 80(2), 237-248. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(95)90406-9
- Collett, M. S., & Erikson, R. L. (1978). Protein kinase activity associated with the avian sarcoma virus src gene product. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 75(4), 2021-2024. doi:10.1073/pnas.75.4.2021
- Copeland, W. C., Wachsman, J. T., Johnson, F. M., & Penta, J. S. (2002). Mitochondrial DNA alterations in cancer. *Cancer Invest*, 20(4), 557-569. doi:10.1081/cnv-120002155

- Cruz-Bermudez, A., Vallejo, C. G., Vicente-Blanco, R. J., Gallardo, M. E., Fernandez-Moreno, M. A., Quintanilla, M., & Garesse, R. (2015). Enhanced tumorigenicity by mitochondrial DNA mild mutations. *Oncotarget*, 6(15), 13628-13643. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.3698
- Cunningham, J. T., Rodgers, J. T., Arlow, D. H., Vazquez, F., Mootha, V. K., & Puigserver, P. (2007). mTOR controls mitochondrial oxidative function through a YY1-PGC-1alpha transcriptional complex. *Nature*, *450*(7170), 736-740. doi:10.1038/nature06322
- Czernilofsky, A. P., Levinson, A. D., Varmus, H. E., Bishop, J. M., Tischer, E., & Goodman, H. M. (1980). Nucleotide sequence of an avian sarcoma virus oncogene (src) and proposed amino acid sequence for gene product. *Nature*, 287(5779), 198-203. doi:10.1038/287198a0
- D'Souza, A. R., & Minczuk, M. (2018). Mitochondrial transcription and translation: overview. *Essays Biochem*, 62(3), 309-320. doi:10.1042/EBC20170102
- Daher, S., Massarwa, M., Benson, A. A., & Khoury, T. (2018). Current and Future Treatment of Hepatocellular Carcinoma: An Updated Comprehensive Review. J Clin Transl Hepatol, 6(1), 69-78. doi:10.14218/JCTH.2017.00031
- Dai, Z., Quackenbush, R. C., Courtney, K. D., Grove, M., Cortez, D., Reuther, G. W., & Pendergast, A. M. (1998). Oncogenic Abl and Src tyrosine kinases elicit the ubiquitindependent degradation of target proteins through a Ras-independent pathway. *Genes Dev*, 12(10), 1415-1424. doi:10.1101/gad.12.10.1415
- Dalle-Donne, I., Rossi, R., Colombo, R., Giustarini, D., & Milzani, A. (2006). Biomarkers of oxidative damage in human disease. *Clin Chem*, 52(4), 601-623. doi:10.1373/clinchem.2005.061408
- Dasgupta, S., Soudry, E., Mukhopadhyay, N., Shao, C., Yee, J., Lam, S., . . . Sidransky, D. (2012). Mitochondrial DNA mutations in respiratory complex-I in never-smoker lung cancer patients contribute to lung cancer progression and associated with EGFR gene mutation. J Cell Physiol, 227(6), 2451-2460. doi:10.1002/jcp.22980
- de Boer, I. H., Rue, T. C., Hall, Y. N., Heagerty, P. J., Weiss, N. S., & Himmelfarb, J. (2011). Temporal trends in the prevalence of diabetic kidney disease in the United States. *JAMA*, 305(24), 2532-2539. doi:10.1001/jama.2011.861
- De Meyts, P. (2000). The Insulin Receptor and Its Signal Transduction Network. In K. R. Feingold, B. Anawalt, A. Boyce, G. Chrousos, K. Dungan, A. Grossman, J. M. Hershman, G. Kaltsas, C. Koch, P. Kopp, M. Korbonits, R. McLachlan, J. E. Morley, M. New, L. Perreault, J. Purnell, R. Rebar, F. Singer, D. L. Trence, A. Vinik, & D. P. Wilson (Eds.), *Endotext*. South Dartmouth (MA).

- Delmas, D., Jannin, B., Cherkaoui Malki, M., & Latruffe, N. (2000). Inhibitory effect of resveratrol on the proliferation of human and rat hepatic derived cell lines. *Oncol Rep*, 7(4), 847-852.
- Demory, M. L., Boerner, J. L., Davidson, R., Faust, W., Miyake, T., Lee, I., . . . Parsons, S. J. (2009). Epidermal growth factor receptor translocation to the mitochondria: regulation and effect. J Biol Chem, 284(52), 36592-36604. doi:10.1074/jbc.M109.000760
- Denvir, J., Boskovic, G., Fan, J., Primerano, D. A., Parkman, J. K., & Kim, J. H. (2016). Whole genome sequence analysis of the TALLYHO/Jng mouse. *BMC Genomics*, 17(1), 907. doi:10.1186/s12864-016-3245-6
- Dhalla, N. S., Temsah, R. M., & Netticadan, T. (2000). Role of oxidative stress in cardiovascular diseases. J Hypertens, 18(6), 655-673. doi:10.1097/00004872-200018060-00002
- Diaz, F., Fukui, H., Garcia, S., & Moraes, C. T. (2006). Cytochrome c oxidase is required for the assembly/stability of respiratory complex I in mouse fibroblasts. *Mol Cell Biol*, 26(13), 4872-4881. doi:10.1128/MCB.01767-05
- Djeungoue-Petga, M. A., Lurette, O., Jean, S., Hamel-Cote, G., Martin-Jimenez, R., Bou, M., . . . Hebert-Chatelain, E. (2019). Intramitochondrial Src kinase links mitochondrial dysfunctions and aggressiveness of breast cancer cells. *Cell Death Dis*, *10*(12), 940. doi:10.1038/s41419-019-2134-8
- Du, C., Zhang, C., Hassan, S., Biswas, M. H., & Balaji, K. C. (2010). Protein kinase D1 suppresses epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition through phosphorylation of snail. *Cancer Res*, 70(20), 7810-7819. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-09-4481
- Duchen, M. R. (2004). Roles of mitochondria in health and disease. *Diabetes, 53 Suppl 1*, S96-102. doi:10.2337/diabetes.53.2007.s96
- El-Serag, H. B., & Rudolph, K. L. (2007). Hepatocellular carcinoma: epidemiology and molecular carcinogenesis. *Gastroenterology*, 132(7), 2557-2576. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2007.04.061
- El-Serag, H. B., Tran, T., & Everhart, J. E. (2004). Diabetes increases the risk of chronic liver disease and hepatocellular carcinoma. *Gastroenterology*, *126*(2), 460-468.
- Elias, D., & Ditzel, H. J. (2015). Fyn is an important molecule in cancer pathogenesis and drug resistance. *Pharmacol Res, 100*, 250-254. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2015.08.010
- Elias, D., Vever, H., Laenkholm, A. V., Gjerstorff, M. F., Yde, C. W., Lykkesfeldt, A. E., & Ditzel, H. J. (2015). Gene expression profiling identifies FYN as an important molecule in tamoxifen resistance and a predictor of early recurrence in patients treated with endocrine therapy. *Oncogene*, 34(15), 1919-1927. doi:10.1038/onc.2014.138

- Elsberger, B. (2014). Translational evidence on the role of Src kinase and activated Src kinase in invasive breast cancer. *Crit Rev Oncol Hematol*, *89*(3), 343-351. doi:10.1016/j.critrevonc.2013.12.009
- Esterhuizen, K., Lindeque, J. Z., Mason, S., van der Westhuizen, F. H., Suomalainen, A., Hakonen, A. H., . . . Louw, R. (2019). A urinary biosignature for mitochondrial myopathy, encephalopathy, lactic acidosis and stroke like episodes (MELAS). *Mitochondrion*, 45, 38-45. doi:10.1016/j.mito.2018.02.003
- Ferri, D., Moro, L., Mastrodonato, M., Capuano, F., Marra, E., Liquori, G. E., & Greco, M. (2005). Ultrastructural zonal heterogeneity of hepatocytes and mitochondria within the hepatic acinus during liver regeneration after partial hepatectomy. *Biol Cell*, 97(4), 277-288. doi:10.1042/BC20040154
- Fex, M., Nicholas, L. M., Vishnu, N., Medina, A., Sharoyko, V. V., Nicholls, D. G., . . . Mulder, H. (2018). The pathogenetic role of beta-cell mitochondria in type 2 diabetes. J Endocrinol, 236(3), R145-R159. doi:10.1530/JOE-17-0367
- Finkel, T., & Holbrook, N. J. (2000). Oxidants, oxidative stress and the biology of ageing. *Nature, 408*(6809), 239-247. doi:10.1038/35041687
- Finn, R. S., Aleshin, A., Dering, J., Yang, P., Ginther, C., Desai, A., . . . Slamon, D. J. (2013). Molecular subtype and response to dasatinib, an Src/Abl small molecule kinase inhibitor, in hepatocellular carcinoma cell lines in vitro. *Hepatology*, 57(5), 1838-1846. doi:10.1002/hep.26223
- Fisher, R. P., Lisowsky, T., Parisi, M. A., & Clayton, D. A. (1992). DNA wrapping and bending by a mitochondrial high mobility group-like transcriptional activator protein. *J Biol Chem*, 267(5), 3358-3367.
- Fleming, R. Y., Ellis, L. M., Parikh, N. U., Liu, W., Staley, C. A., & Gallick, G. E. (1997). Regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor expression in human colon carcinoma cells by activity of src kinase. *Surgery*, *122*(2), 501-507. doi:10.1016/s0039-6060(97)90044-1
- Frame, M. C. (2004). Newest findings on the oldest oncogene; how activated src does it. *J Cell Sci, 117*(Pt 7), 989-998. doi:10.1242/jcs.01111
- Franko, A., Neschen, S., Rozman, J., Rathkolb, B., Aichler, M., Feuchtinger, A., . . . Hrabe de Angelis, M. (2017). Bezafibrate ameliorates diabetes via reduced steatosis and improved hepatic insulin sensitivity in diabetic TallyHo mice. *Mol Metab*, 6(3), 256-266. doi:10.1016/j.molmet.2016.12.007
- Frezza, C., Zheng, L., Folger, O., Rajagopalan, K. N., MacKenzie, E. D., Jerby, L., . . . Gottlieb, E. (2011). Haem oxygenase is synthetically lethal with the tumour suppressor fumarate hydratase. *Nature*, 477(7363), 225-228. doi:10.1038/nature10363

- Garcia-Escudero, V., Martin-Maestro, P., Perry, G., & Avila, J. (2013). Deconstructing mitochondrial dysfunction in Alzheimer disease. Oxid Med Cell Longev, 2013, 162152. doi:10.1155/2013/162152
- Gaude, E., & Frezza, C. (2014). Defects in mitochondrial metabolism and cancer. *Cancer Metab*, 2, 10. doi:10.1186/2049-3002-2-10
- Gaude, E., & Frezza, C. (2016). Tissue-specific and convergent metabolic transformation of cancer correlates with metastatic potential and patient survival. *Nat Commun*, *7*, 13041. doi:10.1038/ncomms13041
- Giannoni, E., Buricchi, F., Raugei, G., Ramponi, G., & Chiarugi, P. (2005). Intracellular reactive oxygen species activate Src tyrosine kinase during cell adhesion and anchoragedependent cell growth. *Mol Cell Biol*, 25(15), 6391-6403. doi:10.1128/MCB.25.15.6391-6403.2005
- Giannoni, E., & Chiarugi, P. (2014). Redox circuitries driving Src regulation. *Antioxid Redox* Signal, 20(13), 2011-2025. doi:10.1089/ars.2013.5525
- Giannoni, E., Taddei, M. L., & Chiarugi, P. (2010). Src redox regulation: again in the front line. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 49(4), 516-527. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2010.04.025
- Gogvadze, V., Zhivotovsky, B., & Orrenius, S. (2010). The Warburg effect and mitochondrial stability in cancer cells. *Mol Aspects Med*, *31*(1), 60-74. doi:10.1016/j.mam.2009.12.004
- Grarup, N., Sandholt, C. H., Hansen, T., & Pedersen, O. (2014). Genetic susceptibility to type 2 diabetes and obesity: from genome-wide association studies to rare variants and beyond. *Diabetologia*, *57*(8), 1528-1541. doi:10.1007/s00125-014-3270-4
- Gray, M. W. (2012). Mitochondrial evolution. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol*, 4(9), a011403. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a011403
- Gray, M. W., Burger, G., & Lang, B. F. (1999). Mitochondrial evolution. *Science*, 283(5407), 1476-1481. doi:10.1126/science.283.5407.1476
- Greene, N. P., Nilsson, M. I., Washington, T. A., Lee, D. E., Brown, L. A., Papineau, A. M., . . . Fluckey, J. D. (2014). Impaired exercise-induced mitochondrial biogenesis in the obese Zucker rat, despite PGC-1alpha induction, is due to compromised mitochondrial translation elongation. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab*, 306(5), E503-511. doi:10.1152/ajpendo.00671.2013
- Guan, K. L., & Xiong, Y. (2011). Regulation of intermediary metabolism by protein acetylation. *Trends Biochem Sci*, *36*(2), 108-116. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2010.09.003
- Guenebaut, V., Vincentelli, R., Mills, D., Weiss, H., & Leonard, K. R. (1997). Threedimensional structure of NADH-dehydrogenase from Neurospora crassa by electron

microscopy and conical tilt reconstruction. *J Mol Biol*, 265(4), 409-418. doi:10.1006/jmbi.1996.0753

- Guo, H., Ren, F., Zhang, L., Zhang, X., Yang, R., Xie, B., . . . Zhang, J. (2016). Kaempferol induces apoptosis in HepG2 cells via activation of the endoplasmic reticulum stress pathway. *Mol Med Rep*, *13*(3), 2791-2800. doi:10.3892/mmr.2016.4845
- Guo, J., Zheng, L., Liu, W., Wang, X., Wang, Z., Wang, Z., . . . Liu, W. (2011). Frequent truncating mutation of TFAM induces mitochondrial DNA depletion and apoptotic resistance in microsatellite-unstable colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res*, 71(8), 2978-2987. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-10-3482
- Halliwell, B. (2006). Reactive species and antioxidants. Redox biology is a fundamental theme of aerobic life. *Plant Physiol*, *141*(2), 312-322. doi:10.1104/pp.106.077073
- Han, B., Izumi, H., Yasuniwa, Y., Akiyama, M., Yamaguchi, T., Fujimoto, N., ... Kohno, K. (2011). Human mitochondrial transcription factor A functions in both nuclei and mitochondria and regulates cancer cell growth. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 408(1), 45-51. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2011.03.114
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2011). Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell*, *144*(5), 646-674. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013
- Hanke, J. H., Gardner, J. P., Dow, R. L., Changelian, P. S., Brissette, W. H., Weringer, E. J., ... Connelly, P. A. (1996). Discovery of a novel, potent, and Src family-selective tyrosine kinase inhibitor. Study of Lck- and FynT-dependent T cell activation. *J Biol Chem*, 271(2), 695-701. doi:10.1074/jbc.271.2.695
- Haohao, Z., Guijun, Q., Juan, Z., Wen, K., & Lulu, C. (2015). Resveratrol improves high-fat diet induced insulin resistance by rebalancing subsarcolemmal mitochondrial oxidation and antioxidantion. *J Physiol Biochem*, 71(1), 121-131. doi:10.1007/s13105-015-0392-1
- Hassanein, T., & Frederick, T. (2004). Mitochondrial dysfunction in liver disease and organ transplantation. *Mitochondrion*, 4(5-6), 609-620. doi:10.1016/j.mito.2004.07.015
- Haythorne, E., Rohm, M., van de Bunt, M., Brereton, M. F., Tarasov, A. I., Blacker, T. S., . . . Ashcroft, F. M. (2019). Diabetes causes marked inhibition of mitochondrial metabolism in pancreatic beta-cells. *Nat Commun*, *10*(1), 2474. doi:10.1038/s41467-019-10189-x
- Hebert-Chatelain, E. (2013). Src kinases are important regulators of mitochondrial functions. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 45(1), 90-98. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2012.08.014
- Hebert-Chatelain, E., Jose, C., Gutierrez Cortes, N., Dupuy, J. W., Rocher, C., Dachary-Prigent, J., & Letellier, T. (2012). Preservation of NADH ubiquinone-oxidoreductase activity by Src kinase-mediated phosphorylation of NDUFB10. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1817(5), 718-725. doi:10.1016/j.bbabio.2012.01.014

- Hebert Chatelain, E., Dupuy, J. W., Letellier, T., & Dachary-Prigent, J. (2011). Functional impact of PTP1B-mediated Src regulation on oxidative phosphorylation in rat brain mitochondria. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 68(15), 2603-2613. doi:10.1007/s00018-010-0573-6
- Heilbronn, L. K., Gan, S. K., Turner, N., Campbell, L. V., & Chisholm, D. J. (2007). Markers of mitochondrial biogenesis and metabolism are lower in overweight and obese insulinresistant subjects. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 92(4), 1467-1473. doi:10.1210/jc.2006-2210
- Heinonen, S., Buzkova, J., Muniandy, M., Kaksonen, R., Ollikainen, M., Ismail, K., . . . Pietilainen, K. H. (2015). Impaired Mitochondrial Biogenesis in Adipose Tissue in Acquired Obesity. *Diabetes*, 64(9), 3135-3145. doi:10.2337/db14-1937
- Helm, M., Brule, H., Friede, D., Giege, R., Putz, D., & Florentz, C. (2000). Search for characteristic structural features of mammalian mitochondrial tRNAs. *RNA*, 6(10), 1356-1379. doi:10.1017/s1355838200001047
- Hennequin, L. F., Allen, J., Breed, J., Curwen, J., Fennell, M., Green, T. P., . . . Costello, G. (2006). N-(5-chloro-1,3-benzodioxol-4-yl)-7-[2-(4-methylpiperazin-1-yl)ethoxy]-5- (tetrahydro-2H-pyran-4-yloxy)quinazolin-4-amine, a novel, highly selective, orally available, dual-specific c-Src/Abl kinase inhibitor. *J Med Chem*, 49(22), 6465-6488. doi:10.1021/jm060434q
- Henquin, J. C. (2000). Triggering and amplifying pathways of regulation of insulin secretion by glucose. *Diabetes*, 49(11), 1751-1760. doi:10.2337/diabetes.49.11.1751
- Hofer, A., & Wenz, T. (2014). Post-translational modification of mitochondria as a novel mode of regulation. *Exp Gerontol*, *56*, 202-220. doi:10.1016/j.exger.2014.03.006
- Horton, T. M., Petros, J. A., Heddi, A., Shoffner, J., Kaufman, A. E., Graham, S. D., Jr., . . . Wallace, D. C. (1996). Novel mitochondrial DNA deletion found in a renal cell carcinoma. *Genes Chromosomes Cancer*, 15(2), 95-101. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1098-2264(199602)15:2<95::AID-GCC3>3.0.CO;2-Z
- Hou, J., Li, Z., Zhong, W., Hao, Q., Lei, L., Wang, L., . . . Xu, T. (2017). Temporal Transcriptomic and Proteomic Landscapes of Deteriorating Pancreatic Islets in Type 2 Diabetic Rats. *Diabetes*, 66(8), 2188-2200. doi:10.2337/db16-1305
- Hsu, C. C., Lee, H. C., & Wei, Y. H. (2013). Mitochondrial DNA alterations and mitochondrial dysfunction in the progression of hepatocellular carcinoma. *World J Gastroenterol*, 19(47), 8880-8886. doi:10.3748/wjg.v19.i47.8880
- Huang, W. S., Metcalf, C. A., Sundaramoorthi, R., Wang, Y., Zou, D., Thomas, R. M., . . . Shakespeare, W. C. (2010). Discovery of 3-[2-(imidazo[1,2-b]pyridazin-3-yl)ethynyl]-4methyl-N-{4-[(4-methylpiperazin-1-y l)methyl]-3-(trifluoromethyl)phenyl}benzamide (AP24534), a potent, orally active pan-inhibitor of breakpoint cluster region-abelson

(BCR-ABL) kinase including the T315I gatekeeper mutant. *J Med Chem*, 53(12), 4701-4719. doi:10.1021/jm100395q

- Huang, Y. B., Lin, M. W., Chao, Y., Huang, C. T., Tsai, Y. H., & Wu, P. C. (2014). Anti-oxidant activity and attenuation of bladder hyperactivity by the flavonoid compound kaempferol. *Int J Urol*, 21(1), 94-98. doi:10.1111/jju.12179
- Hunter, C. A., Kartal, F., Koc, Z. C., Murphy, T., Kim, J. H., Denvir, J., & Koc, E. C. (2019). Mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation is impaired in TALLYHO mice, a new obesity and type 2 diabetes animal model. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, *116*, 105616. doi:10.1016/j.biocel.2019.105616
- Hunter, C. A., Koc, H., & Koc, E. C. (2020). c-Src kinase impairs the expression of mitochodnrial OXPHOS complexes in liver cancer. *Cell Signal*, 72, 109651. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2020.109651
- Hunter, T. (1987). A tail of two src's: mutatis mutandis. *Cell*, 49(1), 1-4. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(87)90745-8
- Hur, Y. G., Yun, Y., & Won, J. (2004). Rosmarinic acid induces p56lck-dependent apoptosis in Jurkat and peripheral T cells via mitochondrial pathway independent from Fas/Fas ligand interaction. J Immunol, 172(1), 79-87. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.1.79
- Huse, M., & Kuriyan, J. (2002). The conformational plasticity of protein kinases. *Cell*, 109(3), 275-282. doi:10.1016/s0092-8674(02)00741-9
- Iommarini, L., Ghelli, A., Gasparre, G., & Porcelli, A. M. (2017). Mitochondrial metabolism and energy sensing in tumor progression. *Biochim Biophys Acta Bioenerg*, 1858(8), 582-590. doi:10.1016/j.bbabio.2017.02.006
- Iommarini, L., Kurelac, I., Capristo, M., Calvaruso, M. A., Giorgio, V., Bergamini, C., . . . Porcelli, A. M. (2014). Different mtDNA mutations modify tumor progression in dependence of the degree of respiratory complex I impairment. *Hum Mol Genet*, 23(6), 1453-1466. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddt533
- Irby, R. B., & Yeatman, T. J. (2000). Role of Src expression and activation in human cancer. *Oncogene*, 19(49), 5636-5642. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1203912
- Irby, R. B., & Yeatman, T. J. (2002). Increased Src activity disrupts cadherin/catenin-mediated homotypic adhesion in human colon cancer and transformed rodent cells. *Cancer Res*, 62(9), 2669-2674.
- Ishii, T., Yasuda, K., Akatsuka, A., Hino, O., Hartman, P. S., & Ishii, N. (2005). A mutation in the SDHC gene of complex II increases oxidative stress, resulting in apoptosis and tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res*, 65(1), 203-209.

- Ishikawa, K., Takenaga, K., Akimoto, M., Koshikawa, N., Yamaguchi, A., Imanishi, H., . . . Hayashi, J. (2008). ROS-generating mitochondrial DNA mutations can regulate tumor cell metastasis. *Science*, 320(5876), 661-664. doi:10.1126/science.1156906
- Itoh, S., Lemay, S., Osawa, M., Che, W., Duan, Y., Tompkins, A., . . . Abe, J. (2005). Mitochondrial Dok-4 recruits Src kinase and regulates NF-kappaB activation in endothelial cells. J Biol Chem, 280(28), 26383-26396. doi:10.1074/jbc.M410262200
- Janeway, K. A., Kim, S. Y., Lodish, M., Nose, V., Rustin, P., Gaal, J., . . . Stratakis, C. A. (2011). Defects in succinate dehydrogenase in gastrointestinal stromal tumors lacking KIT and PDGFRA mutations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108(1), 314-318. doi:10.1073/pnas.1009199108
- Jang, M., Cai, L., Udeani, G. O., Slowing, K. V., Thomas, C. F., Beecher, C. W., ... Pezzuto, J. M. (1997). Cancer chemopreventive activity of resveratrol, a natural product derived from grapes. *Science*, 275(5297), 218-220.
- Jin, L., Chun, J., Pan, C., Alesi, G. N., Li, D., Magliocca, K. R., . . . Kang, S. (2017). Phosphorylation-mediated activation of LDHA promotes cancer cell invasion and tumour metastasis. *Oncogene*, 36(27), 3797-3806. doi:10.1038/onc.2017.6
- Jin, Y., Cai, Q., Shenoy, A. K., Lim, S., Zhang, Y., Charles, S., . . . Lu, J. (2016). Src drives the Warburg effect and therapy resistance by inactivating pyruvate dehydrogenase through tyrosine-289 phosphorylation. *Oncotarget*, 7(18), 25113-25124. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.7159
- Joseph, A. M., Joanisse, D. R., Baillot, R. G., & Hood, D. A. (2012). Mitochondrial dysregulation in the pathogenesis of diabetes: potential for mitochondrial biogenesismediated interventions. *Exp Diabetes Res, 2012*, 642038. doi:10.1155/2012/642038
- Kami, K., Fujita, Y., Igarashi, S., Koike, S., Sugawara, S., Ikeda, S., . . . Soga, T. (2012). Metabolomic profiling rationalized pyruvate efficacy in cybrid cells harboring MELAS mitochondrial DNA mutations. *Mitochondrion*, 12(6), 644-653. doi:10.1016/j.mito.2012.07.113
- Kaplan, J. M., Mardon, G., Bishop, J. M., & Varmus, H. E. (1988). The first seven amino acids encoded by the v-src oncogene act as a myristylation signal: lysine 7 is a critical determinant. *Mol Cell Biol*, 8(6), 2435-2441. doi:10.1128/mcb.8.6.2435
- Karni, R., Jove, R., & Levitzki, A. (1999). Inhibition of pp60c-Src reduces Bcl-XL expression and reverses the transformed phenotype of cells overexpressing EGF and HER-2 receptors. *Oncogene*, 18(33), 4654-4662. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1202835
- Kasamatsu, H., & Vinograd, J. (1974). Replication of circular DNA in eukaryotic cells. *Annu Rev Biochem, 43*(0), 695-719. doi:10.1146/annurev.bi.43.070174.003403

- Kaushal, P. S., Sharma, M. R., Booth, T. M., Haque, E. M., Tung, C. S., Sanbonmatsu, K. Y., . . . Agrawal, R. K. (2014). Cryo-EM structure of the small subunit of the mammalian mitochondrial ribosome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *111*(20), 7284-7289. doi:10.1073/pnas.1401657111
- Kelley, D. E., He, J., Menshikova, E. V., & Ritov, V. B. (2002). Dysfunction of mitochondria in human skeletal muscle in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes*, *51*(10), 2944-2950.
- Kim, H. J., & Winge, D. R. (2013). Emerging concepts in the flavinylation of succinate dehydrogenase. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1827(5), 627-636. doi:10.1016/j.bbabio.2013.01.012
- Kim, J. A., Wei, Y., & Sowers, J. R. (2008). Role of mitochondrial dysfunction in insulin resistance. *Circ Res*, 102(4), 401-414. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.107.165472
- Kim, J. H., & Saxton, A. M. (2012). The TALLYHO mouse as a model of human type 2 diabetes. *Methods Mol Biol*, 933, 75-87. doi:10.1007/978-1-62703-068-7_6
- Kim, J. H., Sen, S., Avery, C. S., Simpson, E., Chandler, P., Nishina, P. M., . . . Naggert, J. K. (2001). Genetic analysis of a new mouse model for non-insulin-dependent diabetes. *Genomics*, 74(3), 273-286. doi:10.1006/geno.2001.6569
- Kim, J. H., Stewart, T. P., Soltani-Bejnood, M., Wang, L., Fortuna, J. M., Mostafa, O. A., . . . Naggert, J. K. (2006). Phenotypic characterization of polygenic type 2 diabetes in TALLYHO/JngJ mice. *J Endocrinol*, 191(2), 437-446. doi:10.1677/joe.1.06647
- Kim, J. H., Stewart, T. P., Zhang, W., Kim, H. Y., Nishina, P. M., & Naggert, J. K. (2005). Type 2 diabetes mouse model TallyHo carries an obesity gene on chromosome 6 that exaggerates dietary obesity. *Physiol Genomics*, 22(2), 171-181. doi:10.1152/physiolgenomics.00197.2004
- Kim, L. C., Song, L., & Haura, E. B. (2009). Src kinases as therapeutic targets for cancer. Nat Rev Clin Oncol, 6(10), 587-595. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2009.129
- Kim, M. P., Park, S. I., Kopetz, S., & Gallick, G. E. (2009). Src family kinases as mediators of endothelial permeability: effects on inflammation and metastasis. *Cell Tissue Res*, 335(1), 249-259. doi:10.1007/s00441-008-0682-9
- Klaunig, J. E., & Kamendulis, L. M. (2004). The role of oxidative stress in carcinogenesis. *Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol*, 44, 239-267. doi:10.1146/annurev.pharmtox.44.101802.121851
- Koc, E. C., Burkhart, W., Blackburn, K., Koc, H., Moseley, A., & Spremulli, L. L. (2001). Identification of four proteins from the small subunit of the mammalian mitochondrial ribosome using a proteomics approach. *Protein Sci*, 10(3), 471-481. doi:10.1110/ps.35301

- Koc, E. C., Burkhart, W., Blackburn, K., Moyer, M. B., Schlatzer, D. M., Moseley, A., & Spremulli, L. L. (2001). The large subunit of the mammalian mitochondrial ribosome. Analysis of the complement of ribosomal proteins present. *J Biol Chem*, 276(47), 43958-43969. doi:10.1074/jbc.M106510200
- Koc, E. C., Cimen, H., Kumcuoglu, B., Abu, N., Akpinar, G., Haque, M. E., . . . Koc, H. (2013). Identification and characterization of CHCHD1, AURKAIP1, and CRIF1 as new members of the mammalian mitochondrial ribosome. *Front Physiol*, *4*, 183. doi:10.3389/fphys.2013.00183
- Koc, E. C., Haciosmanoglu, E., Claudio, P. P., Wolf, A., Califano, L., Friscia, M., . . . Koc, H. (2015). Impaired mitochondrial protein synthesis in head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. *Mitochondrion*, 24, 113-121. doi:10.1016/j.mito.2015.07.123
- Koc, E. C., & Koc, H. (2012). Regulation of mammalian mitochondrial translation by posttranslational modifications. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1819(9-10), 1055-1066. doi:10.1016/j.bbagrm.2012.03.003
- Koc, E. C., Miller-Lee, J. L., & Koc, H. (2016). Fyn kinase regulates translation in mammalian mitochondria. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1861(3), 533-540. doi:10.1016/j.bbagen.2016.12.004
- Koc, E. C., & Spremulli, L. L. (2002). Identification of mammalian mitochondrial translational initiation factor 3 and examination of its role in initiation complex formation with natural mRNAs. J Biol Chem, 277(38), 35541-35549. doi:10.1074/jbc.M202498200
- Koc, E. H., ME; Spremulli, LL. (2010). Current Views of the Structure of the Mammalian Mitochondrial Ribosome Israel Journal of Chemistry, 50, 45-59. doi:DOI: 10.1002/ijch.201000002
- Kocsis, Z., Marcsek, Z. L., Jakab, M. G., Szende, B., & Tompa, A. (2005). Chemopreventive properties of trans-resveratrol against the cytotoxicity of chloroacetanilide herbicides in vitro. *Int J Hyg Environ Health*, 208(3), 211-218. doi:10.1016/j.ijheh.2005.01.021
- Krasnowska, E. K., Pittaluga, E., Brunati, A. M., Brunelli, R., Costa, G., De Spirito, M., . . . Parasassi, T. (2008). N-acetyl-l-cysteine fosters inactivation and transfer to endolysosomes of c-Src. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 45(11), 1566-1572. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2008.09.012
- Kulawiec, M., Safina, A., Desouki, M. M., Still, I., Matsui, S., Bakin, A., & Singh, K. K. (2008). Tumorigenic transformation of human breast epithelial cells induced by mitochondrial DNA depletion. *Cancer Biol Ther*, 7(11), 1732-1743. doi:10.4161/cbt.7.11.6729
- Kumar, M., Zhao, X., & Wang, X. W. (2011). Molecular carcinogenesis of hepatocellular carcinoma and intrahepatic cholangiocarcinoma: one step closer to personalized medicine? *Cell Biosci*, 1(1), 5. doi:10.1186/2045-3701-1-5

- Lagouge, M., Argmann, C., Gerhart-Hines, Z., Meziane, H., Lerin, C., Daussin, F., ... Auwerx, J. (2006). Resveratrol improves mitochondrial function and protects against metabolic disease by activating SIRT1 and PGC-1alpha. *Cell*, 127(6), 1109-1122.
- Lane, N., & Martin, W. (2010). The energetics of genome complexity. *Nature*, 467(7318), 929-934. doi:10.1038/nature09486
- Larman, T. C., DePalma, S. R., Hadjipanayis, A. G., Cancer Genome Atlas Research, N., Protopopov, A., Zhang, J., . . . Seidman, J. G. (2012). Spectrum of somatic mitochondrial mutations in five cancers. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 109(35), 14087-14091. doi:10.1073/pnas.1211502109
- Larsson, N. G., Wang, J., Wilhelmsson, H., Oldfors, A., Rustin, P., Lewandoski, M., . . . Clayton, D. A. (1998). Mitochondrial transcription factor A is necessary for mtDNA maintenance and embryogenesis in mice. *Nat Genet*, 18(3), 231-236. doi:10.1038/ng0398-231
- Lau, G. M., Lau, G. M., Yu, G. L., Gelman, I. H., Gutowski, A., Hangauer, D., & Fang, J. W. (2009). Expression of Src and FAK in hepatocellular carcinoma and the effect of Src inhibitors on hepatocellular carcinoma in vitro. *Dig Dis Sci*, 54(7), 1465-1474. doi:10.1007/s10620-008-0519-0
- Lee, F. Y., Li, Y., Zhu, H., Yang, S., Lin, H. Z., Trush, M., & Diehl, A. M. (1999). Tumor necrosis factor increases mitochondrial oxidant production and induces expression of uncoupling protein-2 in the regenerating mice [correction of rat] liver. *Hepatology*, 29(3), 677-687. doi:10.1002/hep.510290320
- Lee, K. M., Lee, K. W., Jung, S. K., Lee, E. J., Heo, Y. S., Bode, A. M., . . . Dong, Z. (2010). Kaempferol inhibits UVB-induced COX-2 expression by suppressing Src kinase activity. *Biochem Pharmacol*, 80(12), 2042-2049. doi:10.1016/j.bcp.2010.06.042
- Lee, T. W., Kwon, H., Zong, H., Yamada, E., Vatish, M., Pessin, J. E., & Bastie, C. C. (2013). Fyn deficiency promotes a preferential increase in subcutaneous adipose tissue mass and decreased visceral adipose tissue inflammation. *Diabetes*, 62(5), 1537-1546. doi:10.2337/db12-0920
- Lehtonen, R., Kiuru, M., Vanharanta, S., Sjoberg, J., Aaltonen, L. M., Aittomaki, K., . . . Aaltonen, L. A. (2004). Biallelic inactivation of fumarate hydratase (FH) occurs in nonsyndromic uterine leiomyomas but is rare in other tumors. *Am J Pathol*, 164(1), 17-22. doi:10.1016/S0002-9440(10)63091-X
- Levinson, A. D., Oppermann, H., Levintow, L., Varmus, H. E., & Bishop, J. M. (1978). Evidence that the transforming gene of avian sarcoma virus encodes a protein kinase associated with a phosphoprotein. *Cell*, 15(2), 561-572. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(78)90024-7

- Lewandrowski, U., Sickmann, A., Cesaro, L., Brunati, A. M., Toninello, A., & Salvi, M. (2008). Identification of new tyrosine phosphorylated proteins in rat brain mitochondria. *FEBS Lett*, 582(7), 1104-1110. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2008.02.077
- Liao, P. C., Ng, L. T., Lin, L. T., Richardson, C. D., Wang, G. H., & Lin, C. C. (2010). Resveratrol arrests cell cycle and induces apoptosis in human hepatocellular carcinoma Huh-7 cells. *J Med Food*, *13*(6), 1415-1423. doi:10.1089/jmf.2010.1126
- Liesa, M., & Shirihai, O. S. (2013). Mitochondrial dynamics in the regulation of nutrient utilization and energy expenditure. *Cell Metab*, *17*(4), 491-506. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2013.03.002
- Liu, B. A., Engelmann, B. W., & Nash, P. D. (2012). The language of SH2 domain interactions defines phosphotyrosine-mediated signal transduction. *FEBS Lett*, 586(17), 2597-2605. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2012.04.054
- Liu, V. W., Shi, H. H., Cheung, A. N., Chiu, P. M., Leung, T. W., Nagley, P., . . . Ngan, H. Y. (2001). High incidence of somatic mitochondrial DNA mutations in human ovarian carcinomas. *Cancer Res*, 61(16), 5998-6001.
- Liu, V. W., Wang, Y., Yang, H. J., Tsang, P. C., Ng, T. Y., Wong, L. C., . . . Ngan, H. Y. (2003). Mitochondrial DNA variant 16189T>C is associated with susceptibility to endometrial cancer. *Hum Mutat*, 22(2), 173-174. doi:10.1002/humu.10244
- Livigni, A., Scorziello, A., Agnese, S., Adornetto, A., Carlucci, A., Garbi, C., . . . Feliciello, A. (2006). Mitochondrial AKAP121 links cAMP and src signaling to oxidative metabolism. *Mol Biol Cell*, 17(1), 263-271. doi:10.1091/mbc.E05-09-0827
- Llovet, J. M., Ricci, S., Mazzaferro, V., Hilgard, P., Gane, E., Blanc, J. F., . . . Group, S. I. S. (2008). Sorafenib in advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. *N Engl J Med*, 359(4), 378-390. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0708857
- Lluis, J. M., Buricchi, F., Chiarugi, P., Morales, A., & Fernandez-Checa, J. C. (2007). Dual role of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species in hypoxia signaling: activation of nuclear factor-{kappa}B via c-SRC and oxidant-dependent cell death. *Cancer Res*, 67(15), 7368-7377. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-0515
- Lombardo, L. J., Lee, F. Y., Chen, P., Norris, D., Barrish, J. C., Behnia, K., . . . Borzilleri, R. M. (2004). Discovery of N-(2-chloro-6-methyl- phenyl)-2-(6-(4-(2-hydroxyethyl)- piperazin-1-yl)-2-methylpyrimidin-4- ylamino)thiazole-5-carboxamide (BMS-354825), a dual Src/Abl kinase inhibitor with potent antitumor activity in preclinical assays. *J Med Chem*, 47(27), 6658-6661. doi:10.1021/jm049486a
- Lopez-Terrada, D., Cheung, S. W., Finegold, M. J., & Knowles, B. B. (2009). Hep G2 is a hepatoblastoma-derived cell line. *Hum Pathol*, 40(10), 1512-1515. doi:10.1016/j.humpath.2009.07.003

- Lopez, J., Hesling, C., Prudent, J., Popgeorgiev, N., Gadet, R., Mikaelian, I., . . . Gonzalo, P. (2012). Src tyrosine kinase inhibits apoptosis through the Erk1/2- dependent degradation of the death accelerator Bik. *Cell Death Differ*, 19(9), 1459-1469. doi:10.1038/cdd.2012.21
- Lu, Z., Scott, I., Webster, B. R., & Sack, M. N. (2009). The emerging characterization of lysine residue deacetylation on the modulation of mitochondrial function and cardiovascular biology. *Circ Res*, 105(9), 830-841. doi:10.1161/CIRCRESAHA.109.204974
- Maassen, J. A., LM, T. H., Van Essen, E., Heine, R. J., Nijpels, G., Jahangir Tafrechi, R. S., . . . Lemkes, H. H. (2004). Mitochondrial diabetes: molecular mechanisms and clinical presentation. *Diabetes*, *53 Suppl 1*, S103-109.
- Manna, S. K., & Aggarwal, B. B. (2000). Differential requirement for p56lck in HIV-tat versus TNF-induced cellular responses: effects on NF-kappa B, activator protein-1, c-Jun Nterminal kinase, and apoptosis. *J Immunol*, 164(10), 5156-5166. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.164.10.5156
- Manning, G., Whyte, D. B., Martinez, R., Hunter, T., & Sudarsanam, S. (2002). The protein kinase complement of the human genome. *Science*, 298(5600), 1912-1934. doi:10.1126/science.1075762
- Mao, W., Irby, R., Coppola, D., Fu, L., Wloch, M., Turner, J., . . . Yeatman, T. J. (1997). Activation of c-Src by receptor tyrosine kinases in human colon cancer cells with high metastatic potential. *Oncogene*, 15(25), 3083-3090. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1201496
- Mao, X., Dillon, K. D., McEntee, M. F., Saxton, A. M., & Kim, J. H. (2014). Islet Insulin Secretion, β-Cell Mass, and Energy Balance in a Polygenic Mouse Model of Type 2 Diabetes With Obesity *Journal of Inborn Errors of Metabolism & Screening*, 2, 6. doi:10.1177/2326409814528153
- Marmiroli, S., Fabbro, D., Miyata, Y., Pierobon, M., & Ruzzene, M. (2015). Phosphorylation, Signaling, and Cancer: Targets and Targeting. *Biomed Res Int*, 2015, 601543. doi:10.1155/2015/601543
- Martin, G. S. (2001). The hunting of the Src. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 2(6), 467-475. doi:10.1038/35073094
- Martin, M., Cho, J., Cesare, A. J., Griffith, J. D., & Attardi, G. (2005). Termination factormediated DNA loop between termination and initiation sites drives mitochondrial rRNA synthesis. *Cell*, *123*(7), 1227-1240. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2005.09.040
- Masaki, T., Okada, M., Shiratori, Y., Rengifo, W., Matsumoto, K., Maeda, S., . . . Omata, M. (1998). pp60c-src activation in hepatocellular carcinoma of humans and LEC rats. *Hepatology*, 27(5), 1257-1264. doi:10.1002/hep.510270511

- Matsushima, S., Kuroda, J., Zhai, P., Liu, T., Ikeda, S., Nagarajan, N., . . . Sadoshima, J. (2016). Tyrosine kinase FYN negatively regulates NOX4 in cardiac remodeling. *J Clin Invest*, *126*(9), 3403-3416. doi:10.1172/JCI85624
- Mayer, B. J., & Baltimore, D. (1993). Signalling through SH2 and SH3 domains. *Trends Cell Biol*, *3*(1), 8-13. doi:10.1016/0962-8924(93)90194-6
- Mayer, E. L., & Krop, I. E. (2010). Advances in targeting SRC in the treatment of breast cancer and other solid malignancies. *Clin Cancer Res*, *16*(14), 3526-3532. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-1834
- McCarty, M. F. (2005). Up-regulation of PPARgamma coactivator-1alpha as a strategy for preventing and reversing insulin resistance and obesity. *Med Hypotheses*, 64(2), 399-407. doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2004.03.034
- Mercader, J. M., Puiggros, M., Segre, A. V., Planet, E., Sorianello, E., Sebastian, D., . . . Torrents, D. (2012). Identification of novel type 2 diabetes candidate genes involved in the crosstalk between the mitochondrial and the insulin signaling systems. *PLoS Genet*, 8(12), e1003046. doi:10.1371/journal.pgen.1003046
- Miki, H., Uehara, N., Kimura, A., Sasaki, T., Yuri, T., Yoshizawa, K., & Tsubura, A. (2012). Resveratrol induces apoptosis via ROS-triggered autophagy in human colon cancer cells. *Int J Oncol*, 40(4), 1020-1028. doi:10.3892/ijo.2012.1325
- Minczuk, M., He, J., Duch, A. M., Ettema, T. J., Chlebowski, A., Dzionek, K., . . . Holt, I. J. (2011). TEFM (c17orf42) is necessary for transcription of human mtDNA. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 39(10), 4284-4299. doi:10.1093/nar/gkq1224
- Minocherhomji, S., Tollefsbol, T. O., & Singh, K. K. (2012). Mitochondrial regulation of epigenetics and its role in human diseases. *Epigenetics*, 7(4), 326-334. doi:10.4161/epi.19547
- Mitchell, T., & Darley-Usmar, V. (2012). Metabolic syndrome and mitochondrial dysfunction: insights from preclinical studies with a mitochondrially targeted antioxidant. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 52(5), 838-840. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2011.12.014
- Miyazaki, T., Neff, L., Tanaka, S., Horne, W. C., & Baron, R. (2003). Regulation of cytochrome c oxidase activity by c-Src in osteoclasts. *J Cell Biol*, *160*(5), 709-718. doi:10.1083/jcb.200209098
- Miyazaki, T., Tanaka, S., Sanjay, A., & Baron, R. (2006). The role of c-Src kinase in the regulation of osteoclast function. *Mod Rheumatol*, *16*(2), 68-74. doi:10.1007/s10165-006-0460-z

- Mondon, C. E., Jones, I. R., Azhar, S., Hollenbeck, C. B., & Reaven, G. M. (1992). Lactate production and pyruvate dehydrogenase activity in fat and skeletal muscle from diabetic rats. *Diabetes*, *41*(12), 1547-1554. doi:10.2337/diab.41.12.1547
- Montoya, J., Christianson, T., Levens, D., Rabinowitz, M., & Attardi, G. (1982). Identification of initiation sites for heavy-strand and light-strand transcription in human mitochondrial DNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, *79*(23), 7195-7199. doi:10.1073/pnas.79.23.7195
- Montoya, J., Ojala, D., & Attardi, G. (1981). Distinctive features of the 5'-terminal sequences of the human mitochondrial mRNAs. *Nature*, 290(5806), 465-470. doi:10.1038/290465a0
- Mootha, V. K., Lindgren, C. M., Eriksson, K. F., Subramanian, A., Sihag, S., Lehar, J., ... Groop, L. C. (2003). PGC-1alpha-responsive genes involved in oxidative phosphorylation are coordinately downregulated in human diabetes. *Nat Genet*, *34*(3), 267-273. doi:10.1038/ng1180
- Morino, K., Petersen, K. F., Dufour, S., Befroy, D., Frattini, J., Shatzkes, N., ... Shulman, G. I. (2005). Reduced mitochondrial density and increased IRS-1 serine phosphorylation in muscle of insulin-resistant offspring of type 2 diabetic parents. *J Clin Invest*, 115(12), 3587-3593. doi:10.1172/JCI25151
- Morozov, Y. I., Agaronyan, K., Cheung, A. C., Anikin, M., Cramer, P., & Temiakov, D. (2014). A novel intermediate in transcription initiation by human mitochondrial RNA polymerase. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 42(6), 3884-3893. doi:10.1093/nar/gkt1356
- Munshi, N., Groopman, J. E., Gill, P. S., & Ganju, R. K. (2000). c-Src mediates mitogenic signals and associates with cytoskeletal proteins upon vascular endothelial growth factor stimulation in Kaposi's sarcoma cells. *J Immunol*, 164(3), 1169-1174. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.164.3.1169
- Muoio, D. M., & Newgard, C. B. (2008). Mechanisms of disease:Molecular and metabolic mechanisms of insulin resistance and beta-cell failure in type 2 diabetes. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 9(3), 193-205. doi:10.1038/nrm2327
- Murphy, M. P. (2009). How mitochondria produce reactive oxygen species. *Biochem J*, 417(1), 1-13. doi:10.1042/BJ20081386
- Nakagawa, H., Kiyozuka, Y., Uemura, Y., Senzaki, H., Shikata, N., Hioki, K., & Tsubura, A. (2001). Resveratrol inhibits human breast cancer cell growth and may mitigate the effect of linoleic acid, a potent breast cancer cell stimulator. *J Cancer Res Clin Oncol, 127*(4), 258-264.
- Ngo, H. B., Lovely, G. A., Phillips, R., & Chan, D. C. (2014). Distinct structural features of TFAM drive mitochondrial DNA packaging versus transcriptional activation. *Nat Commun*, 5, 3077. doi:10.1038/ncomms4077

- Nishikawa, Y., Ohi, N., Yagisawa, A., Doi, Y., Yamamoto, Y., Yoshida, M., . . . Enomoto, K. (2009). Suppressive effect of orthovanadate on hepatic stellate cell activation and liver fibrosis in rats. *Am J Pathol*, *174*(3), 881-890. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2009.080261
- Nowak, D., Boehrer, S., Hochmuth, S., Trepohl, B., Hofmann, W., Hoelzer, D., . . . Chow, K. U. (2007). Src kinase inhibitors induce apoptosis and mediate cell cycle arrest in lymphoma cells. *Anticancer Drugs*, *18*(9), 981-995. doi:10.1097/CAD.0b013e3281721ff6
- O'Brien, T. W. (1971). The general occurrence of 55 S ribosomes in mammalian liver mitochondria. *J Biol Chem*, 246(10), 3409-3417.
- O'Brien, T. W., Liu, J., Sylvester, J. E., Mougey, E. B., Fischel-Ghodsian, N., Thiede, B., . . . Graack, H. R. (2000). Mammalian mitochondrial ribosomal proteins (4). Amino acid sequencing, characterization, and identification of corresponding gene sequences. *J Biol Chem*, 275(24), 18153-18159. doi:10.1074/jbc.M909762199
- O'Brien, T. W., O'Brien, B. J., & Norman, R. A. (2005). Nuclear MRP genes and mitochondrial disease. *Gene*, 354, 147-151. doi:10.1016/j.gene.2005.03.026
- Ogura, M., Yamaki, J., Homma, M. K., & Homma, Y. (2012). Mitochondrial c-Src regulates cell survival through phosphorylation of respiratory chain components. *Biochem J*, 447(2), 281-289. doi:10.1042/BJ20120509
- Okada, M. (2012). Regulation of the SRC family kinases by Csk. *Int J Biol Sci*, 8(10), 1385-1397. doi:10.7150/ijbs.5141
- Okada, M., & Nakagawa, H. (1989). A protein tyrosine kinase involved in regulation of pp60csrc function. *J Biol Chem*, 264(35), 20886-20893.
- Osellame, L. D., Blacker, T. S., & Duchen, M. R. (2012). Cellular and molecular mechanisms of mitochondrial function. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab*, 26(6), 711-723. doi:10.1016/j.beem.2012.05.003
- Otera, H., & Mihara, K. (2011). Molecular mechanisms and physiologic functions of mitochondrial dynamics. *J Biochem*, 149(3), 241-251. doi:10.1093/jb/mvr002
- Ott, M., & Herrmann, J. M. (2010). Co-translational membrane insertion of mitochondrially encoded proteins. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, *1803*(6), 767-775. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2009.11.010
- Oz, B., Yildirim, A., Yolbas, S., Celik, Z. B., Etem, E. O., Deniz, G., . . . Koca, S. S. (2019). Resveratrol inhibits Src tyrosine kinase, STAT3, and Wnt signaling pathway in collagen induced arthritis model. *Biofactors*, 45(1), 69-74. doi:10.1002/biof.1463
- Pagliarini, D. J., & Dixon, J. E. (2006). Mitochondrial modulation: reversible phosphorylation takes center stage? *Trends Biochem Sci*, *31*(1), 26-34. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2005.11.005

- Paik, W. K., Paik, D. C., & Kim, S. (2007). Historical review: the field of protein methylation. *Trends Biochem Sci*, 32(3), 146-152. doi:10.1016/j.tibs.2007.01.006
- Pang, R. W., Joh, J. W., Johnson, P. J., Monden, M., Pawlik, T. M., & Poon, R. T. (2008). Biology of hepatocellular carcinoma. *Ann Surg Oncol*, 15(4), 962-971. doi:10.1245/s10434-007-9730-z
- Park, J. M., Jo, S. H., Kim, M. Y., Kim, T. H., & Ahn, Y. H. (2015). Role of transcription factor acetylation in the regulation of metabolic homeostasis. *Protein Cell*, 6(11), 804-813. doi:10.1007/s13238-015-0204-y
- Parkman, J. K., Denvir, J., Mao, X., Dillon, K. D., Romero, S., Saxton, A. M., & Kim, J. H. (2017). Congenic mice demonstrate the presence of QTLs conferring obesity and hypercholesterolemia on chromosome 1 in the TALLYHO mouse. *Mamm Genome*, 28(11-12), 487-497. doi:10.1007/s00335-017-9719-2
- Parkman, J. K., Mao, X., Dillon, K., Gudivada, A., Moustaid-Moussa, N., Saxton, A. M., & Kim, J. H. (2016). Genotype-dependent Metabolic Responses to Semi-Purified High-Sucrose High-Fat Diets in the TALLYHO/Jng vs. C57BL/6 Mouse during the Development of Obesity and Type 2 Diabetes. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes*, 124(10), 622-629. doi:10.1055/s-0042-109605
- Parsons, S. J., & Parsons, J. T. (2004). Src family kinases, key regulators of signal transduction. *Oncogene*, 23(48), 7906-7909. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1208160
- Paschka, P., Schlenk, R. F., Gaidzik, V. I., Habdank, M., Kronke, J., Bullinger, L., . . . Dohner, K. (2010). IDH1 and IDH2 mutations are frequent genetic alterations in acute myeloid leukemia and confer adverse prognosis in cytogenetically normal acute myeloid leukemia with NPM1 mutation without FLT3 internal tandem duplication. *J Clin Oncol*, 28(22), 3636-3643. doi:10.1200/JCO.2010.28.3762
- Patti, M. E., Butte, A. J., Crunkhorn, S., Cusi, K., Berria, R., Kashyap, S., . . . Mandarino, L. J. (2003). Coordinated reduction of genes of oxidative metabolism in humans with insulin resistance and diabetes: Potential role of PGC1 and NRF1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 100(14), 8466-8471. doi:10.1073/pnas.1032913100
- Pavlova, N. N., & Thompson, C. B. (2016). The Emerging Hallmarks of Cancer Metabolism. *Cell Metab*, 23(1), 27-47. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2015.12.006
- Pedersen, P. L. (1978). Tumor mitochondria and the bioenergetics of cancer cells. *Prog Exp Tumor Res*, 22, 190-274. doi:10.1159/000401202
- Pereira, L., Soares, P., Maximo, V., & Samuels, D. C. (2012). Somatic mitochondrial DNA mutations in cancer escape purifying selection and high pathogenicity mutations lead to the oncocytic phenotype: pathogenicity analysis of reported somatic mtDNA mutations in tumors. *BMC Cancer*, 12, 53. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-12-53

- Perks, K. L., Ferreira, N., Richman, T. R., Ermer, J. A., Kuznetsova, I., Shearwood, A. J., . . . Filipovska, A. (2017). Adult-onset obesity is triggered by impaired mitochondrial gene expression. *Sci Adv*, 3(8), e1700677. doi:10.1126/sciadv.1700677
- Petersen, K. F., Befroy, D., Dufour, S., Dziura, J., Ariyan, C., Rothman, D. L., . . . Shulman, G. I. (2003). Mitochondrial dysfunction in the elderly: possible role in insulin resistance. *Science*, 300(5622), 1140-1142. doi:10.1126/science.1082889
- Petersen, K. F., Dufour, S., Befroy, D., Garcia, R., & Shulman, G. I. (2004). Impaired mitochondrial activity in the insulin-resistant offspring of patients with type 2 diabetes. N Engl J Med, 350(7), 664-671. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa031314
- Petros, J. A., Baumann, A. K., Ruiz-Pesini, E., Amin, M. B., Sun, C. Q., Hall, J., . . . Wallace, D. C. (2005). mtDNA mutations increase tumorigenicity in prostate cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 102(3), 719-724. doi:10.1073/pnas.0408894102
- Picaud, S., Kavanagh, K. L., Yue, W. W., Lee, W. H., Muller-Knapp, S., Gileadi, O., . . . Oppermann, U. (2011). Structural basis of fumarate hydratase deficiency. *J Inherit Metab Dis*, 34(3), 671-676. doi:10.1007/s10545-011-9294-8
- Pich, S., Bach, D., Briones, P., Liesa, M., Camps, M., Testar, X., . . . Zorzano, A. (2005). The Charcot-Marie-Tooth type 2A gene product, Mfn2, up-regulates fuel oxidation through expression of OXPHOS system. *Hum Mol Genet*, 14(11), 1405-1415. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddi149
- Pietromonaco, S. F., Denslow, N. D., & O'Brien, T. W. (1991). Proteins of mammalian mitochondrial ribosomes. *Biochimie*, 73(6), 827-835. doi:10.1016/0300-9084(91)90062-6
- Polyak, K., Li, Y., Zhu, H., Lengauer, C., Willson, J. K., Markowitz, S. D., . . . Vogelstein, B. (1998). Somatic mutations of the mitochondrial genome in human colorectal tumours. *Nat Genet*, 20(3), 291-293. doi:10.1038/3108
- Porporato, P. E., Payen, V. L., Perez-Escuredo, J., De Saedeleer, C. J., Danhier, P., Copetti, T., . . . Sonveaux, P. (2014). A mitochondrial switch promotes tumor metastasis. *Cell Rep*, 8(3), 754-766. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2014.06.043
- Posse, V., Shahzad, S., Falkenberg, M., Hallberg, B. M., & Gustafsson, C. M. (2015). TEFM is a potent stimulator of mitochondrial transcription elongation in vitro. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 43(5), 2615-2624. doi:10.1093/nar/gkv105
- Qin, S., Minami, Y., Kurosaki, T., & Yamamura, H. (1997). Distinctive functions of Syk and Lyn in mediating osmotic stress- and ultraviolet C irradiation-induced apoptosis in chicken B cells. *J Biol Chem*, 272(29), 17994-17999. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.29.17994

- Qiu, G. H., Xie, X., Xu, F., Shi, X., Wang, Y., & Deng, L. (2015). Distinctive pharmacological differences between liver cancer cell lines HepG2 and Hep3B. *Cytotechnology*, 67(1), 1-12. doi:10.1007/s10616-014-9761-9
- Rector, R. S., Thyfault, J. P., Uptergrove, G. M., Morris, E. M., Naples, S. P., Borengasser, S. J., ... Ibdah, J. A. (2010). Mitochondrial dysfunction precedes insulin resistance and hepatic steatosis and contributes to the natural history of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease in an obese rodent model. *J Hepatol*, 52(5), 727-736. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2009.11.030
- Rees, D. A., & Alcolado, J. C. (2005). Animal models of diabetes mellitus. *Diabet Med*, 22(4), 359-370. doi:10.1111/j.1464-5491.2005.01499.x
- Ren, H., Fang, J., Ding, X., & Chen, Q. (2016). Role and inhibition of Src signaling in the progression of liver cancer. 11(1), 513. doi:<u>https://doi.org/10.1515/biol-2016-0067</u>
- Resh, M. D. (1993). Interaction of tyrosine kinase oncoproteins with cellular membranes. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1155(3), 307-322. doi:10.1016/0304-419x(93)90012-2
- Ricketts, C., Woodward, E. R., Killick, P., Morris, M. R., Astuti, D., Latif, F., & Maher, E. R. (2008). Germline SDHB mutations and familial renal cell carcinoma. *J Natl Cancer Inst*, 100(17), 1260-1262. doi:10.1093/jnci/djn254
- Rickles, R. J., Botfield, M. C., Zhou, X. M., Henry, P. A., Brugge, J. S., & Zoller, M. J. (1995). Phage display selection of ligand residues important for Src homology 3 domain binding specificity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 92(24), 10909-10913. doi:10.1073/pnas.92.24.10909
- Roberts, C. K., & Sindhu, K. K. (2009). Oxidative stress and metabolic syndrome. *Life Sci*, 84(21-22), 705-712. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2009.02.026
- Romao, I., & Roth, J. (2008). Genetic and environmental interactions in obesity and type 2 diabetes. *J Am Diet Assoc*, 108(4 Suppl 1), S24-28. doi:10.1016/j.jada.2008.01.022
- Rong, J. X., Qiu, Y., Hansen, M. K., Zhu, L., Zhang, V., Xie, M., . . . Ryan, T. E. (2007). Adipose mitochondrial biogenesis is suppressed in db/db and high-fat diet-fed mice and improved by rosiglitazone. *Diabetes*, 56(7), 1751-1760. doi:10.2337/db06-1135
- Rosen, N., Bolen, J. B., Schwartz, A. M., Cohen, P., DeSeau, V., & Israel, M. A. (1986). Analysis of pp60c-src protein kinase activity in human tumor cell lines and tissues. *J Biol Chem*, 261(29), 13754-13759.
- Roskoski, R., Jr. (2004). Src protein-tyrosine kinase structure and regulation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 324*(4), 1155-1164. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.09.171
- Roskoski, R., Jr. (2005). Src kinase regulation by phosphorylation and dephosphorylation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun, 331*(1), 1-14. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2005.03.012

- Roskoski, R., Jr. (2015). Src protein-tyrosine kinase structure, mechanism, and small molecule inhibitors. *Pharmacol Res*, 94, 9-25. doi:10.1016/j.phrs.2015.01.003
- Rous, P. (1911). A Sarcoma of the Fowl Transmissible by an Agent Separable from the Tumor Cells. *J Exp Med*, *13*(4), 397-411. doi:10.1084/jem.13.4.397
- Ruegsegger, G. N., Creo, A. L., Cortes, T. M., Dasari, S., & Nair, K. S. (2018). Altered mitochondrial function in insulin-deficient and insulin-resistant states. *J Clin Invest*, 128(9), 3671-3681. doi:10.1172/JCI120843
- Sack, M. N. (2011). Caloric excess or restriction mediated modulation of metabolic enzyme acetylation-proposed effects on cardiac growth and function. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1813(7), 1279-1285. doi:10.1016/j.bbamcr.2011.01.032
- Saito, Y. D., Jensen, A. R., Salgia, R., & Posadas, E. M. (2010). Fyn: a novel molecular target in cancer. *Cancer*, *116*(7), 1629-1637. doi:10.1002/cncr.24879
- Salem, A. F., Whitaker-Menezes, D., Howell, A., Sotgia, F., & Lisanti, M. P. (2012). Mitochondrial biogenesis in epithelial cancer cells promotes breast cancer tumor growth and confers autophagy resistance. *Cell Cycle*, 11(22), 4174-4180. doi:10.4161/cc.22376
- Salvi, M., Brunati, A. M., Bordin, L., La Rocca, N., Clari, G., & Toninello, A. (2002). Characterization and location of Src-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation in rat brain mitochondria. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1589(2), 181-195.
- Salvi, M., Brunati, A. M., & Toninello, A. (2005). Tyrosine phosphorylation in mitochondria: a new frontier in mitochondrial signaling. *Free Radic Biol Med*, 38(10), 1267-1277. doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2005.02.006
- Salvi, M., Morrice, N. A., Brunati, A. M., & Toninello, A. (2007). Identification of the flavoprotein of succinate dehydrogenase and aconitase as in vitro mitochondrial substrates of Fgr tyrosine kinase. *FEBS Lett*, 581(29), 5579-5585. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2007.11.005
- Samraj, A. K., Stroh, C., Fischer, U., & Schulze-Osthoff, K. (2006). The tyrosine kinase Lck is a positive regulator of the mitochondrial apoptosis pathway by controlling Bak expression. *Oncogene*, 25(2), 186-197. doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1209034
- Sato, H., Sato, M., Kanai, H., Uchiyama, T., Iso, T., Ohyama, Y., . . . Kurabayashi, M. (2005). Mitochondrial reactive oxygen species and c-Src play a critical role in hypoxic response in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Cardiovasc Res*, 67(4), 714-722. doi:10.1016/j.cardiores.2005.04.017
- Sayre, L. M., Smith, M. A., & Perry, G. (2001). Chemistry and biochemistry of oxidative stress in neurodegenerative disease. *Curr Med Chem*, 8(7), 721-738. doi:10.2174/0929867013372922

- Scaglia, F., & Northrop, J. L. (2006). The mitochondrial myopathy encephalopathy, lactic acidosis with stroke-like episodes (MELAS) syndrome: a review of treatment options. *CNS Drugs*, 20(6), 443-464. doi:10.2165/00023210-200620060-00002
- Schenone, S., Brullo, C., Musumeci, F., Biava, M., Falchi, F., & Botta, M. (2011). Fyn kinase in brain diseases and cancer: the search for inhibitors. *Curr Med Chem*, 18(19), 2921-2942. doi:10.2174/092986711796150531
- Schieke, S. M., Phillips, D., McCoy, J. P., Jr., Aponte, A. M., Shen, R. F., Balaban, R. S., & Finkel, T. (2006). The mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway regulates mitochondrial oxygen consumption and oxidative capacity. *J Biol Chem*, 281(37), 27643-27652. doi:10.1074/jbc.M603536200
- Schlessinger, J. (2000). New roles for Src kinases in control of cell survival and angiogenesis. *Cell*, 100(3), 293-296. doi:10.1016/s0092-8674(00)80664-9
- Schmittgen, T. D., & Livak, K. J. (2008). Analyzing real-time PCR data by the comparative C(T) method. *Nat Protoc*, *3*(6), 1101-1108.
- Schneider, C. A., Rasband, W. S., & Eliceiri, K. W. (2012). NIH Image to ImageJ: 25 years of image analysis. *Nat Methods*, 9(7), 671-675.
- Schultz, A. M., Henderson, L. E., Oroszlan, S., Garber, E. A., & Hanafusa, H. (1985). Amino terminal myristylation of the protein kinase p60src, a retroviral transforming protein. *Science*, 227(4685), 427-429. doi:10.1126/science.3917576
- Schwartzbach, C. J., Farwell, M., Liao, H. X., & Spremulli, L. L. (1996). Bovine mitochondrial initiation and elongation factors. *Methods Enzymol*, 264, 248-261.
- Schwartzbach, C. J., & Spremulli, L. L. (1989). Bovine mitochondrial protein synthesis elongation factors. Identification and initial characterization of an elongation factor Tuelongation factor Ts complex. *J Biol Chem*, 264(32), 19125-19131.
- Schwartzbach, C. J., & Spremulli, L. L. (1991). Interaction of animal mitochondrial EF-Tu.EF-Ts with aminoacyl-tRNA, guanine nucleotides, and ribosomes. *J Biol Chem*, 266(25), 16324-16330.
- Segerstolpe, A., Palasantza, A., Eliasson, P., Andersson, E. M., Andreasson, A. C., Sun, X., . . . Sandberg, R. (2016). Single-Cell Transcriptome Profiling of Human Pancreatic Islets in Health and Type 2 Diabetes. *Cell Metab*, 24(4), 593-607. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2016.08.020
- Sen, B., & Johnson, F. M. (2011). Regulation of SRC family kinases in human cancers. *J Signal Transduct, 2011*, 865819. doi:10.1155/2011/865819
- Seyfried, T. N. (2015). Cancer as a mitochondrial metabolic disease. *Front Cell Dev Biol*, *3*, 43. doi:10.3389/fcell.2015.00043

- Sharma, B.S., Prabhakaran, V., Desai, A. P., Bajpai, J., Verma, R. J., & Swain, P. K. (2019). Post-translational modifications (PTMs), from a cancer perspective: an overview. *Oncogen*, 2(3).
- Sharma, L. K., Fang, H., Liu, J., Vartak, R., Deng, J., & Bai, Y. (2011). Mitochondrial respiratory complex I dysfunction promotes tumorigenesis through ROS alteration and AKT activation. *Hum Mol Genet*, 20(23), 4605-4616. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddr395
- Sharma, M. R., Koc, E. C., Datta, P. P., Booth, T. M., Spremulli, L. L., & Agrawal, R. K. (2003). Structure of the mammalian mitochondrial ribosome reveals an expanded functional role for its component proteins. *Cell*, 115(1), 97-108.
- Shidara, Y., Yamagata, K., Kanamori, T., Nakano, K., Kwong, J. Q., Manfredi, G., . . . Ohta, S. (2005). Positive contribution of pathogenic mutations in the mitochondrial genome to the promotion of cancer by prevention from apoptosis. *Cancer Res*, 65(5), 1655-1663. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-04-2012
- Shokolenko, I. N., & Alexeyev, M. F. (2017). Mitochondrial transcription in mammalian cells. *Front Biosci (Landmark Ed)*, 22, 835-853. doi:10.2741/4520
- Simoneau, J. A., Veerkamp, J. H., Turcotte, L. P., & Kelley, D. E. (1999). Markers of capacity to utilize fatty acids in human skeletal muscle: relation to insulin resistance and obesity and effects of weight loss. *FASEB J*, *13*(14), 2051-2060. doi:10.1096/fasebj.13.14.2051
- Simonnet, H., Alazard, N., Pfeiffer, K., Gallou, C., Beroud, C., Demont, J., . . . Godinot, C. (2002). Low mitochondrial respiratory chain content correlates with tumor aggressiveness in renal cell carcinoma. *Carcinogenesis*, 23(5), 759-768. doi:10.1093/carcin/23.5.759
- Singh, M., Kaur, M., & Silakari, O. (2014). Flavones: an important scaffold for medicinal chemistry. *Eur J Med Chem*, 84, 206-239. doi:10.1016/j.ejmech.2014.07.013
- Singh, V., Ram, M., Kumar, R., Prasad, R., Roy, B. K., & Singh, K. K. (2017). Phosphorylation: Implications in Cancer. *Protein J*, *36*(1), 1-6. doi:10.1007/s10930-017-9696-z
- Skov, V., Glintborg, D., Knudsen, S., Jensen, T., Kruse, T. A., Tan, Q., . . . Hojlund, K. (2007). Reduced expression of nuclear-encoded genes involved in mitochondrial oxidative metabolism in skeletal muscle of insulin-resistant women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Diabetes*, 56(9), 2349-2355. doi:10.2337/db07-0275
- Slany, A., Haudek, V. J., Zwickl, H., Gundacker, N. C., Grusch, M., Weiss, T. S., . . . Gerner, C. (2010). Cell characterization by proteome profiling applied to primary hepatocytes and hepatocyte cell lines Hep-G2 and Hep-3B. *J Proteome Res*, 9(1), 6-21. doi:10.1021/pr900057t

- Smeitink, J. A., Zeviani, M., Turnbull, D. M., & Jacobs, H. T. (2006). Mitochondrial medicine: a metabolic perspective on the pathology of oxidative phosphorylation disorders. *Cell Metab*, 3(1), 9-13. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2005.12.001
- Sologub, M., Litonin, D., Anikin, M., Mustaev, A., & Temiakov, D. (2009). TFB2 is a transient component of the catalytic site of the human mitochondrial RNA polymerase. *Cell*, 139(5), 934-944. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2009.10.031
- Spurio, R., Brandi, L., Caserta, E., Pon, C. L., Gualerzi, C. O., Misselwitz, R., . . . Welfle, H. (2000). The C-terminal subdomain (IF2 C-2) contains the entire fMet-tRNA binding site of initiation factor IF2. *J Biol Chem*, 275(4), 2447-2454. doi:10.1074/jbc.275.4.2447
- Sreekumar, R., Halvatsiotis, P., Schimke, J. C., & Nair, K. S. (2002). Gene expression profile in skeletal muscle of type 2 diabetes and the effect of insulin treatment. *Diabetes*, 51(6), 1913-1920.
- Stehelin, D., Varmus, H. E., Bishop, J. M., & Vogt, P. K. (1976). DNA related to the transforming gene(s) of avian sarcoma viruses is present in normal avian DNA. *Nature*, 260(5547), 170-173. doi:10.1038/260170a0
- Stewart, T. P., Kim, H. Y., Saxton, A. M., & Kim, J. H. (2010). Genetic and genomic analysis of hyperlipidemia, obesity and diabetes using (C57BL/6J x TALLYHO/JngJ) F2 mice. BMC Genomics, 11, 713. doi:10.1186/1471-2164-11-713
- Stram, A. R., & Payne, R. M. (2016). Post-translational modifications in mitochondria: protein signaling in the powerhouse. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 73(21), 4063-4073. doi:10.1007/s00018-016-2280-4
- Summy, J. M., & Gallick, G. E. (2003). Src family kinases in tumor progression and metastasis. *Cancer Metastasis Rev*, 22(4), 337-358.
- Sun, C. K., Man, K., Ng, K. T., Ho, J. W., Lim, Z. X., Cheng, Q., . . . Fan, S. T. (2008). Prolinerich tyrosine kinase 2 (Pyk2) promotes proliferation and invasiveness of hepatocellular carcinoma cells through c-Src/ERK activation. *Carcinogenesis*, 29(11), 2096-2105. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgn203
- Superti-Furga, G. (1995). Regulation of the Src protein tyrosine kinase. *FEBS Lett*, *369*(1), 62-66.
- Suzuki, T., Terasaki, M., Takemoto-Hori, C., Hanada, T., Ueda, T., Wada, A., & Watanabe, K. (2001a). Proteomic analysis of the mammalian mitochondrial ribosome. Identification of protein components in the 28 S small subunit. *J Biol Chem*, 276(35), 33181-33195. doi:10.1074/jbc.M103236200
- Suzuki, T., Terasaki, M., Takemoto-Hori, C., Hanada, T., Ueda, T., Wada, A., & Watanabe, K. (2001b). Structural compensation for the deficit of rRNA with proteins in the mammalian

mitochondrial ribosome. Systematic analysis of protein components of the large ribosomal subunit from mammalian mitochondria. *J Biol Chem*, 276(24), 21724-21736. doi:10.1074/jbc.M100432200

- Taanman, J. W. (1999). The mitochondrial genome: structure, transcription, translation and replication. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1410(2), 103-123. doi:10.1016/s0005-2728(98)00161-3
- Taira, M., Yoshida, E., Kobayashi, M., Yaginuma, K., & Koike, K. (1983). Tumor-associated mutations of rat mitochondrial transfer RNA genes. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 11(6), 1635-1643. doi:10.1093/nar/11.6.1635
- Takeuchi, K., & Ito, F. (2011). Receptor tyrosine kinases and targeted cancer therapeutics. *Biol Pharm Bull*, *34*(12), 1774-1780. doi:10.1248/bpb.34.1774
- Taylor, B. S., Schultz, N., Hieronymus, H., Gopalan, A., Xiao, Y., Carver, B. S., . . . Gerald, W. L. (2010). Integrative genomic profiling of human prostate cancer. *Cancer Cell*, 18(1), 11-22. doi:10.1016/j.ccr.2010.05.026
- Thomas, S. M., & Brugge, J. S. (1997). Cellular functions regulated by Src family kinases. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol*, 13, 513-609. doi:10.1146/annurev.cellbio.13.1.513
- Thomas, S. M., Soriano, P., & Imamoto, A. (1995). Specific and redundant roles of Src and Fyn in organizing the cytoskeleton. *Nature*, *376*(6537), 267-271. doi:10.1038/376267a0
- Tibaldi, E., Brunati, A. M., Massimino, M. L., Stringaro, A., Colone, M., Agostinelli, E., . . . Toninello, A. (2008). Src-Tyrosine kinases are major agents in mitochondrial tyrosine phosphorylation. *J Cell Biochem*, *104*(3), 840-849. doi:10.1002/jcb.21670
- Tibaldi, E., Venerando, A., Zonta, F., Bidoia, C., Magrin, E., Marin, O., . . . Brunati, A. M. (2011). Interaction between the SH3 domain of Src family kinases and the proline-rich motif of HTLV-1 p13: a novel mechanism underlying delivery of Src family kinases to mitochondria. *Biochem J*, 439(3), 505-516. doi:10.1042/BJ20101650
- Torre, L. A., Bray, F., Siegel, R. L., Ferlay, J., Lortet-Tieulent, J., & Jemal, A. (2015). Global cancer statistics, 2012. *CA Cancer J Clin*, 65(2), 87-108. doi:10.3322/caac.21262
- Turrens, J. F. (2003). Mitochondrial formation of reactive oxygen species. *J Physiol*, 552(Pt 2), 335-344. doi:10.1113/jphysiol.2003.049478
- Turrens, J. F., & Boveris, A. (1980). Generation of superoxide anion by the NADH dehydrogenase of bovine heart mitochondria. *Biochem J*, 191(2), 421-427. doi:10.1042/bj1910421

- Uckun, F. M., Waddick, K. G., Mahajan, S., Jun, X., Takata, M., Bolen, J., & Kurosaki, T. (1996). BTK as a mediator of radiation-induced apoptosis in DT-40 lymphoma B cells. *Science*, 273(5278), 1096-1100. doi:10.1126/science.273.5278.1096
- Udenigwe, C. C., Ramprasath, V. R., Aluko, R. E., & Jones, P. J. (2008). Potential of resveratrol in anticancer and anti-inflammatory therapy. *Nutr Rev, 66*(8), 445-454. doi:10.1111/j.1753-4887.2008.00076.x
- Ugalde, C., Janssen, R. J., van den Heuvel, L. P., Smeitink, J. A., & Nijtmans, L. G. (2004). Differences in assembly or stability of complex I and other mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes in inherited complex I deficiency. *Hum Mol Genet*, 13(6), 659-667. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddh071
- Vahedi, S., Chueh, F. Y., Chandran, B., & Yu, C. L. (2015). Lymphocyte-specific protein tyrosine kinase (Lck) interacts with CR6-interacting factor 1 (CRIF1) in mitochondria to repress oxidative phosphorylation. *BMC Cancer*, 15, 551. doi:10.1186/s12885-015-1520-6
- van den Ouweland, J. M., Lemkes, H. H., Ruitenbeek, W., Sandkuijl, L. A., de Vijlder, M. F., Struyvenberg, P. A., . . . Maassen, J. A. (1992). Mutation in mitochondrial tRNA(Leu)(UUR) gene in a large pedigree with maternally transmitted type II diabetes mellitus and deafness. *Nat Genet*, 1(5), 368-371. doi:10.1038/ng0892-368
- van Gisbergen, M. W., Voets, A. M., Starmans, M. H., de Coo, I. F., Yadak, R., Hoffmann, R. F., . . . Lambin, P. (2015). How do changes in the mtDNA and mitochondrial dysfunction influence cancer and cancer therapy? Challenges, opportunities and models. *Mutat Res Rev Mutat Res*, 764, 16-30. doi:10.1016/j.mrrev.2015.01.001
- Vogel, F., Bornhovd, C., Neupert, W., & Reichert, A. S. (2006). Dynamic subcompartmentalization of the mitochondrial inner membrane. *J Cell Biol*, 175(2), 237-247. doi:10.1083/jcb.200605138
- Vyas, S., Zaganjor, E., & Haigis, M. C. (2016). Mitochondria and Cancer. *Cell*, *166*(3), 555-566. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2016.07.002
- Wakita, K., Watanabe, Y., Yokogawa, T., Kumazawa, Y., Nakamura, S., Ueda, T., . . . Nishikawa, K. (1994). Higher-order structure of bovine mitochondrial tRNA(Phe) lacking the 'conserved' GG and T psi CG sequences as inferred by enzymatic and chemical probing. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 22(3), 347-353. doi:10.1093/nar/22.3.347
- Walberg, M. W., & Clayton, D. A. (1981). Sequence and properties of the human KB cell and mouse L cell D-loop regions of mitochondrial DNA. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 9(20), 5411-5421. doi:10.1093/nar/9.20.5411

- Walker, S., Wankell, M., Ho, V., White, R., Deo, N., Devine, C., . . . Hebbard, L. (2019).
 Targeting mTOR and Src restricts hepatocellular carcinoma growth in a novel murine liver cancer model. *PLoS One, 14*(2), e0212860. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0212860
- Wallace, D. C. (1999). Mitochondrial diseases in man and mouse. *Science*, 283(5407), 1482-1488.
- Wallace, D. C. (2005). Mitochondria and cancer: Warburg addressed. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol*, 70, 363-374. doi:10.1101/sqb.2005.70.035
- Wallace, D. C. (2012). Mitochondria and cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer*, *12*(10), 685-698. doi:10.1038/nrc3365
- Warburg, O. (1956a). On respiratory impairment in cancer cells. Science, 124(3215), 269-270.
- Warburg, O. (1956b). On the origin of cancer cells. Science, 123(3191), 309-314.
- Warburg, O., Wind, F., & Negelein, E. (1927). The Metabolism of Tumors in the Body. J Gen Physiol, 8(6), 519-530. doi:10.1085/jgp.8.6.519
- Wilhelm, S. M., Adnane, L., Newell, P., Villanueva, A., Llovet, J. M., & Lynch, M. (2008). Preclinical overview of sorafenib, a multikinase inhibitor that targets both Raf and VEGF and PDGF receptor tyrosine kinase signaling. *Mol Cancer Ther*, 7(10), 3129-3140. doi:10.1158/1535-7163.MCT-08-0013
- Wolstenholme, D. R. (1992). Animal mitochondrial DNA: structure and evolution. *Int Rev Cytol*, *141*, 173-216. doi:10.1016/s0074-7696(08)62066-5
- Woo, D. K., Green, P. D., Santos, J. H., D'Souza, A. D., Walther, Z., Martin, W. D., . . . Shadel, G. S. (2012). Mitochondrial genome instability and ROS enhance intestinal tumorigenesis in APC(Min/+) mice. *Am J Pathol*, 180(1), 24-31. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.10.003
- Wu, L., Zhao, J., Cao, K., Liu, X., Cai, H., Wang, J., . . . Chen, Z. (2018). Oxidative phosphorylation activation is an important characteristic of DOX resistance in hepatocellular carcinoma cells. *Cell Commun Signal*, 16(1), 6. doi:10.1186/s12964-018-0217-2
- Xu, W., Doshi, A., Lei, M., Eck, M. J., & Harrison, S. C. (1999). Crystal structures of c-Src reveal features of its autoinhibitory mechanism. *Mol Cell*, 3(5), 629-638. doi:10.1016/s1097-2765(00)80356-1
- Yagil, C., Varadi-Levi, R., & Yagil, Y. (2018). A novel mutation in the NADH dehydrogenase (ubiquinone) 1 alpha subcomplex 4 (Ndufa4) gene links mitochondrial dysfunction to the development of diabetes in a rodent model. *Dis Model Mech*, 11(11). doi:10.1242/dmm.036699

- Yakubovskaya, E., Mejia, E., Byrnes, J., Hambardjieva, E., & Garcia-Diaz, M. (2010). Helix unwinding and base flipping enable human MTERF1 to terminate mitochondrial transcription. *Cell*, 141(6), 982-993. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2010.05.018
- Yamada, E., Pessin, J. E., Kurland, I. J., Schwartz, G. J., & Bastie, C. C. (2010). Fyn-dependent regulation of energy expenditure and body weight is mediated by tyrosine phosphorylation of LKB1. *Cell Metab*, 11(2), 113-124. doi:10.1016/j.cmet.2009.12.010
- Yan, H., Parsons, D. W., Jin, G., McLendon, R., Rasheed, B. A., Yuan, W., . . . Bigner, D. D. (2009). IDH1 and IDH2 mutations in gliomas. *N Engl J Med*, 360(8), 765-773. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0808710
- Yang, D., Oyaizu, Y., Oyaizu, H., Olsen, G. J., & Woese, C. R. (1985). Mitochondrial origins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 82(13), 4443-4447. doi:10.1073/pnas.82.13.4443
- Yang, K., Belrose, J., Trepanier, C. H., Lei, G., Jackson, M. F., & MacDonald, J. F. (2011). Fyn, a potential target for Alzheimer's disease. *J Alzheimers Dis*, 27(2), 243-252. doi:10.3233/JAD-2011-110353
- Yeatman, T. J. (2004). A renaissance for SRC. *Nat Rev Cancer*, *4*(6), 470-480. doi:10.1038/nrc1366
- Yokogawa, T., Watanabe, Y., Kumazawa, Y., Ueda, T., Hirao, I., Miura, K., & Watanabe, K. (1991). A novel cloverleaf structure found in mammalian mitochondrial tRNA(Ser) (UCN). *Nucleic Acids Res, 19*(22), 6101-6105. doi:10.1093/nar/19.22.6101
- Yu, M. (2011). Generation, function and diagnostic value of mitochondrial DNA copy number alterations in human cancers. *Life Sci*, 89(3-4), 65-71. doi:10.1016/j.lfs.2011.05.010
- Zerbino, D. R., Achuthan, P., Akanni, W., Amode, M. R., Barrell, D., Bhai, J., . . . Flicek, P. (2018). Ensembl 2018. *Nucleic Acids Res*, 46(D1), D754-D761. doi:10.1093/nar/gkx1098
- Zhai, K., Chang, L., Zhang, Q., Liu, B., & Wu, Y. (2011). Mitochondrial C150T polymorphism increases the risk of cervical cancer and HPV infection. *Mitochondrion*, 11(4), 559-563. doi:10.1016/j.mito.2011.02.005
- Zhang, J., Wang, S., Jiang, B., Huang, L., Ji, Z., Li, X., . . . Li, Q. (2017). c-Src phosphorylation and activation of hexokinase promotes tumorigenesis and metastasis. *Nat Commun*, *8*, 13732. doi:10.1038/ncomms13732
- Zhang, S., Huang, W. C., Li, P., Guo, H., Poh, S. B., Brady, S. W., ... Yu, D. (2011). Combating trastuzumab resistance by targeting SRC, a common node downstream of multiple resistance pathways. *Nat Med*, 17(4), 461-469. doi:10.1038/nm.2309

- Zhang, S., & Yu, D. (2012). Targeting Src family kinases in anti-cancer therapies: turning promise into triumph. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, *33*(3), 122-128. doi:10.1016/j.tips.2011.11.002
- Zhang, Y., & Spremulli, L. L. (1998). Identification and cloning of human mitochondrial translational release factor 1 and the ribosome recycling factor. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1443(1-2), 245-250. doi:10.1016/s0167-4781(98)00223-1
- Zhang, Y., & Ye, J. (2012). Mitochondrial inhibitor as a new class of insulin sensitizer. *Acta Pharm Sin B*, 2(4), 341-349. doi:10.1016/j.apsb.2012.06.010
- Zhao, J., Zhang, J., Yu, M., Xie, Y., Huang, Y., Wolff, D. W., . . . Tu, Y. (2013). Mitochondrial dynamics regulates migration and invasion of breast cancer cells. *Oncogene*, 32(40), 4814-4824. doi:10.1038/onc.2012.494
- Zhao, R., Wu, Y., Wang, T., Zhang, Y., Kong, D., Zhang, L., . . . Zhang, F. (2015). Elevated Src expression associated with hepatocellular carcinoma metastasis in northern Chinese patients. *Oncol Lett*, 10(5), 3026-3034. doi:10.3892/ol.2015.3706
- Zheng, X. M., Resnick, R. J., & Shalloway, D. (2000). A phosphotyrosine displacement mechanism for activation of Src by PTPalpha. *EMBO J*, 19(5), 964-978. doi:10.1093/emboj/19.5.964
- Zheng, X. M., Wang, Y., & Pallen, C. J. (1992). Cell transformation and activation of pp60c-src by overexpression of a protein tyrosine phosphatase. *Nature*, 359(6393), 336-339. doi:10.1038/359336a0
- Zhu, G., Liu, X., Li, H., Yan, Y., Hong, X., & Lin, Z. (2018). Kaempferol inhibits proliferation, migration, and invasion of liver cancer HepG2 cells by down-regulation of microRNA-21. *Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol*, 32, 2058738418814341. doi:10.1177/2058738418814341
- Zrihan-Licht, S., Lim, J., Keydar, I., Sliwkowski, M. X., Groopman, J. E., & Avraham, H. (1997). Association of csk-homologous kinase (CHK) (formerly MATK) with HER-2/ErbB-2 in breast cancer cells. *J Biol Chem*, 272(3), 1856-1863. doi:10.1074/jbc.272.3.1856

APPENDIX A: INSTITUTUIONAL REVIEW BOARD APPROVAL



Office of Research Integrity

July 13, 2020

Caroline Hunter 903 Saddle Dr. Salem, VA 24153

Dear Ms. Hunter:

This letter is in response to the submitted dissertation abstract entitled "Dysfunctional Mitochondrial Biogenesis: A Potential Underlying Cause for Metabolic Diseases." After assessing the abstract it has been deemed not to be human subject research and therefore exempt from oversight of the Marshall University Institutional Review Board (IRB). The Code of Federal Regulations (45CFR46) has set forth the criteria utilized in making this determination. Since the study does not involve human subjects as defined in DHHS regulation 45 CFR §46.102(e) it is not considered human subject research. If there are any changes to the abstract you provided then you would need to resubmit that information to the Office of Research Integrity for review and determination.

I appreciate your willingness to submit the abstract for determination. Please feel free to contact the Office of Research Integrity if you have any questions regarding future protocols that may require IRB review.

Sincerely,

Bruce F. Day, ThD, CIP Director

WEARE... MARSHALL.

One John Marshall Drive • Huntington, West Virginia 25755 • Tel 304/696-4303 A State University of West Virginia • An Affensative Action/Equal Opportunity Employer

APPENDIX B: ABBREVIATIONS

5'-UTR...5'-untranslated region

A...adenine

AA...amino acid

aa-tRNA...aminoacyl-tRNA

ACOX1...acyl-coenzyme A oxidase 1

ADP...adenosine diphosphate

AKAP121/84...protein kinase A anchoring protein

AMPK...activated protein kinase

ANT1...ATP/ADP translocase 1

ANT2...ATP/ADP translocase 2

ARS2...amino acyl-tRNA synthetases

A-site...aminoacyl-site

ATCC...American Type Culture Collection

ATP...adenosine triphosphate

ATP5A...adenosine triphosphate subunit alpha

ATP6...adenosine triphosphate synthetase subunit 6

ATP8...adenosine triphosphate synthetase subunit 8

AUA...adenine, uracil, adenine

AUG...adenine, uracil, guanine

B6...C57BL/6J mice

BCA...bicinchoninic acid

BCL-xL...B-cell lymphoma-extra large

BEZ...bezafibrate

BSA...bovine serum albumin

 Ca^{2+} ...calcium

CAC...citric acid cycle

cDNA...complementary deoxyribonucleic acid

CO₂...carbon dioxide

CO...cytochrome c oxidase

COBRE ACCORD...Center of Biomedical Research Excellence named Appalachian Center for

Cellular transport in Obesity Related Disorders

COI...cytochrome c oxidase subunit I

COII...cytochrome c oxidase subunit II

COIII...cytochrome c oxidase subunit III

Cont...control

CRIF1...CR6-interacting factor 1

CS...citrate synthase

Csk...C-terminal Src kinase

Cys (C)...cysteine

Cys245...cysteine 245

Cys487...cysteine 487

Cyt...cytochrome

Cyt b...cytochrome b

DARS2...aspartyl-tRNA synthetase 2

Dars2...aspartyl-tRNA synthetase 2 gene

D-loop...displacement loop

DMEM...dulbecco's modified eagle's medium

DMSO...dimethyl sulfoxide

DNA...deoxyribonucleic acid

DOC...sodium deoxycholate

Dok4...downstream of tyrosine kinase docking protein 4

ECL...enhanced chemiluminescence

EDTA...ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

EF-Tu...mitochondrial elongation factor Tu

EGFR...epidermal growth factor receptor

EGTA...ethylene glycol-bis (β-aminoethyl ether)-N,N,N',N'-tetraacetic acid

EMT...epithelial mesenchymal transition

FATP...fatty acid transport protein

FBS...fetal bovine serum

FDA...U.S. Food and Drug Administration

fMet-tRNA...formylmethionine-tRNA

FOXO1...forkhead box O1

FH...fumarate hydratase

GABC...Genomics and Bioinformatics Core

GAPDH...glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase

GDP...guanosine diphosphate

GLUT4...glucose transporter 4

GTP...guanosine triphosphate
G...guanine

 $H_2O\ldots$ water

- H₂O₂...hydrogen peroxide
- H-strand...heavy strand
- HB...hepatoblastoma
- HCC...hepatocellular carcinoma
- HCl...hydrochloride
- Hep3B...human hepatocellular carcinoma cell line 3B
- HepG2...human hepatocellular carcinoma cell line G2
- HER2...human epidermal growth factor receptor 2
- HGF...hepatocyte growth factor
- HK1...hexokinase 1
- HK2...hexokinase 2
- HSP1...H-strand promoter 1
- HSP2...H-strand promoter 2
- HSP60...heat shock protein 60
- IDH1...isocitrate dehydrogenase 1
- IDH2...isocitrate dehydrogenase 2
- IGF-1R...insulin-like growth factor-1 receptor
- IL-8...interleukin-8
- IM...inner membrane
- IMS...inter membrane space
- IRS1...insulin receptor substrate 1

IRS2...insulin receptor substrate 2

K⁺...potassium

Kaemp...kaempferol

kDa...kiloDalton

L-strand...light-strand

LDHA...lactate dehydrogenase A

Leu...leucine

LSP...light-strand promoter

LSU...large subunit

MEF...mouse embryonic fibroblast

Met...methionine

Mfn2...mitofusin 2

MM...mitochondrial matrix

MMPs...matrix metalloproteinases

MTERF1...mitochondrial termination factor 1

mRNA...messenger ribonucleic acid

MRP...mitochondrial ribosomal protein

MRPL...mitochondrial ribosomal proteins of the large subunit

MRPL11...mitochondrial ribosomal protein of the large subunit 11

MRPL15...mitochondrial ribosomal protein of the large subunit 15

MRPS...mitochondrial ribosomal proteins of the small subunit

MRPS18-B...mitochondrial ribosomal protein of the small subunit 18-B

MRPS29...mitochondrial ribosomal protein of the small subunit 29

MRPS30...mitochondrial ribosomal protein of the small subunit 30

mt...mitochondria

- mtDNA...mitochondrial deoxyribonucleic acid
- mtEF-G1...mitochondrial elongation factor G1
- mtEF-Ts...mitochondrial elongation factor Ts
- mtEF-Tu...mitochondrial elongation factor Tu
- mtEF-Tu:GTP:aa-tRNA...mitochondrial elongation factor Tu, GTP, and aa-tRNA complex
- mtIF2...mitochondrial initiation factor 2
- mtIF3...mitochondrial initiation factor 3
- mtPEPCK...mitochondrial phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase
- mtRF1a...mitochondrial translation release factor 1a
- mtRRF1...mitochondrial ribosome recycling factor 1
- mtRRF2...mitochondrial ribosome recycling factor 2
- mTOR...mammalian target of rapamycin
- N...normal tissue

NaCl...sodium chloride

- NADH...nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide plus hydrogen
- NASA...National Aeronautics and Space Administration
- NCBI...National Center for Biotechnology Information
- ND...NADH dehydrogenase
- ND1...NADH dehydrogenase core subunit 1
- ND2...NADH dehydrogenase core subunit 2
- ND3...NADH dehydrogenase core subunit 3

- ND4...NADH dehydrogenase core subunit 4
- ND4L...NADH dehydrogenase core subunit 4L
- ND5...NADH dehydrogenase core subunit 5
- ND6...NADH dehydrogenase core subunit 6
- NDUFA4...NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase 1 alpha subcomplex 4
- NDUFA13...NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase subunit A13
- NDUFB8...NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase subunit B8
- NDUFB10...NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase subunit B10
- NDUFS2...NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase core subunit 2
- *Ndufs2*... NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase core subunit 2 gene
- NDUFS3...NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase core subunit A13
- NDUFV1...NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase core subunit V1
- NDUFV2...NADH:ubiquinone oxidoreductase flavoprotein 2
- NIH...National Institute of Health
- NP40...nonyl phenoxypolyethoxylethanol
- NRF-1... nuclear respiratory factor-1
- NRF-2...nuclear respiratory factor-2
- OM...outer membrane
- OPA1...optic atrophy 1
- OXPHOS...oxidative phosphorylation
- P/S...penicillin/streptomycin
- PDGFR...platelet-derived growth factor receptor
- PDH...pyruvate dehydrogenase

PDHK1...pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1

- PEP...phosphoenolpyruvate phosphatase
- PGC-1a... peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-alpha
- PGC-16... peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator 1-beta

PKA...protein kinase A

- PMSF...phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride
- POLRMT...mitochondrial DNA-dependent RNA polymerase
- PP2...(4-amino-5-(4-chlorophenyl)-7-(dimethylethyl)pyrazolo[3,4-d]pyrimidine)
- pSFK...phosphorylated Src Family Kinases at Tyr416
- PTEN...phosphatase and tensin homolog
- PTMs...post-translational modifications
- PTPα...protein tyrosine phosphatase alpha
- PTCD1... pentatricopeptide repeat domain 1
- PTPD1...protein tyrosine phosphatase D1
- pTyr416...phosphorylated tyrosine 416
- pTyr527...phosphorylated tyrosine 527
- PY-20...phosphotyrosine antibody
- PY-100...phosphotyrosine antibody
- pYEEI...phosphotyrosine motif, phosphor Tyrosine-Glutamic acid-Glutamic acid-Isoleucine
- qRT-PCR...quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
- QTLs...quantitative trait loci
- RIPA...radioimmunoprecipitation assay
- RNA...ribonucleic acid

ROS...reactive oxygen species

rRNA...ribosomal ribonucleic acid

RSV...Rous sarcoma virus

RTK...receptor tyrosine kinase

SAT...subcutaneous adipose tissue

SD...standard deviation

SDH...succinate dehydrogenase

SDHA...succinate dehydrogenase complex flavoprotein subunit A

SDHB...succinate dehydrogenase complex flavoprotein subunit B

SDHC...succinate dehydrogenase complex flavoprotein subunit C

Sdhc...succinate dehydrogenase complex subunit c gene

SDHD...succinate dehydrogenase complex flavoprotein subunit D

SDS...sodium dodecyl sulfate

SDS-PAGE...sodium dodecyl sulfate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

Ser...serine

SFK...Src family kinases

SH...Src homology

SH1...Src homology domain 1, protein kinase domain

SH2...Src homology domain 2

SH3...Src homology domain 3

SH4...Src homology domain 4

SHP1...Src homology 2 domain-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase 1

SHP2...Src homology 2 domain-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase 2

SIFT...sorting intolerant from tolerant

siRNA...small interfering ribonucleic acid

SRA...Sequence Read Archive

Src cells...MEF cells with null mutations in Yes and Fyn, overexpressing c-Src

Src++ cells...MEF cells with null mutations in Yes and Fyn, endogenous expression of c-Src

SSU...small subunit

Stat3...signal transducer and activator of transcription 3

SU6656...(2,3-Dihydro-N,N-dimethyl-2-oxo-3-[(4,5,6,7-tetrahydro-1H-indol-2-yl)methylene]

1H-indole-5-sulfonamide)

SYF cells...MEF cells with functional null mutations in Src, Yes, and Fyn

T...primary tumor

T2D...type 2 diabetes

TBS...Tris-buffered saline

TBST...Tris-buffered saline with Tween-20

TCA...tricarboxylic acid

TEFM...mitochondrial transcription elongation factor

TFAM...mitochondrial transcription factor A

TFB2M...mitochondrial transcription factor B2

TH...TALLYHO/Jng mice

Thr...threonine

Tris-HCl...Tris-hydrochloride

tRNA...transfer ribonucleic acid

Trp...tryptophan

TUFM...Tu translation elongation factor, mitochondrial

Tyr...tyrosine

Tyr416...tyrosine 416

Tyr527...tyrosine 527

UAA... uracil, adenine, adenine

UGA...uracil, guanine, adenine

UQCRC2...ubiquinol-cytochrome c reductase core protein 2

VDAC...voltage-dependent anion channel

VEGF...vascular endothelial growth factor

WT cells...wild-type MEF cells with endogenous expression of all SFKs

WV...West Virginia

WV-INBRE...West Virginia IDeA Network of Biomedical Research Excellence

APPENDIX C: CURRICULUM VITAE

Caroline Hunter

Phone: 540-589-8280 Email: cahunter589@gmail.com Address: 903 Saddle Drive Salem, VA 24153

EDUCATION_

Marshall • •	University – Huntington, WV Biomedical Sciences (Research) Graduate Program Ph.D. Candidate – Cardiovascular, Obesity, and Diab	etes Research
Roanoke •	College – Salem, VA Bachelor of Science, Biochemistry	
RESEARCH EX	PERIENCE	
Graduate •	e Researcher – Huntington, WV Department of Biomedical Research, Koc Laboratory	May 2013 – Present
Piedmont • •	t Eye Center – Lynchburg, VA Department of Clinical Research Data Specialist	Jan. 2012 – Aug. 2012
Student H • •	Researcher – Salem, VA Roanoke College, Department of Chemistry Sarisky Laboratory	May 2011 – Dec. 2011
Student F • •	Researcher – Salem, VA Roanoke College, Department of Chemistry Steehler Laboratory	Sept. 2010 – April 2011

LABORATORY SKILLS

Experimental Techniques

- Cell/ Tissue Culture
- Gene Silencing/Overexpression
- End point and real-time PCR
- PCR Primer Design
- DNA/RNA/Protein Extraction
- Western Blot Analysis
- Various Toxicity Assays
- Cell Viability Assays
- Protein Immunoprecipitation
- Enzymatic Assays
- Wes automated protein analysis system

- Mitochondrial OXPHOS complex activity assays
- Bacterial Cultures
- Molecular Cloning
- Site-directed Mutagenesis
- Protein Expression and Purification

Software

• Proficient in Microsoft Office, Adobe Design, ImageJ, UN-Scan-IT, and GraphPad Prism

HONORS AND AWARDS

2017 Outstanding Poster Presentation Award

- Appalachian Regional Cell Conference
- Best Poster Presentation for Basic Science Category

2015 Travel Award

• Post-Doctorate/Graduate Travel Award from American Society of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (ASBMB)

2015 Selected for an Oral Presentation

• Marshall University School of Medicine Research Day

2014 Selected for an Oral Presentation

• Appalachian Regional Cell Conference

2014 Best Presentation Award

- Marshall University School of Medicine Research Day
- Best Poster Presentation for Basic Science Category

2013 Second Place Poster Presentation Award

- Appalachian Regional Cell Conference
- Second Place for Poster Presentation for Basic Science Category

FUNDING

Graduate Research Fellowship Award

• NASA West Virginia Space Grant Consortium

PROFESSIONAL AFFILIATIONS

- American Society of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology (ASBMB)
- American Chemical Society (ACS)
- American Association for Advancement of Science (AAAS)

2015

PUBLICATIONS_

Lawag AA, Napper JM, **Hunter CA**, Bacon NA, Deskins S, El-Hmdani M, Govender SL, Koc EC, Sollars VE. 2017 HSP90 Inhibition and Cellular Stress Elicits Phenotypic Plasticity in Hematopoietic Differentiation. Cell Reprogram. Oct; 19(5):311-323. Doi: 10.1089/cell.2017.0001.

Hunter CA, Kartal F, Koc ZC, Murphy T, Kim JH, Denvir J, Koc EC. 2019 Mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation is impaired in TALLYHO mice, a new obesity and type 2 diabetes animal model. Int J Biochem Cell Biol. Nov; 116 Doi: 10.1016/j.biocel.2019.105616

Hunter CA, Koc H, Koc EC. 2020. c-Src kinase impairs the expression of mitochondrial OXPHOS complexes in liver cancer. Cell Signal, 72, p. 109651. doi:10.1016/j.cellsig.2020.109651. Epub 2020 April 23.

Hunter CA, Plymale NI, Smee KM, Sarisky CA. 2019. Experimental characterization of two archaeal inosine 5'-monophosphate cyclohydrolases. PLOS One. Oct. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0223983

Hunter CA, Koc H, Koc EC. Fyn kinase inhibition impairs mitochondrial energy metabolism and reduces cellular proliferation. *In Preparation*

PRESENTATIONS_

Hunter, C.A., Kartal F, Koc ZC, Murphy T, Kim JH, Denvir J, Koc EC. (November 2017). Mitochondrial oxidative metabolism is impaired in TALLYHO mice, a new obesity and type 2 diabetes animal model. ARCC. Athens, OH. Basic Sciences Poster Presentation Award (1st).

Hunter, C.A., Koc, H. and Koc, E.C. (**August 2017**). Mitochondrial oxidative metabolism is impaired in TALLYHO mice, a new obesity and type 2 diabetes animal model. JCESOM Research Day. Huntington, WV.

Hunter, C.A., Kim, JK, Koc, H and Koc, E.C. (June 2017). Regulation of mitochondrial biogenesis in obesity and type 2 diabetes animal model. UMDF. Washington D.C.

Hunter, C.A., Koc, H. and Koc, E.C. (August 2016). Role of antioxidants in kinasedependent regulation of mitochondrial energy metabolism. JCESOM Research Day. Huntington, WV.

Hunter, C.A., Koc, H. and Koc, E.C. (**June 2016**). Fyn-dependent phosphorylation of mitochondrial elongation factor Tu may lead to metabolic syndrome by mitochondrial dysfunction. NASA Research Day.

Hunter, C.A., Koc, H. and Koc, E.C. (March 2015). c-Src regulates mitochondrial translation by elongation factor Tu (mtEF-Tu) phosphorylation. ASBMB/EB. Boston, MA. ASBMB Travel Award.

Hunter, C.A., Koc, H. and Koc, E.C. (March 2015). Oral Presentation. c-Src regulates mitochondrial translation by elongation factor Tu (mtEF-Tu) phosphorylation. JCESOM Research Day. Huntington, WV.

Hunter, C.A., Koc, H. and Koc, E.C. (**November 2014**). **Oral Presentation.** c-Src regulates mitochondrial translation by elongation factor Tu (mtEF-Tu) phosphorylation. ARCC. Huntington, WV.

Hunter, C.A., Koc, H. and Koc, E.C. (October 2014). c-Src regulates mitochondrial translation by elongation factor Tu (mtEF-Tu) phosphorylation. Midwest Membrane Trafficking and Signaling Symposium (ASCB). Louisville, KY.

Hunter, C.A., Miller-Lee, J.L, Koc, H and Koc, E.C. (March 2014). Mitochondrial Elongation Factor Tu: Regulation Through Phosphorylation. JCESOM Research Day, Huntington, WV. Basic Sciences Poster Presentation Award (1st).

Hunter, C.A., Miller-Lee, J.L, Koc, H and Koc, E.C. (October 2013). Mitochondrial Elongation Factor Tu: Regulation Through Phosphorylation. Appalachian Regional Cell Conference. Charleston, WV. Poster Presentation Award (2nd).

Hunter, C.A. and C.A. Sarisky (**2011**). Gene cloning in the purine biosynthetic pathway in *Archaeoglobus fulgidus*. Mid-Atlantic Regional Conference of Undergraduate Scholarships. Sweet Briar, VA.